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Securities registered or to be registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

	
	Title of Each Class
	Name of Each Exchange on Which Registered

	
	
	
	

	Common Shares, No Par Value
	New York Stock Exchange



Securities registered or to be registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act:

None

Securities for which there is a reporting obligation pursuant to Section 15(d) of the Act:

None

For annual reports, indicate by check mark the information filed with this Form:

[X] Annual information form	[X] Audited annual financial statements

Indicate the number of outstanding shares of each of the issuer's classes of capital or common stock as of the close of the period covered by the annual report:

The Registrant had 146,559,176 Common Shares outstanding as at March 31, 2015

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the Registrant was required to file such reports) and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.

Yes	X	No
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Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the Registrant was required to submit and post such files).

Yes	No
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A. Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Disclosure controls and procedures are defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), as those controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Registrant in reports filed or submitted by it under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"). Rule 13a-15(e) also provides that disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Registrant is accumulated and communicated to the Registrant's management as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

The Registrant's Chief Executive Officers and Chief Financial Officer have evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant's disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Exchange Act, as of March 31, 2015 and have determined that such disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of March 31, 2015. See "Management's Discussion and Analysis – Controls and Procedures," included in Exhibit 1.2 to this Annual Report.

B. Management's Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management of the Registrant is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over the Registrant's financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act). Internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. The Registrant's Chief Executive Officers and Chief Financial Officer have assessed the effectiveness of the Registrant's internal control over financial reporting as at March 31, 2015 in accordance with the Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this assessment, the Registrant's Chief Executive Officers and the Chief Financial Officer have determined that the Registrant's internal control over financial reporting was effective as of March 31, 2015. See "Management's Discussion and Analysis – Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting," included in Exhibit 1.2 to this Annual Report.

The Registrant's auditor has attested to management's internal control over financial reporting for the year ended March 31, 2015. The auditor's attestation report on management's assessment of the Registrant's internal control over financial reporting is included in Exhibit 1.3 to this Annual Report.

C. Attestation Report of the Registered Public Accounting Firm

Ernst & Young LLP ("E&Y"), the independent registered public accounting firm of the Registrant, has issued an attestation report on the effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting of the Registrant as of March 31, 2015. For a copy of E&Y's report see Exhibit 1.3 to this Annual Report.

D. Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

During the period covered by this Annual Report, there have been no changes in the Registrant's internal control over financial reporting that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Registrant's internal control over financial reporting.
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E. Notice of Pension Fund Blackout Period

The Registrant was not required by Rule 104 of Regulation BTR to send any notice to any of its directors or executive officers during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2015.

F. Audit Committee Financial Expert

The Registrant's board of directors has determined that Michael Kirby, an individual serving on the audit committee of the Registrant's board of directors, is an audit committee financial expert within the meaning of General Instruction B(8)(b) of Form 40-F under the Exchange Act and is independent within the meaning of Rule 10A-3 under the Exchange Act and the listing standards of the New York Stock Exchange.

The SEC has indicated that the designation or identification of a person as an audit committee financial expert does not make such person an "expert" for any purpose, impose any duties, obligations or liability on such person that are greater than those imposed on members of the audit committee and the board of directors who do not carry this designation or identification, or affect the duties, obligations or liability of any other member of the audit committee or board of directors.

G. Code of Ethics

The Registrant's board of directors has adopted a code of ethics that applies to all directors, officers and employees, including its Chief Executive Officers, Chief Financial Officer and other senior officers. The Registrant will provide a copy of the code of ethics without charge to any person that requests a copy by contacting the Corporate Secretary of the Registrant at the address that appears on the cover page of this Annual Report.

H. Principal Accountant Fees and Services and Audit Committee Pre-Approval Policies

Principal Accountant Fees

See "Schedule "A" – Audit Committee Information Required in an AIF – External Auditor Service Fees" in the Registrant's Annual Information Form for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2015, which is filed as Exhibit 1.1 to this Annual Report.

Audit Committee Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures

All audit and non-audit services performed by the Registrant's external auditor must be pre-approved by the audit committee of the Registrant.

For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2015, all audit and non-audit services performed by E&Y were pre-approved by the audit committee of the Registrant.

I. Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

The Registrant has issued letters of credit in accordance with its credit facility totaling $134.8 million to various counterparties, primarily utilities in the markets in which it operates as well as suppliers.

Pursuant to separate arrangements with Westchester Fire Insurance Company, Travelers Casualty and Surety Company of America and Charter Brokerage LLC, the Registrant has issued surety bonds to various counterparties including states, regulatory bodies, utilities and various other surety bond holders in return for a fee
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and/or meeting certain collateral posting requirements. Such surety bond postings are required in order to operate in certain states or markets. Total surety bonds issued as at March 31, 2015 totaled $54.8 million. See "Management's Discussion and Analysis – Off Balance Sheet Items," included in Exhibit 1.2 to this Annual Report.

J. Tabular Disclosure of Contractual Obligations

See "Management's Discussion and Analysis – Contractual Obligations," included in Exhibit 1.2 to this Annual Report.

K. Identification of the Audit Committee

The Registrant has established a separately-designated standing audit committee in accordance with Section 3(a)(58)(A) of the Exchange Act. The audit committee is comprised of Messrs. Michael Kirby, Hugh Segal, George Sladoje, Brett Perlman and William Weld, all of whom are independent as such term is defined under Rule 10A-3 of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations of the New York Stock Exchange.

L. Critical Accounting Policies

See "Management's Discussion and Analysis – Critical Accounting Estimates," included in Exhibit 1.2 to this Annual Report.


M. Interactive Data File

The Registrant is not currently required to submit to the SEC, nor post to its corporate website, an Interactive Data File.

N. Mine Safety

The Registrant is not currently required to disclose the information required by Section 1503(a) of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act.

O. Corporate Governance Practices

There are certain differences between the corporate governance practices applicable to the Registrant and those applicable to U.S. companies under the NYSE listing standards. A summary of these differences can be found on the Registrant's website at www.justenergy.com.
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UNDERTAKING AND CONSENT TO SERVICE OF PROCESS

A. Undertaking

The Registrant undertakes to make available, in person or by telephone, representatives to respond to inquiries made by the SEC staff, and to furnish promptly, when requested to do so by the SEC staff, information relating to the securities in relation to which the obligation to file an annual report on Form 40-F arises or transactions in said securities.

B. Consent to Service of Process

The Registrant has previously filed with the SEC a Form F-X in connection with its common shares. Any change to the name or address of the agent for service of process shall be communicated promptly to the SEC by an amendment to the Form F-X.

	
	
	
	
	EXHIBITS

	
	The following exhibits are filed as part of this Annual Report:
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	1.1
	
	Annual Information Form for the year ended March 31, 2015

	1.2
	
	Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations for the year ended March 31,

	
	
	
	2015
	

	1.3
	
	Audited Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2015, prepared in accordance with

	
	
	
	International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, including the

	
	
	
	report of the auditors thereon

	23.1
	
	Consent of Ernst & Young LLP

	31.1
	
	Certification of the CEOs and CFO pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

	32.1
	
	Certification of the CEOs and CFO pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
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SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Exchange Act, the Registrant certifies that it meets all of the requirements for filing on Form 40-F and has duly caused this annual report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereto duly authorized.

JUST ENERGY GROUP INC.




	Dated: June 2, 2015
	By: /s/ Jonah T. Davids

	
	
	
	

	
	Name:
	Jonah T. Davids

	
	Title:
	Executive Vice President and General Counsel
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(1) Except as otherwise indicated, all information in this Annual Information Form is as at May 25, 2015.

(2) All capitalized terms not otherwise defined in the body of this Annual Information Form, shall have the meanings ascribed to them in Schedule C -

Glossary
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements contained in this Annual Information Form and documents incorporated by reference herein constitute forward-looking statements. These statements relate to future events and future performance. Forward-looking statements are subject to certain risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those included in the forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are often, but not always, identified by the use of words such as "seek", "anticipate", "plan", "continue", "estimate", "may", project", "predict", "potential", targeting", "intend", "could", "might", "should", "believe" and similar expressions. Just Energy Group Inc. (the “Company”) believes the expectations reflected in these forward-looking statements are reasonable but no assurance can be given that these expectations will prove to be correct. In particular, this Annual Information Form, and the documents incorporated by reference herein, contain forward looking statements pertaining to customer revenues and margins, customer additions and renewals, customer attrition, customer consumption levels, dividends, the ability to compete successfully and treatment under governmental regimes. Some of the risks that could affect the Company’s future results and could cause results to differ materially from those expressed in forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, levels of customer natural gas and electricity consumption, rates of customer additions and renewals, rates of customer attrition, fluctuation in natural gas and electricity prices, extreme weather patterns, changes in regulatory regimes, decisions by regulatory authorities and competition. See "Risk Factors" for additional information on these and other factors that could affect the Company’s operations, financial results or dividend levels. These risks include, but are not limited to, risks relating to: credit, commodity and other market-related risks including availability of supply, volatility of commodity prices, availability of credit, market risk, energy trading inherent risk, customer credit risk, counterparty credit risk, electricity, and natural gas supply balancing risk; operational risks including, reliance on information technology systems, outsourcing arrangements, dependence on independent sales contractors and brokers, electricity and gas contract renewals and attrition rates, commodity alternatives, capital asset and replacement risk, credit facilities and other debt arrangements, legal, regulatory and securities risks including legislative and regulatory environment, investment eligibility, changes in legislation, dependence on federal and provincial legislation and regulation. Given these risks and uncertainties, investors should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements as a prediction of future results. These forward-looking statements are made as of the date of this Annual Information Form and, except as required by law, the Company does not undertake any obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements.
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THE COMPANY

Just Energy Group Inc.

Just Energy Group Inc. (the “Company”) is a CBCA corporation created on January 1, 2011 pursuant to a plan of arrangement approved by unitholders of the Fund on June 29, 2010 and by the Alberta Court of the Queen’s Bench on June 30, 2010 (the “Trust Conversion”). See “Articles of Arrangement of the Company” on page 3 for a detailed description of the Articles and Common Shares of the Company. The head offices of the Company are located at 6345 Dixie Road, Suite 200, Mississauga, Ontario, L5T 2E6 and 5251 Westheimer Road, Suite 1000 Houston, Texas 77056. Its registered office is located at First Canadian Place, 100 King Street West, Suite 2630, Toronto, Ontario, M5X 1E1.

Organizational Structure of the Company

The following diagram sets forth the simplified organizational structure of the Company.
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Notes:

(1) The Canadian Subsidiaries are corporations, limited partnerships, and unlimited liability companies directly or indirectly wholly-owned by the Company.  The

Canadian operating Subsidiaries are Just Energy Ontario L.P. (Ontario); Just Energy Alberta L.P. (Alberta); Just Green L.P. (Alberta); Just Energy Manitoba L.P. (Manitoba); Just Energy B.C. Limited Partnership (British Columbia); Just Energy Québec L.P. (Quebec); Just Energy Prairies L.P. (Manitoba); Just Energy Trading L.P. (Ontario); and Hudson Energy Canada Corp. (Canada). Just Energy Corp. is the general partner of each of the Canadian operating limited partnerships. Additionally, the Company indirectly holds an approximate 10% fully diluted interest in ecobee Inc., a manufacturer and distributor of smart thermostats located in Toronto, Ontario.

(2) The U.S. Subsidiaries are corporations, limited liability companies and limited partnerships indirectly wholly-owned by the Company and are incorporated or formed, as applicable, under the laws of the State of Delaware, unless otherwise noted. The U.S. operating Subsidiaries are Just Energy (U.S.) Corp.; Just Energy Illinois Corp.; Just Energy Indiana Corp.; Just Energy Massachusetts Corp.; Just Energy New York Corp.; Just Energy Texas I Corp.; Just Energy Texas LP (Texas); Just Energy Pennsylvania Corp.; Commerce Energy, Inc. (California); Just Energy Marketing Corp.; Just Energy Michigan Corp.; Hudson Energy Services LLC (New Jersey); Just Energy Limited; Fulcrum Retail Energy LLC d/b/a Amigo Energy (Texas); Tara Energy, LLC (Texas); and Just Holdings Solar Corp.

(3) Hudson Energy Holdings UK Limited and Hudson Energy Supply UK Limited are direct and indirect wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company operating in the United Kingdom. Just Insurance Limited, a Barbadian company, an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, provides self-insurance to the Company and its subsidiaries.

(4) The Company also indirectly owns a 50% interest in Just Ventures L.P. (Ontario) and Just Ventures LLC (Delaware) (collectively, “Just Ventures”), which operate as internet marketing companies for the Company’s subsidiaries. The other 50% interest of Just Ventures is directly or indirectly held by a third party, Red Ventures, LLC (North Carolina).
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Brands

The Company operates under the following brands:
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Articles of Arrangement of the Company

Share Capital of the Company

The authorized share capital of the Company consists of an unlimited number of Common Shares and 50,000,000 Preferred Shares of which, as of May 25, 2015, 146,559,176 Common Shares and no Preferred Shares were issued and outstanding. The Company’s Common Shares are listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange (TSX:JE) and New York Stock Exchange (NYSE:JE).

Common Shares

Each Common Share entitles the holder thereof to receive notice of and to attend all meetings of shareholders of the Company and to one vote per share at such meetings (other than meetings of another class of shares of the Company). The holders of Common Shares are, at the discretion of the Board and subject to the preferences accorded to the holders of preferred shares and any other shares of the Company ranking senior to the Common Shares from time to time, as well as applicable legal restrictions, entitled to receive any dividends declared by the Board of Directors on the Common Shares.

Preferred Shares

The Board may at any time in accordance with the CBCA issue Preferred Shares in one or more series, each series to consist of such number of shares and rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions as may be determined by the Board prior to such issuance. Except where specifically provided by the CBCA, the holders of the Preferred Shares shall not be entitled to receive notice of or to attend any meeting of the shareholders of the Company and shall not be entitled to vote at any such meeting. The holders of each series of Preferred Shares shall be entitled, in priority to holders of Common Shares and any other shares of the Company ranking junior to the Preferred Shares from time to time, to be paid rateably with holders of each other series of Preferred Shares, the amount of accumulated dividends, if any specified as being payable preferentially to the holders of such series.


3
[image: ]

Liquidation, Dissolution or Winding-up

In the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Company or other distribution of its assets among its shareholders, the holders of the Preferred Shares and Common Shares shall be entitled, after payment of all liabilities of the Company, to share in all remaining assets of the Company as follows:

(a) the holders of the Preferred Shares shall be entitled in priority to holders of Common Shares and any other shares of the Company ranking junior to the Preferred Shares from time to time, to be paid rateably with holders of each other series of Preferred Shares in the amount, if any, specified as being payable preferentially to the holders of such series; and

(b) the holders of the Common Shares shall be entitled, subject to the preferences accorded to holders of Preferred Shares and any other shares of the Company ranking senior to the Common Shares from time to time, to share equally, share for share, in the remaining property of the Company.



THREE YEAR HISTORY OF THE COMPANY

During the past three years the Company has been involved in several significant events. These events are described below in chronological order.

UK Expansion

On July 23, 2012, the Company commenced marketing electricity to customers in the United Kingdom under the Hudson Energy brand.

ecobee Inc. Investment

On August 10, 2012, Just Energy acquired a 15% fully diluted interest in ecobee Inc., a manufacturer and distributor of smart thermostats located in Toronto, Ontario. Through additional capital raised by ecobee Inc., the Company’s interest has been reduced to approximately 10%.

$105 Million Note

Just Energy entered into a $105 million senior unsecured note indenture on December 12, 2012 (the “105 Million Note”). The sole holder of the $105 Million Note is CPPIB Credit Investments Inc. The $105 Million Note bears an interest rate of 9.75% and matures in May of 2018. The $105 Million Note is subject to certain financial and other covenants. Just Energy used the net proceeds from the $105 Million Note to reduce its drawings on its working capital line, fund future growth and for general corporate purposes.

Strategic Supply Arrangement with Shell Energy Europe Limited

On February 1, 2013 Hudson Energy Supply UK Limited (“Hudson UK”) entered into a 5 year strategic supply arrangement with Shell Energy Europe Limited (“SEEL”) for Hudson UK’s commercial retail business in the United Kingdom. Under the arrangement, SEEL will be the wholesale supplier for Hudson UK. The structure gives Hudson UK access to the wholesale market and the benefit of SEEL’s market presence and knowledge.

Dividend Reduction

On February 7, 2013, the Company announced that the monthly dividend would be reduced to $0.07 per Common Share per month ($0.84 per Common Share annually) from $0.10333 per Common Share per month ($1.24 per Common Share annually) commencing as of the dividend payment paid on April 30, 2013.
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Normal Course Issuer Bids (2013)

On February 12, 2013, the Company announced its intention to make a normal course issuer bid to purchase its Common Shares. The notice provided that Just Energy may, during the 12 month period commencing February 14, 2013 and ending February 13, 2014, purchase on the Toronto Stock Exchange as well as alternative trading systems up to 10,000,000 Common Shares in total, being 7.4% of the “public float” of Common Shares. The aggregate number of Common Shares that Just Energy may purchase during any trading day would not exceed 107,182 Common Shares, being approximately 25% of the average daily trading volume of the Shares based on the trading volume on the TSX for the most recently completed six calendar months preceding the date of the Notice of Intention. Any Common Shares purchased pursuant to this normal course issuer bid were to be cancelled by Just Energy. The price that Just Energy would pay for any Common Shares would be the market price at the time of acquisition.

On February 19, 2013, the Company announced its intention to make a normal course issuer bid for its $100 Million Convertible Debentures and $330 Million Convertible Debentures. The notice provided that Just Energy may, during the 12 month period commencing February 22, 2013 and ending February 21, 2014, purchase on the Toronto Stock Exchange as well as alternative trading systems up to $10 million of the $100 Million Convertible Debentures and $33 million of the $330 Million Convertible Debentures, being 10% of the “public float” of both the $100 Million Convertible Debentures and $330 Million Convertible Debentures. The aggregate amount of $100 Million Convertible Debentures and $330 Million Convertible Debentures that Just Energy may purchase during any trading day would not exceed $24,548 and $158,993 respectively, being approximately 25% of the average daily trading volume of the $100 Million Convertible Debentures and $330 Million Convertible Debentures based on the trading volume on the TSX for the most recently completed six calendar months preceding the date of the Notice of Intention. Any of the $100 Million Convertible Debentures and $330 Million Convertible Debentures purchased pursuant to this normal course issuer bid were cancelled by Just Energy. The price that Just Energy would pay for the $100 Million Convertible Debentures and $330 Million Convertible Debentures would be the market price at the time of acquisition.

Green Star Energy

On August 6, 2013, the Company commenced marketing electricity and natural gas to residential consumers in the United Kingdom under the Green Star brand.

Credit Facility Renewal

On October 2, 2013 the Company announced that it reached agreement with its syndicate of lenders to renew and extend its revolving credit facility for a period of two years. Based on projected operating requirements, the line was set at $300 million with a Just Energy option to draw up to $340 million between closing and February 28, 2014. The Credit Facility was reduced to $290 million on January 29, 2014 in conjunction with the closing of the $150 Million Convertible Bonds and was further reduced to $210 million on November 24, 2014 in connection with the sale of National Home Services (see below). The pricing of the renewed facility was the same as that of the previous extension. The agreement was reached with a syndicate of seven banks led by Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce and including Royal Bank of Canada, National Bank of Canada, The Toronto Dominion Bank, The Bank of Nova Scotia, Alberta Treasury Branches and HSBC Bank Canada.

Sale of Terra Grain Fuels

On December 12, 2013 the Company announced that it had entered into a share purchase agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) pursuant to which it agreed to sell all of the issued and outstanding shares of Terra Grain Fuels Inc., an ethanol producer located in Belle Plaine, Saskatchewan, to a group of Saskatchewan based businesses. Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, the purchaser acquired TGF, including all of its outstanding debt, for a nominal purchase price. Additionally, Just Energy was released from all of its obligations to service providers of TGF under letters of credit and guarantees. The closing occurred on December 24, 2013.

Just Energy Foundation

The Company established the Just Energy Foundation, a private, non-profit, charitable foundation in December 2013. The Just Energy Foundation receives contributions from the Company towards support for registered
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Canadian and U.S charitable organizations. The Foundation invests in community programs that meet the requirements as registered charitable organizations for U.S. and Canadian tax purposes. Funded entirely by the Company, the Just Energy Foundation seeks opportunities to support community-based initiatives that enhance the quality of life in the Company’s operating markets towards building stronger and supportive communities.

Convertible Bond Offering

On January 29, 2014 the Company announced the closing of the European-focused offering of USD $150 million of senior unsecured convertible bonds due July 2019 (“$150 Million Convertible Bonds”) with a coupon of 6.5% per annum payable semi-annually in arrears. The initial conversion price is USD $9.3762 per share, which represents a premium of 22.5% over the 5 day volume weighted average price of Just Energy’s common shares on January 21, 2014 (being the day on which the offering was publicly announced). Concurrently with the offering, Just Energy permanently reduced the Credit Facility to $290 Million. The remainder of the net proceeds were used to redeem the $90 Million Convertible Debentures to purchase for cancellation its convertible debentures where permitted under its debt covenants to pay down the Credit Facility.

CEO Change

On February 26, 2014 the Company announced that Chief Executive Officer Ken Hartwick submitted his resignation from the Company to be effective April 1, 2014 to pursue personal interests. The Company announced that the Board of Directors appointed Deborah Merril, Just Energy’s then Executive Vice President, Commercial, and James Lewis, Just Energy’s then Chief Operating Officer, as Co-Chief Executive Officers, effective on Mr. Hartwick’s resignation.

Normal Course Issuer Bid (2014)

On March 13, 2014, the Company announced its intention to renew its normal course issuer bid for its $330 Million Convertible Debentures. The notice provided that Just Energy may, during the 12 month period commencing March 17, 2014 and ending March 16, 2015, purchase on the Toronto Stock Exchange as well as alternative trading systems up to $33 million of the $330 Million Convertible Debentures, being 10% of the “public float” of the $330 Million Convertible Debentures. The aggregate amount of $330 Million Convertible Debentures that Just Energy may purchase during any trading day would not exceed $105,465, being approximately 25% of the average daily trading volume of the $330 Million Convertible Debentures based on the trading volume on the TSX for the most recently completed six calendar months preceding the date of the Notice of Intention. Any of the $330 Million Convertible Debentures purchased pursuant to this normal course issuer bid would be cancelled by Just Energy. The price that Just Energy would pay for the $330 Million Convertible Debentures would be the market price at the time of acquisition.

During the period of the normal course issuer bid, $1,205,000 of the $330 Million Convertible Debentures were purchased by the Company for cancellation at a weighted average price of $925.99 (on a par value of $1,000).

Early Redemption of $90 Million Convertible Debentures

On March 19, 2014 , the Company redeemed all of the $90 Million Convertible Debentures scheduled to mature on September 30, 2014. Just Energy paid to the holders of redeemed $90 Million Convertible Debentures a redemption price equal to $1,027.9452 for each $1,000 principal amount of the $90 Million Convertible Debentures, being equal to the aggregate of (i) $1,000, and (ii) all accrued and unpaid interest thereon to but excluding March 19, 2014 in each case less any taxes required to be deducted or withheld.

Listing of Convertible Bonds on the London Stock Exchange

In June 2014, Just Energy received approval from the UK Listing Authority for the listing of US $150 Million 6.5% convertible bonds (due 2019 issued by the Company on January 29, 2014) to the Official List and to trading on the Professional Securities Market of the London Stock Exchange plc.

CFO Change
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In August 2014, Patrick McCullough replaced Beth Summers as the Chief Financial Officer of the Company. Mr. McCullough brings 18 years of progressive international experience in senior financial roles to Just Energy, including three Fortune 500 companies. He also has extensive and detailed knowledge of the growing solar energy market in North America.

Dividend Reduction

On June 5, 2014, the Company announced that the monthly dividend of $0.07 per Common Share per month ($0.84 per Common Share annually) would be changed from a monthly to a quarterly dividend in the amount of $0.125 per Common Share per quarter ($0.50 per Common Share annually) commencing as of July 1, 2014, with the first quarterly dividend payment being made on September 30, 2014.

Sale of Hudson Solar

On November 4, 2014, Just Energy closed the sale of Hudson Energy Solar Corp., its commercial solar project development company operating in New Jersey, Pennsylvania and Massachusetts, to TerraForm Power Inc. and SunEdison, Inc. The purchase price provided for the assumption or repayment by the purchaser of approximately US$33 million in outstanding debt plus the payment of approximately US$23 million cash. The sale reduced Just Energy’s overall debt level while allowing it to continue to focus on its core energy business.

Sale of National Home Services and Settlement of Competition Bureau Investigation

On November 24, 2014, Just Energy closed the sale of its water heater and HVAC home services operating under the name National Home Services to Reliance Comfort Limited Partnership (“Reliance”). The purchase price was $505 million subject to certain adjustments, including working capital balances. The sale resulted in the repayment of approximately $260 million of National Home Services’ debt with remaining net proceeds of approximately $160 million being applied to other Just Energy debt.

Immediately prior to the closing of the sale, without any admission of liability or wrongdoing, National Home Services and the Company entered into a Consent Agreement with the Competition Bureau to settle the Canadian Competition Bureau’s investigation of door-to-door water heater sales in Ontario and Quebec. As part of the Consent Agreement, the Company agreed to a payment of $7 million.

Massachusetts Attorney General Settlement

On December 31, 2014, Just Energy voluntarily entered into a settlement with the Massachusetts Attorney General’s Office (“AOD”), relating to an investigation of the Company’s telemarketing and door-to-door sales practices, as well as pricing of certain products to customers in Massachusetts dating back to 2011. Although the Company does not agree with the allegations made by the AGO and explicitly denied all wrongdoing, management determined that a settlement was in the best interests of the Company in order to focus the Company’s efforts on building the business going forward. As part of the settlement, the Company agreed to a payment of US$4.0 million.

Entry into U.S. Solar Residential Market

In January 2015, Just Energy entered into a comprehensive, long-term agreement with Clean Power Finance, Inc. (“CPF”) in the U.S. to sell residential solar electricity. The partnership combines Just Energy’s experience and strength in customer acquisition with CPF’s solar finance and fulfillment capabilities. CPF’s online platform allows Just Energy to sell residential solar products and connects the Company with a national network of qualified solar installation professionals. The partnership also enables Just Energy to sell complementary energy management solutions to a whole new customer segment in a less capital intensive manner. The agreement with CPF also provides Just Energy the option to participate in certain minority portions of project equity, which provide attractive 20-year returns on project assets. Roll out of the solar program began in the first calendar quarter of 2015 in California and New York.

Normal Course Issuer Bid (2015)

On March 13, 2015, the Company announced its intention to renew its normal course issuer bid for its $330 Million Convertible Debentures. The notice provided that Just Energy may, during the 12 month period commencing March
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17, 2015 and ending March 16, 2016, purchase on the Toronto Stock Exchange as well as alternative trading systems up to $31,709,970 of the $330 Million Convertible Debentures, being 10% of the “public float” of the $330 Million Convertible Debentures. The aggregate amount of $330 Million Convertible Debentures that Just Energy may purchase during any trading day would not exceed $42,803, being approximately 25% of the average daily trading volume of the $330 Million Convertible Debentures based on the trading volume on the TSX for the most recently completed six calendar months. Any of the $330 Million Convertible Debentures purchased pursuant to this normal course issuer bid will be cancelled by Just Energy. The price that Just Energy will pay for the $330 Million Convertible Debentures will be the market price at the time of acquisition. Between March 17, 2015 and May 25, 2015, $554,000 of the $330 Million Convertible Debentures have been purchased by the Company for cancellation at a weighted average price of $930.10 (on a par value of $1,000).

On March 13, 2015, the Company also announced its intention to make a normal course issuer bid to purchase its Common Shares and its $100 Million Convertible Debentures. The notice provided that Just Energy may, during the 12 month period commencing March 17, 2015 and ending March 16, 2016, purchase on the Toronto Stock Exchange as well as alternative trading systems up to 10,312,390 Common Shares in total and $10 million of the $100 Million Convertible Debentures in total, being 7% and 10% of the “public float” of Common Shares and $100 Million Convertible Debentures, respectively. The aggregate number of Common Shares and $100 Million Convertible Debentures that Just Energy may purchase during any trading day will not exceed 103,822 Common Shares and $17,603 $100 Million Convertible Debentures, being approximately 25% of the average daily trading volume of the Common Shares and $100 Million Convertible Debentures based on the trading volume on the TSX for the most recently completed six calendar months. Any Common Shares or $100 Million Convertible Debentures purchased pursuant to this normal course issuer bid are to be cancelled by Just Energy. The price that Just Energy will pay for any Common Shares or $100 Million Convertible Debentures will be the market price at the time of acquisition.



BUSINESS OF JUST ENERGY

General

Just Energy is an independent competitive retailer of electricity, natural gas and green energy. With offices located across the United States, Canada, and the United Kingdom, Just Energy serves close to two million residential and commercial customers. The Company offers a wide range of energy products and home energy management services including long-term fixed-price, variable price, and flat bill programs, smart thermostats, and residential solar panel installations.

By fixing the price of electricity or natural gas under its fixed-price Energy Contracts for a period of up to five years, Just Energy’s customers offset their exposure to changes in the price of these essential commodities. Variable rate products allow customers to maintain competitive rates while retaining the ability to lock into a fixed price at their discretion. Flat bill products offer a consistent price regardless of usage. The Company derives its margin or gross profit from the difference between the price at which it is able to sell the commodities to its customers and the price at which it purchases the associated volumes from its Commodity Suppliers.

Just Energy also offers customers in Ontario and Texas the ability to rent or bundle (with commodity) a smart thermostat that can provide customers with convenience of use and potential energy savings. The company also launched a residential solar electricity program in the first quarter of fiscal 2016 in California and New York which enables the company to sell complementary energy management solutions to a whole new environmentally-conscious customer segment. The program complements Just Energy’s existing core competencies and enables its customers to access long-term, environmentally sustainable solar solutions.

Under the Company’s Just Green/TerraPass brands, customers gain through carbon offset and Renewable Energy Credits (RECs) programs to help customers reduce the negative impact of their own day-to-day energy consumption. The programs support the advancement of renewable and sustainable energy projects across North America. To date, Just Energy has spent over $100 million in a diverse portfolio of carbon offset projects in North America.
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In December 2013, the company launched the Just Energy Foundation. Governed by a Board of Directors, the Just Energy Foundation is a charitable entity established to receive contributions from Just Energy towards support for registered Canadian and U.S. charitable organizations within Just Energy Group’s operating markets.

The Company’s operating Subsidiaries currently carry on business in the United States in the states of Illinois, New York, Indiana, Michigan, Ohio, New Jersey, California, Maryland, Pennsylvania, Massachusetts, Georgia, Texas and Delaware and in Canada in the provinces of Ontario, Alberta, Manitoba, Québec, British Columbia and Saskatchewan. In July 2012, the Company began selling electricity in the United Kingdom to commercial customers under the Hudson brand and as of August 6, 2013, the Company sells electricity and natural gas to residential consumers in the United Kingdom under the Green Star brand.

The map in Fig-1 below shows the jurisdictions in the United States, Canada and the United Kingdom in which Just Energy operates.

Fig-1
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As of March 31, 2015, Just Energy had aggregated approximately 4,686,000 RCEs, with approximately 42% from its Consumer Division (residential and small business) and 58% from its Commercial Division.

Consumer Division

Electricity

In the Provinces of Ontario and Alberta and the States of New York, Texas, Illinois, Pennsylvania, New Jersey, Maryland, Michigan, California, Ohio, Delaware and Massachusetts, as well as the United Kingdom, Just Energy and its affiliates offer a variety of solutions to its electricity customers, including fixed-price and variable-price products on both short-term and longer-term electricity contracts. Some of these products provide customers with price-protection programs for the majority of their electricity requirements. The customers experience either a small balancing charge or credit (pass-through) on each bill due to fluctuations in prices applicable to their volume requirements not covered by a fixed price. Just Energy uses historical usage data for all enrolled customers to predict future customer consumption and to help with long-term supply procurement decisions.

The Local Distribution Companies (“LDCs”) provide billing in all electricity markets except Alberta, Texas and the United Kingdom (see “Business of Just Energy – Natural Gas”). The LDCs also provide collection services, including the collection and remittance to Just Energy of the commodity portion of each customer's account for a
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small monthly fee, except in Alberta, Massachusetts, California, Texas and the United Kingdom. In California and Massachusetts, the LDC provides collection services only until the account is delinquent. In Texas, Alberta and the United Kingdom, Just Energy bills and collects itself. In Ontario, New York, Pennsylvania, New Jersey, Ohio, Illinois, Maryland and Michigan each LDC assumes 100% of the credit (receivable) risk associated with default in payment by residential customers.

Natural Gas

Just Energy and its affiliates offer natural gas customers a variety of products, such as five-year fixed-price contracts, flat-bill options and month-to-month variable-price offerings in the Provinces of Ontario, Québec, British Columbia, Alberta Manitoba and Saskatchewan, and in the States of Maryland, Michigan, New York, Illinois, Indiana, Ohio, California, Pennsylvania, New Jersey and Georgia. Although customers purchase their gas supply through Just Energy, the LDC is still mandated, on a regulated basis, to distribute the gas. Except in Alberta, Georgia and the United Kingdom, the LDCs provide billing and, except in Alberta, Illinois, Georgia, California and the United Kingdom the LDCs provide collection services, including the collection and remittance to Just Energy of the commodity portion of each customer's account for a small monthly fee. In Illinois and Pennsylvania, the LDC provides collection services only until the account is delinquent. In Ontario, British Columbia, Manitoba, Quebec, New York, Ohio and Michigan, each LDC assumes 100% of the credit (receivable) risk associated with default in payment by residential and commercial customers. In all Canadian markets except for Alberta, the LDCs pay Just Energy for the gas when it is delivered. In other jurisdictions, including Alberta, Just Energy is paid upon consumption by the customers.

Smart Thermostats

Just Energy began bundling its commodity contracts with a smart thermostat product manufactured by ecobee Inc. to customers located in Ontario and Texas in the first and second calendar quarter of 2013 respectively. The smart thermostats allow customers to have more control over their energy consumption and can assist them in reducing energy costs. As of March 31, 2015, there were approximately 43,000 thermostats installed, which are bundled with other products. The Company expects to expand the bundled product offering to other jurisdictions in Fiscal 2016.

Residential Solar

In January 2015, Just Energy entered into a comprehensive, long-term agreement with CPF in the U.S. to sell residential solar electricity. The partnership combines Just Energy’s experience and strength in customer acquisition with CPF’s solar finance and fulfillment capabilities. CPF’s online platform allows Just Energy to sell residential solar products and connects the Company with a national network of qualified solar installation professionals. The partnership also enables Just Energy to sell complementary energy management solutions to a whole new customer segment in a less capital intensive manner. The agreement with CPF also provides Just Energy the option to participate in certain minority portions of project equity, which provide attractive 20-year returns on project assets. Roll out of the solar program began in the first calendar quarter of 2015 in California and New York.

Commercial Division

Just Energy’s commercial business is operated primarily through Hudson Energy. Hudson Energy offers fixed and variable rate natural gas and electricity contracts, as well as more customized products to meet the needs of specific customers. Hudson Energy generates the majority of its sales through a large network of non-exclusive Independent Brokers. Some sales are also made through Independent Contractors, exclusive brokers, and inside sales teams. With its web based sales portal, Hudson Connex, Hudson Energy has technology that enables more efficient selling of products to commercial customers by delivering customer-specific pricing and contract documents on demand. Hudson Connex also provides tools for Independent Brokers to manage their customer accounts after the sale is complete. Except in Alberta, Illinois, and Texas, the LDC provides billing and collection services for the majority of Hudson Energy customers. In New Jersey and California, the LDC provides collection services only until the account is delinquent.

Hudson Energy UK markets electricity in the United Kingdom utilizing the same technology and deal process used in North America adapted for the unique characteristics in the market. SEEL and Hudson Energy UK signed a supply agreement on February 1, 2013, under which Shell will be the wholesale supplier for the UK business providing credit support and wholesale supply to cover the commodity obligation for customers.


10
[image: ]

Just Energy also operates commercial business under the Commerce Energy brand, which provides electric power and natural gas supply to residential and commercial customers in California, Georgia, Maryland, New Jersey, Pennsylvania, Illinois, Ohio, and Delaware, with variable and fixed priced commodity supply programs.
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JustGreen and TerraPass

Just Energy also offers green products through its JustGreen Electricity and Natural Gas, and TerraPass programs. Sales of these products continue to support and reaffirm the strong customer demand for green product options in all markets.

JustGreen™

Sold door-to-door through Independent Contractors and employees, the JustGreen electricity product offers customers the option of choosing renewable energy credits which contribute to ‘greening the grid’. The JustGreen Gas product offers carbon offset credits which allow the customer to reduce or eliminate the carbon footprint of their home or business associated with the gas purchased from Just Energy.

Just Energy believes that these JustGreen products will not only add to profits, but also increase sales receptivity. When a customer purchases a unit of JustGreen Electricity or Natural Gas, it creates a contractual obligation for Just Energy to obtain renewable energy certificates or carbon offsets of a quantity at least equal to the demand created by the customer's purchase. The Company currently sells JustGreen Gas (carbon offsets) in Ontario, Manitoba, Alberta, British Columbia California, Illinois, Maryland, Michigan, New Jersey, New York, Ohio, Pennsylvania, and Illinois and JustGreen Electricity (RECs) in Ontario, Alberta, Delaware, New York, New Jersey, Maryland, Illinois, Ohio, Texas, Massachusetts, and Pennsylvania. Of all residential customers who contracted with Just Energy in the year ending March 31, 2015, 31% purchased JustGreen for some or all of their energy needs. On average, these customers elected to purchase 89% of their consumption as green supply.

TerraPass

TerraPass was acquired by Just Energy in April 2014 with the purchase of the business and consumer retail division, along with the TerraPass name/brand. The carbon offset verification, wholesale and energy consulting services were not part of the acquisition and will continue to operate independently today as Origin Climate. Since 2004, TerraPass has been a provider of sustainable carbon emissions solutions. TerraPass supports projects throughout North America that reduce greenhouse gases and produce renewable energy. TerraPass products and services provide consumers and businesses with options to help them reduce the environmental impact of their everyday activities through carbon offsets and renewable energy credits.

The Company retains an independent auditor to validate its renewable and carbon offset purchases annually to ensure that customer requirements have been matched or exceeded with relevant carbon offsets or renewable energy certificates for both JustGreen and TerraPass products. An independent auditor has performed this review since 2009 and determined that Just Energy was compliant each year.

Renewable Energy Certificates (RECs) and Carbon Offset Project Locations
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Marketing

Residential customers are contracted through a number of sales channels including door-to-door, online, telemarketing and affinity programs. Hudson Energy primarily employs Independent Brokers utilizing the Hudson Connex sales portal to solicit Energy Contracts. Marketing also involves inbound telemarketing through internet sales primarily through Just Energy’s joint venture internet company, Just Ventures LLC, in which it has a 50% interest.

The elapsed period between the time when a customer contract is signed to when the first payment is received from the customer varies with each market. The time delays per market are approximately two to six months. The cost for obtaining a new customer and related expenses currently includes commissions payable to Independent Contractors, Independent Brokers and Independent Representatives, salaries paid to the marketing and customer service departments which support the Independent Contractors and Independent Brokers, salaries paid to customer service representatives who verify the customer contracts, commissions paid to sales representatives for closing a deal over the phone, the costs of printing contracts, bonus awards, advertising costs and the costs of promotional materials. The ability of Just Energy to contract large numbers of customers at a reasonable cost has been a key ingredient in the success of Just Energy.
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Corporate Social Responsibility

Community Investment

Just Energy conducts business with a mind that its activities benefit the communities in which it operates through job creation, charitable donations and employee volunteerism. Through the Just Energy Foundation, the Company strives to help charitable organizations secure the resources required to promote the health and well-being of communities in need.

Support for communities

As a leading energy retailer in North America, Just Energy’s vision is to support organizations in Canada and the United States that make positive contributions to energy consumers. The Company, through the Just Energy Foundation, is dedicated to supporting organizations that work to provide financial aid and resources to disadvantaged/low income residents to help them secure the basic necessities of life, such as food, shelter and warmth. Through such support, Just Energy is committed to being a strong corporate citizen and community partner to promote the livelihood and enhance the quality of life for those most vulnerable.
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Support for youth

The Company also believes in providing underprivileged youth with unique and enriching opportunities. For example, Just Energy has partnered with MLSE Foundation and its new Community Action Grants program established to give Ontario charitable sports organizations the opportunity to receive three $50,000 grants each year. Each MLSE sport features its own Community Action Grant to be awarded to an organization that provides youth the opportunity to play hockey, basketball or soccer. Each team-specific grant is presented by Just Energy through the Just Energy Foundation. The Community Action Grant Programs are a chance for Just Energy to provide accessible programs for underprivileged youth who would otherwise not have the opportunity to participate.

The Just Energy Foundation has also contributed financial support to local organizations dedicated to building stronger communities through after-school academic, mentoring and youth leadership programs, poverty relief organizations and child advocacy programs.

Environmental Stewardship

Just Energy provides green energy solutions to residential and commercial customers that allow them to reduce their environmental impact. See “Just Green” and “Terrapass” on page 10. Just Energy’s partnership with CPF enables the Company to sell residential solar electricity, complementing Just Energy’s existing green energy options and providing environmentally-conscious consumers with access to long-term, sustainable solar energy solutions.

Accountability and transparency

Just Energy proactively evaluates its green energy sales to ensure the Company’s project investments match customers' green energy selections. Just Energy’s green purchases are reviewed annually by Grant Thornton LLP. This validates that the money spent by customers’ on Just Energy’s green products through TerraPass.com or with JustGreen Natural Gas and Power goes directly to renewable energy or carbon offset projects.

One hundred percent of the carbon offsets purchased are verified and validated against broadly accepted protocols by independent third party verifiers.The primary standards used are the Verified Carbon Standard and the Climate Action Reserve. These standards ensure that customers receive the highest quality offsets available.

Generation sources

Just Energy seeks and purchases RECs and carbon offsets from a variety of renewable sources that reduce greenhouse gases including:

Farm power – working with farms to make the best possible use of animal waste.

Landfill gas capture – turns garbage into power by capturing the methane released by organic waste as it breaks down.

Coal mine methane – support methane capture projects at abandoned coal mines where methane naturally exists in coal beds and is released into the atmosphere through mine shafts.

Forest management – forests sequester carbon dioxide in the trunks, leaves, branches and roots of trees. The projects improve forest management to sequester more carbon.

Wind energy – wind energy displaces electricity that is generated by dirty fossil fuels like gas and coal.

Corporate Governance

The Company has an active Board of Directors to guide its operations and ensure transparency to investors. Just Energy’s corporate governance meets the recommended standards established by the Canadian and US Securities Administrators and other shareholder groups. The Company’s Board of Directors comprises the Executive Chair and eight outside directors, and is monitored by a lead independent director. The Board has delegated certain decisions to its committees that are composed of external directors only. The committees are Audit, Risk, Corporate Governance and Nominating, and the Compensation, Human Resources, Environmental and Health and Safety Committees.
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Code of Business Conduct and Ethics Policy

Just Energy has in place a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics Policy which is available on its website at www.justenergygroup.com.

Human Resources

As a company, Just Energy has in place a number of policies to foster a safe, welcoming and equitable work environment, including with respect to the following:
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Supply Arrangements

Commodity

For fixed-price contracts, Just Energy purchases gas and electricity supply through physical or financial transactions with Commodity Suppliers in advance of marketing, based on forecasted customer aggregation for residential and small commercial customers. For larger commercial customers, electricity and gas supply is generally purchased concurrently with the execution of a contract. Each LDC provides historical customer usage which, when normalized to average weather, enables Just Energy to purchase the expected normal customer load. For natural gas, some LDCs may require Just Energy to inject gas into storage in the summer for delivery to customers in the winter pursuant to a pre-set delivery schedule.

Just Energy attempts to mitigate exposure to weather variations through active management of the electricity and gas portfolio, which involves, but is not limited to, the purchase of options, including weather derivatives. This strategy provides price and volume protection, but will not eliminate all supply cost risks. The expected cost of this strategy is incorporated into the price to the customer. To the extent that balancing requirements are outside the forecast purchase, Just Energy bears the financial responsibility for fluctuations in customer usage. Volume variances may result in either excess or short supply. In the case of under consumption by the customer, excess supply is sold in the spot market resulting in either a gain or loss compared to the weighted average cost of supply. Further, customer margin is lowered proportionately to the decrease in consumption. In the case of greater than expected consumption, Just Energy must purchase the short supply in the spot market. Consequently, customer margin increases proportionately to the increase in consumption net of the gain or loss associated with the incremental supply purchase. Additionally, to the extent that supply balancing is not fully covered through customer pass-throughs, active management or the options employed, Just Energy’s customer gross margin may be impacted depending upon market conditions at the time of balancing.

Just Energy transacts with a number of different counterparties for its energy supply. Its primary Suppliers participate in an Intercreditor Agreement pursuant to which the Commodity Suppliers and lenders to Just Energy share in the collateral provided by the energy commodity business (other than the UK) of Just Energy. The supply participants to the Intercreditor Agreement are Shell, BP, Exelon, Société Générale, Bruce Power, EDF Trading North America, LLC, National Bank of Canada and The Bank of Nova Scotia (collectively, the “Secured Suppliers”). Certain of these Commodity Suppliers also assist in managing, balancing and/or scheduling gas and/or power requirements in certain markets for a fee pursuant to additional agreements.
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Just Energy's financial obligations to the Secured Suppliers are secured by general security agreements providing for, among other things, a priority security interest over all customer contracts. If the Secured Suppliers default in their obligations to deliver gas and electricity to Just Energy, or if Just Energy defaults in its obligations to accept delivery of gas or electricity, the contractual arrangements between them contain provisions requiring, subject to force majeure, the payment of various amounts by the defaulting party to the non-defaulting party, including liquidated damages.

Just Energy has also entered into contractual arrangements for the physical purchase or financial hedge of energy from other Commodity Suppliers. Although the contractual arrangements with these other Commodity Suppliers are not secured on the same basis as the transactions with the Secured Suppliers, in certain circumstances, security for the obligations of Just Energy to these other Commodity Suppliers or vice versa is provided by way of letter of credit.

Hudson UK has entered into strategic supply arrangement with SEEL for Hudson UK’s retail business in the United Kingdom. Under the arrangement, SEEL will be the wholesale supplier for Hudson UK. The structure gives Hudson UK access to the wholesale market and the benefit of SEEL’s market presence and knowledge.

JustGreen/TerraPass

On behalf of its customers, Just Energy purchases and retires renewable energy credits and carbon offsets from certified sources for greenhouse gas reduction and green energy production offsetting their average electricity and/or natural gas use for those customers who elect to purchase JustGreen or TerraPass products. Just Energy attempts to purchase the renewable energy credits and carbon offsets from facilities, such as wind farms, solar, biomass projects and landfill gas projects located in the local jurisdiction in which it sells its green products. The Renewable Energy Credits are Green-e Energy (U.S.) and EcoLogo (Canada) certified or comply with renewable portfolio standards where registered; the carbon offset projects are verified through Climate Action Reserve, Voluntary Carbon Standard or American Carbon Registry in the U.S., and meet the ISO 14064 Standard in Canada.

Competition

Management of Just Energy believes it has competitive advantages over a number of other energy retailers in that it has: (i) a marketing and sales organization which has achieved significant success in commodity and green product sales; (ii) a responsive customer care and customer service process; (iii) a disciplined management of commodity, green products, home energy management solutions through smart thermostats; (iv) products priced to achieve stable margin growth vs. customer growth in all business sectors (v) evolving sales channels; and (vi) growth of Just Energy’s commercial business through Hudson Energy and Commerce Energy. The industry credibility of Just Energy is based on the long-term experience of its management team relating to the deregulation of natural gas and electricity and their innovations in providing consumer choices including its TerraPass product offerings within the direct purchase market.

Industry Competition

Electricity and Natural Gas

Just Energy has natural gas and electricity competition in every jurisdiction in which it carries on business. Generally, competitors are local in nature with a few extending to multiple jurisdictions. There can be upwards of twenty competitors in many markets. The nature and product offerings vary by jurisdiction. It is possible that new entrants may enter the market and compete directly for the customer base that Just Energy targets, slowing or reducing its market share. Other than LDCs (discussed below), Just Energy's largest competitors in Canada and the United States are Direct Energy Marketing Ltd.(which is owned by Centrica plc), IGS Energy Inc., NRG Energy Inc., which owns Green Mountain Energy Company and Reliant Energy, Gateway Energy Services Corporation (which is owned by Direct Energy), MXenergy Inc. and MXenergy Electric Inc. (which are owned by Exelon) and Superior Energy Management (a division of Superior Plus LP, which is owned by Superior Plus Corp.).

The LDCs are currently not permitted to make a profit on the sale of the gas and electricity commodity to their supply customers. If the LDCs are permitted by changes in the current regulatory framework to sell natural gas at prices other than cost, their existing customer bases could provide them with a significant competitive advantage. This may limit the number of customers available for marketers including Just Energy. To the extent that Just
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Energy is successful through its marketing program in educating customers, it believes that it can be successful in signing LDC customers to its products.

JustGreen/TerraPass and Solar

The most significant competitors with respect to Just Energy’s JustGreen and TerraPass products are Green Mountain Energy Company in the United States and Bullfrog Power in Canada.

The most significant competitors to Just Energy’s residential solar efforts are Solar City, Vivint Solar, Sungevity and NRG. Just Energy is focused on a customer origination business model and partnering with CPF in the capital-intensive development and fulfillment business. Most of Just Energy/CPF’s competitors are pursuing a more vertically integrated model

Environmental Protection

With respect to the sale of natural gas and electricity, Just Energy does not view potential environmental liabilities as a significant concern. Just Energy does not have physical control of the natural gas or electricity or any facilities used to transport it. Therefore, any potential liability of Just Energy for gas leaks or explosions during transmission and distribution is considered to be relatively remote.

Employees and Independent Contractors

As of March 31, 2015, Just Energy and its affiliates employed approximately 1220 persons. In addition, approximately 750 Independent Contractors are involved in the door-to-door marketing of Energy Contracts, and approximately 1,100 Independent Brokers and contractors are actively associated with Hudson. In certain markets where the company markets door-to-door – New York, California, Pennsylvania and Massachusetts, the Company user employees to market door-to-door.
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Real Property

Just Energy leases space for its Canadian and U.S. head offices in Mississauga, Ontario and Houston, Texas respectively; corporate office in Toronto, Ontario; operating offices in Suffern, New York and Dallas, Texas and call centres in Mississauga, Ontario, Houston, Texas and Lansing, Michigan; as well as over 40 sales offices throughout North America.

Industry Regulation

In each jurisdiction in North America, the energy markets are regulated under the oversight of a state or provincial government agency with legislated authority to regulate generally all aspects of the industry including the sale of electricity and natural gas. Although the sale of the commodity itself is considered a ‘deregulated’ service, with the exception of Quebec, Saskatchewan and Indiana, Just Energy is required to obtain a certificate of authority or


18
[image: ]

license from the regulatory agency and pursuant to that license, operate in accordance with state or provincial legislation and established regulations and rules as it pertains to the marketing of energy services within the jurisdiction. In Quebec, Saskatchewan and Indiana, Just Energy markets services under a direct contractual arrangement established with the LDC and is subject to operate in accordance with rules established under the LDC’s tariffs. Just Energy currently has obtained and maintains all of the licenses and contractual arrangements required to undertake its business in all of the jurisdictions in which it operates.

In the US, the Company is subject to regulation by the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (“FERC”) and the North American Electricity Reliability Corporation ("NERC"). FERC regulates transportation of natural gas by interstate pipelines. Such regulation affects the Company's access to natural gas supplies. As to the wholesale electricity sector, FERC has issued regulations that require wholesale electric transmission services to be offered on an open-access, non-discriminatory basis. The Company’s electric operations are dependent upon the availability of open access, non-discriminatory electric transmission service. FERC also regulates the sale of wholesale electricity by requiring companies who sell in the wholesale market to obtain a market-based rate authority unless they justify their rates on a cost-of-service basis. Several of the Company’s subsidiaries have market-based rate authority. If these subsidiaries do not comply with FERC’s rules on market-based rate authority be subject to sanctions, including substantial monetary penalties. The Company is also subject to mandatory reliability standards enacted by the NERC and enforced by FERC. Compliance with the mandatory reliability standards may subject the Company and others to higher operating costs and may result in increased capital expenditures. If the Company is found to be in noncompliance with the mandatory reliability standards, the Company could be subject to sanctions, including substantial monetary penalties.

In addition, the Dodd-Frank Act provides a regulatory regime for derivatives that generally requires derivatives to be traded on an exchange and cleared together with related collateral and margin requirements. The Company qualifies for the commercial end-user exception which allows it to continue to enter into swaps in the over-the-counter market without being subject to mandatory exchange trading and clearing. Additionally, Dodd-Frank has brought about enhanced reporting and record keeping requirements as well as expanded position limits that are still pending final adoption. A similar regulatory regime is in coming online in Europe. In addition, the Canadian regulators have commenced a process to implement a similar regulatory regime for derivatives that is not yet finalized. These Canadian rules are meant to be similar to the US’s Dodd Frank Act but have differences that may be more impactful to the Company than the current US regulations.

Financing

Just Energy Credit Facility

Just Energy Ontario L.P. and Just Energy (U.S.) Corp., Subsidiaries of the Company, are parties to the fifth amended and restated credit agreement (as amended, restated and supplemented from time to time), providing Just Energy with a credit facility of up to $210 Million for working capital purposes (the "Credit Facility"). Under the terms of the Credit Facility, Just Energy is able to make use of Bankers’ Acceptances and LIBOR advances at stamping fees that vary between 2.88 per cent. and 4.00 per cent., prime rate advances at rates of interest that vary between bank prime plus 1.88 per cent. and 3.00 per cent., and letters of credit at rates that vary between 2.88 per cent. and 4.00 per cent. Interest rates are adjusted quarterly based on certain financial performance indicators. The current syndicate of lenders includes Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce, Royal Bank of Canada, National Bank of Canada, Toronto-Dominion Bank, The Bank of Nova Scotia, HSBC Bank Canada and Alberta Treasury Branches. To complement the Credit Facility, Just Energy, the Secured Suppliers and the lenders have entered into the Intercreditor Agreement pursuant to which the Secured Suppliers and the lenders jointly hold security over substantially all of the assets of the Company and its operating Subsidiaries (other than Hudson Energy UK). Securities with respect to the commodity business owned directly or indirectly by the Company in its operating Subsidiaries (excluding, without limitation Hudson UK) have been pledged to CIBC, the collateral agent, as part of the security. All receipts are directed to bank accounts over which CIBC, as collateral agent, has deposit account control agreements in place (each a "Blocked Account"). Gas Suppliers and Electricity Suppliers invoice the operating Subsidiaries of the Company directly and, provided that no event of default exists under the Credit Facility, the Intercreditor Agreement or the related security agreements, the Subsidiaries of the Company, on a periodic basis, pay the cost of commodity and related administration fees directly from the Blocked Accounts. Where an event of default exists, CIBC, as collateral agent, has the right to exercise control over each Blocked Account in any manner and in respect of any item of payment or proceeds thereof in accordance with the terms of the Intercreditor Agreement. The Credit Facility contains a number of covenants, including, without limitation, with
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respect to financial ratios. During Fiscal 2015, the Credit Facility underwent a number of amendments pursuant to which certain covenants were renegotiated to facilitate the growth of the Company and to take into account the sale of National Home Services and Just Energy’s commercial solar division. Just Energy has complied with all covenants under the Credit Facility. The Credit Facility matures on October 2, 2015.

$330 Million Convertible Debentures

To fund the acquisition of Hudson Energy, Just Energy entered into an agreement with a syndicate of underwriters for $330 million of convertible extendible unsecured subordinated debentures issued on May 5, 2010, which were assumed by the Company on the Trust Conversion. The $330 Million Convertible Debentures bear an interest rate of 6.0% per annum payable semi-annually in arrears on June 30 and December 31 of each year and mature on June 30, 2017. Each $1,000 of principal amount of the $330 Million Convertible Debentures is convertible at any time prior to maturity or on the date fixed for redemption, at the option of the holder, into approximately 55.6 Common Shares of the Company, representing a conversion price of $18 per Common Share.

The $330 Million Convertible Debentures are redeemable after June 30, 2013, but prior to June 30, 2015, in whole or in part, on not more than 60 days’ and not less than 30 days’ prior notice, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest, provided that the current market price on the date on which notice of redemption is given is not less than 125% of the conversion price. On or after June 30, 2015, and prior to the maturity date, the debentures may be redeemed by the Company, in whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest. The $330 Million Convertible Debentures are unsecured and are subordinated to Just Energy’s secured obligations, the $105 Million Note and the $150 Million Convertible Bonds.

Pursuant to a normal course issuer bid filed on March 16, 2014 and renewed on March 15, 2015, as of May 25, 2015, $1,759,000 of the $330 Million Convertible Debentures have been purchased by the Company for cancellation at a weighted average price of $927.15 (on a par value of $1,000).

$100 Million Convertible Debentures

To fund the acquisition of Fulcrum, Just Energy entered into an agreement with a syndicate of underwriters for $100 million of convertible extendible unsecured subordinated debentures issued on September 22, 2011. The $100 Million Convertible Debentures bear an interest rate of 5.75% per annum payable semi-annually in arrears on March 31 and September 30 of each year and mature on September 30, 2018. Each $1,000 of principal amount of the $100 Million Convertible Debentures is convertible at any time prior to maturity or on the date fixed for redemption, at the option of the holder, into approximately 56.0224 Common Shares of the Company, representing a conversion price of $17.85 per Common Share.

The $100 Million Convertible Debentures are not redeemable prior to October 1, 2014, and prior to September 30, 2016, except under certain conditions after a change of control has occurred. On or after October 1, 2014, the debentures may be redeemed by the Company, in whole or in part, on not more than 60 days’ and not less than 30 days’ prior notice, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest, provided that the current market price on the date on which notice of redemption is given is not less than 125% of the conversion price. On or after September 30, 2016, and prior to the maturity date, the debentures may be redeemed by the Company, in whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest. The $100 Million Convertible Debentures are unsecured and are subordinated to Just Energy’s secured obligations the $105 Million Note and the $150 Million Convertible Bonds.

$105 Million Note

Just Energy entered into a $105 million senior unsecured note indenture on December 12, 2012. The sole holder of the $105 Million Note is CPPIB Credit Investments Inc. The $105 Million Note bears an interest rate of 9.75% and matures in May of 2018. The $105 Million Note is subject to certain financial and other covenants. As of March 31, 2014, all of these covenants have been met. Just Energy used the net proceeds from the $105 Million Note to reduce its drawings on its working capital line, fund future growth and for general corporate purposes.

$150 Million Convertible Bonds
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On January 29, 2014 the Company announced the closing of the European-focused offering of USD $150 million of senior unsecured convertible bonds due July 2019 with a coupon of 6.5% per annum payable semi-annually in arrears. The initial conversion price is USD $9.3762 share, which represents a premium of 22.5% over the 5 day volume weighted average price of Just Energy’s common shares on January 21, 2014 (being the day on which the offering was publicly announced). The $150 Convertible Bonds are subject to certain covenants. As of March 31, 2014, all of these covenants have been met. Just Energy used the net proceeds of the offering to redeem its outstanding $90 Million Convertible Debentures, and intends to make market purchases for cancellation of convertible debentures from other series as allowed under its debt covenants and to pay down the Company’s Credit Facility.

RISK FACTORS

The business of the Company and an investment in securities of the Company are subject to certain risks. Prospective purchasers of securities of the Company should carefully consider the risk factors set forth on page 1 and under the heading "Risk factors" at pages 46 to 50 of the Company’s Fiscal 2015 Fourth Quarter Management Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) (in Just Energy’s Annual Report), which portions of such documents are incorporated by reference in this Annual Information Form and are available on the SEDAR website at www.sedar.com, the U.S Securities and Exchange Commission website at www.sec.com and on Just Energy’s website at www.justenergygroup.com. The principal risks and uncertainties that Just Energy can foresee are described in the above referenced excerpts, which are qualified in their entirety by reference to, and must be read in conjunction with, the detailed information appearing elsewhere in this Annual Information Form. The list may not be an exhaustive list as some future risks may be as yet unknown. Other risks currently regarded as immaterial, could turn out to be material. If any such risks actually occur, the business, financial condition and/or liquidity and results of operations of the Company could be materially adversely affected and the ability of the Company to pay dividends on the Common Shares could be materially adversely affected.

DIVIDENDS AND DISTRIBUTIONS

Dividends on Common Shares

The Company’s dividend policy provides that the amount of cash dividends, if any, to be paid on the Common Shares, is subject to the discretion of the Board of Directors and may vary depending on a variety of factors, including, without limitation (i) the prevailing economic and competitive environment; (ii) the Company’s results of operations and earnings; (iii) financial requirements for the operations and growth of the Company and its Subsidiaries; (iv) the satisfaction of solvency tests imposed by the CBCA for the declaration and payment of dividends; (v) contractual restrictions and financing agreement covenants; and (vi) other relevant factors and conditions existing from time to time.

On June 5, 2014, the Company announced that it would be reducing its dividend from $0.84 annually to $0.50 annually and that the dividend would be paid quarterly ($0.125 per quarter) effective July 1, 2014 with the first dividend payment on September 30, 2014. Cash dividends are made on the last business day of each fiscal quarter to the Shareholders of record on the 15th day of such month or the first business day thereafter. However, there is no guarantee that the Company will maintain this dividend policy.

The following table sets forth the month of payment and dividends per Common Share paid by the Company, as applicable for the three most recently completed fiscal years and for the months of April and May, 2015.

	Record of Cash Distributions/
	
	Fiscal 2016
	Fiscal 2015
	
	Fiscal 2014
	
	Fiscal 2013
	

	Dividends (1)
	
	$ Per Common Share
	$ Per Common Share
	
	$ Per Common Share
	
	$ Per Common Share
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	April
	
	−
	0.07
	0.07
	0.10333
	

	
	May
	
	−
	0.07
	0.07
	0.10333
	

	
	June
	
	−
	0.07
	0.07
	0.10333
	

	
	July
	
	−
	−
	0.07
	0.10333
	

	
	August
	
	−
	−
	0.07
	0.10333
	

	
	September
	
	−
	0.125
	0.07
	0.10333
	

	
	October
	
	−
	−
	0.07
	0.10333
	

	
	November
	
	−
	−
	0.07
	0.10333
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	Record of Cash
	Fiscal 2016
	Fiscal 2015
	Fiscal 2014
	Fiscal 2013

	December
	−
	0.125
	0.07
	0.10333

	January
	−
	−
	0.07
	0.10333

	February
	−
	−
	0.07
	0.10333

	March
	−
	0.125
	0.07
	0.10333



Notes:

(1) Distributions are also paid on all outstanding PBGs, RSGs and DSGs equal to the dividend paid on the Common Shares. As of March 31, 2015, there were 301,114 PBGs, 2,156,034 RSGs and 178,136 DSGs outstanding.

MARKET FOR SECURITIES

Common Shares of the Company

The Common Shares of the Company are listed for trading on the TSX and the NYSE under the symbol JE. The following tables set forth the price range and trading volume of Common Shares traded on the TSX and the NYSE for the periods indicated as reported by the TSX and the NYSE, respectively.

TSX

(CDN$)

	Period
	High ($)
	Low ($)
	Volume

	2014
	
	
	

	April
	9.05
	8.44
	9,314,713

	May
	8.86
	5.98
	25,513,688

	June
	6.67
	5.86
	18,081,090

	July
	6.14
	5.39
	8,904,435

	August
	6.65
	5.58
	7,566,901

	September
	6.64
	5.14
	11,163,027

	October
	5.59
	4.77
	9,759,019

	November
	6.10
	5.39
	8,117,993

	December
	6.23
	5.09
	9,574,382

	2015
	
	
	

	January
	6.65
	5.66
	7,907,134

	February
	6.90
	6.12
	4,317,725

	March
	6.40
	5.85
	4,291,328

	April
	6.76
	5.80
	6,070,089

	May (1 to 25)
	6.84
	6.12
	5,116,055



NYSE

(US$)

	Period
	High ($)
	Low ($)
	Volume

	2014
	
	
	

	April
	8.19
	7.65
	7,469,214

	May
	8.15
	5.50
	15,939,050

	June
	6.11
	5.37
	14,799,598

	July
	5.85
	5.01
	10,293,515

	August
	6.08
	5.15
	7,854,446

	September
	6.10
	4.60
	7,615,833

	October
	5.10
	4.20
	7,398,189

	November
	5.39
	4.71
	5,611,676

	December
	5.41
	4.38
	8,466,299

	2015
	
	
	

	January
	5.36
	4.80
	5,906,538

	February
	5.58
	4.87
	4,564,271
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	March
	5.09
	4.62
	4,070,187

	April
	5.62
	4.61
	5,418,820

	May (1 to 25)
	5.62
	5.10
	2,721,657




$330 Million Convertible Debentures

The $330 Million Convertible Debentures are traded on the TSX under the symbol JE.DB. The following table sets forth trading information for the $330

Million Convertible Debentures for the periods indicated as reported by the TSX:

	Period
	High ($)
	Low ($)
	Volume

	2014
	
	
	

	April
	91.96
	90.16
	3,305,000

	May
	92.02
	82.00
	7,613,000

	June
	91.50
	86.35
	10,358,833

	July
	90.50
	88.51
	4,553,400

	August
	91.25
	89.72
	3,023,000

	September
	91.00
	87.00
	3,078,000

	October
	88.30
	83.85
	4,823,000

	November
	88.01
	86.00
	3,807,500

	December
	89.00
	85.51
	1,758,000

	2015
	
	
	

	January
	91.75
	88.06
	2,660,000

	February
	94.01
	91.00
	5,090,000

	March
	93.48
	91.00
	3,949,000

	April
	94.76
	90.00
	8,327,500

	May (1 to 25)
	96.00
	92.25
	2,462,500




$100 Million Convertible Debentures

The $100 Million Convertible Debentures began trading on the TSX under the trading symbol JE.DB.B on September 22, 2011. The following table sets forth trading information for the $100 Million Convertible Debentures for the periods indicated as reported by the TSX:

	Period
	High ($)
	Low ($)
	Volume

	2014
	
	
	

	April
	87.00
	85.65
	971,000

	May
	87.50
	78.12
	1,454,000

	June
	87.04
	78.01
	1,485,000

	July
	86.00
	84.24
	665,000

	August
	86.01
	83.33
	943,000

	September
	86.00
	83.00
	2,331,000

	October
	83.00
	78.41
	1,657,000

	November
	81.61
	78.00
	417,000

	December
	83.00
	80.00
	1,411,000

	2015
	
	
	

	January
	86.00
	83.01
	1,029,000

	February
	87.50
	83.54
	1,886,000

	March
	87.25
	85.43
	1,206,000

	April
	89.36
	85.00
	1,492,000

	May (1 to 25)
	91.40
	88.00
	1,024,000
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US$150 Million 6.5% Convertible Bonds

The US$150 Million 6.5% Convertible Bonds were listed on the Professional Securities Market of the LSE under the trading symbol 48IL on June 12, 2014. To date the LSE has not reported any trading activity.

PRIOR SALES

The Company issued the following securities during the most recently completed fiscal year, none of which are listed or quoted on a marketplace:

1. 239,946 RSGs/PBGs were granted on May 16, 2014 having a grant value of $8.70 per RSG/PBG.

2. 712,587 RSGs/PBGs were granted on June 13, 2014 having a grant value of $6.04 per RSG/PBG.

3. 597,735 RSGs/PBGs were granted on August 7, 2014 having a grant value of $5.74 per RSG/PBG.

4. 150,000 RSGs were granted on August 22, 2014 having a grant value of $6.53 per RSG.

As part of their fee based compensation, DSGs or Common Shares are issued to directors at the end of each quarter at a value per DSG or Common Share equal to the 20 day simple average closing price of the Common Shares, as applicable on the TSX preceding the quarter end.

The following table describes the number of DSGs or Common Shares granted, the date granted, and the 10 day simple average closing price of Common Shares, as applicable, used to determine the number of DSGs or Common Shares granted.

	
	Quarter Ended
	Total Number of DSGs/
	
	10 Day Average Closing Price

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	Common Shares Granted
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	June 30, 2014
	4,880
	
	
	$6.14
	

	
	September 30, 2014
	5,472
	
	
	$5.48
	

	
	December 31, 2014
	5,104
	
	
	$5.87
	

	
	March 31, 2015
	4,944
	
	
	$6.06
	



ESCROWED SECURITIES

As of the date hereof, there are no shares of the Company held in escrow or subject to a contractual restriction on transfer.

DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE COMPANY

Members of the Board of Directors

The names, municipalities of residence, year of appointment and the present principal occupations of the directors of the Company as at May 31, 2015 as follows:

	
	
	
	
	Present Principal Occupation

	Name, Municipality of Residence
	
	Year of Appointment(5)
	
	During Five Preceding Years(7)

	Rebecca MacDonald
	2001
	
	Executive Chair of the Company

	Toronto, Ontario
	
	
	
	

	Hon. Hugh D. Segal (1)(2)(3)(4)(5)(6)
	2001
	
	Master of Massey College, University of Toronto

	Kingston, Ontario
	
	
	
	

	Hon. Michael Kirby (1)(4)
	2001
	
	Corporate Director and Chairman of Partners for Mental Health (national charity)

	Ottawa, Ontario
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	Present Principal Occupation

	Name, Municipality of Residence
	
	Year of Appointment(5)
	
	During Five Preceding Years(7)

	John A. Brussa (2)(4)
	2001
	
	Senior Partner, Burnet, Duckworth & Palmer LLP (law firm)

	Calgary, Alberta
	
	
	
	

	Hon. Gordon D. Giffin (2)(4)
	2006
	
	Senior Partner, McKenna, Long & Aldridge LLP (law firm)

	Atlanta, Georgia
	
	
	
	

	William F. Weld (1)(3)
	2012
	
	Principal, Mintz, Levin, Cohn, Ferris, Glovsky and Popeo, P.C (law firm)

	New York, New York
	
	
	
	

	George Sladoje(1)(2)(4)
	2012
	
	Principal of Sladoje Consulting, LLC

	Chicago, Illinois
	
	
	
	

	Brett Perlman (1)(3)
	2013
	
	President, Vector Advisors

	Houston, Texas
	
	
	
	

	R. Scott Gahn(2)(4)
	2013
	
	President, Gulf Coast Security Systems, Inc.

	Houston, Texas
	
	
	
	





(1) Member of the Audit Committee. Mr. Kirby is the Chair of the Committee and the Financial Expert under the NYSE listing standards.
(2) Member of the Compensation, Human Resources, Environmental, Health and Safety Committee. Mr. Gahn is the Chair of the Committee.
(3) Member of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. Mr. Giffin is the Chair of the Committee.
(4) Member of the Risk Committee. Mr. Sladoje is the Chair of the Committee.
(5) Appointed lead director by the Board on January 17, 2005 and Vice Chair of the Board on May 20, 2010.
(6) Other than Mr. Weld, Mr. Sladoje, Mr. Perlman and Mr. Gahn each of the persons who are directors of the Company, became a director of the Company on December 31, 2010, immediately prior to the Trust Conversion. Prior to the Trust Conversion, each director (other than Mr. Weld, Mr. Sladoje, Mr. Perlman and Mr. Gahn) was a director of Just Energy Corp., the administrator of the Fund.
(7) Each of the Directors of the Company has held the principal occupation indicated opposite his or her name during the preceding past five years except:

(a) Mr. Kirby was the Chair of The Mental Health Commission of Canada until April 2012;

(b) Mr. Sladoje was Chief Executive Officer of NASDAQ OMX Commodities Clearing Company until December 31, 2011;

(c) Mr. Weld was Of Counsel at McDermott Will & Emery LLP until October, 2012; and

(d) Mr. Gahn became president of Gulf Coast Security Systems, Inc. in November 2012. He retired as the Company’s Chief Operating Officer on June 10, 2011.

Executive Officers of the Company

The names, municipality of residence and present principal occupations of the executive officers of the Company as at May 25, 2015 are as follows:

	
	
	Principal Occupation

	Name, Municipality of Residence
	
	During Five Preceding Years(1)

	Rebecca MacDonald
	
	Executive Chair

	Toronto, Ontario
	
	

	James W. Lewis
	
	President and Co-Chief Executive Officer

	Houston, Texas
	
	

	Deborah Merril
	
	President and Co-Chief Executive Officer

	Houston, Texas
	
	

	Patrick McCullough
	
	Chief Financial Officer

	Houston, Texas
	
	

	Gord Potter
	
	Executive Vice President, Sales Operations

	Richmond Hill, Ontario
	
	

	Jason Herod
	
	Executive Vice President, Consumer Division – North America

	Stoufville, Ontario
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	Principal Occupation

	Name, Municipality of Residence
	
	During Five Preceding Years(1)

	Duncan Stiles
	
	Executive Vice President, Commercial Division

	Toronto, Ontario
	
	

	Jonah T. Davids
	
	Executive Vice President and General Counsel

	Toronto, Ontario
	
	

	Ash Rajendra
	
	Senior Vice President and Chief Information Officer

	Toronto, Ontario
	
	

	Ivan Thompson
	
	Senior Vice President, Human Resources

	Dallas, Texas
	
	



Notes:

(1) Each of the officers who is not a director of the Company has held the principal occupation referred to opposite his or her name or has held other positions and offices within the Company or its subsidiaries during the past five years except:

(a) Mr. Rajendra has been the Senior Vice President and Chief Information Officer of the Company since August, 2011.

(b) Ivan Thompson has been the Senior Vice President, Human Resources since January 1, 2013.

Ownership, Control and Direction of Securities by Directors and Executive Officers

As of May 25, 2015, the above directors and executive officers of the Company, as a group, beneficially owned, or exercised control or direction over, directly or indirectly, an aggregate of approximately 8,950,000 Common Shares, PBGs, RSGs and DSGs, representing approximately 6.1% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares.

Cease Trade Orders, Bankruptcies, Penalties or Sanctions

Other than as set forth below, no director or executive officer of the Company, or a security holder holding a sufficient number of securities of the Company to affect materially the control of the Company is, as at the date hereof, or has been within the 10 years before the date hereof, a director, or executive officer of any company that, while such person was acting in that capacity: (i) was the subject of a cease trade or similar order or an order that denied the relevant company access to any exemption under securities legislation for a period of more than 30 consecutive days; (ii) was subject to an event that resulted, after the director or executive officer ceased to be a director or executive officer, in the company being the subject of a cease trade or similar order or an order that denied the relevant company any exemption under securities legislation, for a period of more than 30 consecutive days; or (iii) within a year of such person ceasing to act in that capacity become bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets.

No director or executive officer of the Company, or a security holder holding a sufficient number of securities of the Company to affect materially the control of the Company (or any personal holding company of such person), has been subject to any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to securities legislation or by a securities regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement agreement with a securities regulatory authority or any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body that would likely be considered important to a reasonable investor in making an investment decision.

The Hon. Gordon D. Giffin, a director of the Company, was a director of Abitibi Bowater Inc. from October 29, 2007 until his resignation on January 22, 2010. In April 2009, AbitibiBowater Inc. and certain of its U.S. and Canadian subsidiaries filed voluntary petitions in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware for relief under the provisions of Chapter 11 and Chapter 15 of the United States Bankruptcy Code, as amended, and sought creditor protection under the Companies’ Creditors Arrangement Act (Canada) with the Superior Court of Quebec in Canada.

Personal Bankruptcies

No director or executive officer of the Company, or a security holder holding sufficient securities of the Company to affect materially the control of the Company, or a personal holding company of any such persons, has, within the 10 years preceding the date of this document, become bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to
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bankruptcy or insolvency, or become subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of the individual.

Conflicts of Interest

There are potential conflicts of interest to which the directors and officers of the Company will be subject in connection with the operations of the Company. In particular, certain of the directors and officers of the Company are involved in managerial or director positions with other energy companies whose operations may, from time to time, be in direct competition with those of the Company or with entities which may, from time to time, provide financing to, or make equity investments in, competitors of the Company. Conflicts, if any, will be subject to the procedures and remedies available under the CBCA. The CBCA provides that in the event that a director has an interest in a contract or proposed contract or agreement, the director shall disclose his interest in such contract or agreement and shall refrain from voting on any matter in respect of such contract or agreement unless otherwise provided in the CBCA. As at the date hereof, the Company is not aware of any existing material conflicts of interest between the Company or a Subsidiary of the Company and any director or officer of the Company or a Subsidiary of the Company.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AND REGULATORY ACTIONS

Other than as set forth below, there are no outstanding legal proceedings or regulatory actions to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party or in respect of which any of their respective properties are subject, which are either: (a) individually, for claims in excess of 10% of the current asset value of the Company, or (b) material to the Company or any of its Affiliates, nor are there any such proceedings known to be contemplated.

The State of California has filed a number of complaints with the FERC against many suppliers of electricity, including Commerce Energy, Inc. (“CEI”), a subsidiary of the Company, with respect to events stemming from the 2001 energy crisis in California. On March 18, 2010, the assigned Administrative Law Judge granted a motion to strike the claim for all parties in one of the complaints (in favour of the suppliers), holding that California did not prove that the reporting errors masked the accumulation of market power. California has appealed the decision. On June 13, 2012, FERC denied the plaintiff’s request for a rehearing, affirming its initial decision. California appealed to the United States District Courts for the Ninth Circuit and oral arguments were heard on February 26, 2015. On April 29, 2015, the appeals court remanded the case back to FERC on grounds that the agency erred in assessing whether market power had resulted in unjust and unreasonable prices, when it only considered power generation market share. The Ninth Circuit said FERC failed to consider other evidence of market power presented by California (e.g., sellers’ actual market positions, gaming, anomalous bidding behaviour and other market manipulation), whether such market power was masked by the reporting deficiencies at issue, and to determine whether the prices in the market were “just and reasonable” as required under the Federal Power Act. CEI continues to vigorously contest this matter

In August 2013, Fulcrum Power Services L.P. (“FPS”) filed a lawsuit against the Company, Just Energy (US) Corp. and Fulcrum, for up to $20 million in connection with Fulcrum failing to achieve an earn-out target under the purchase and sales agreement dated August 24, 2011 for the purchase of Fulcrum from FPS. FPS alleges that the Company conducted itself in a manner that was intended to or reasonably likely to reduce or avoid the achievement of the earn-out target. In October 2013, the Company’s motion to compel arbitration was successful. Just Energy will continue to vigorously defend itself against this claim through the arbitration process.

In March 2012, Davina Hurt and Dominic Hill filed a lawsuit against Commerce Energy Inc., Just Energy Marketing Corp. and the Company (collectively referred to as “Just Energy”) in the Ohio federal court claiming entitlement to payment of minimum wage and overtime under Ohio wage claim laws and the federal Fair Labor Standards Act (“FLSA”) on their own behalf and similarly situated door-to-door sales representatives who sold for Commerce in certain regions of the United States. The Court granted the plaintiffs’ request to certify the lawsuit as a class action. Approximately 1,800 plaintiffs opted into the federal minimum wage and overtime claims, and approximately 8,000 plaintiffs were certified as part of the Ohio state overtime claims. A jury trial on the liability phase was completed on October 6, 2014. The jury reached a verdict that supports the plaintiffs’ class and collective action that certain individuals were not properly classified as outside salespeople in order to qualify for an exemption under the minimum wage and overtime requirements pursuant to the FLSA and Ohio wage and hour laws. Potential amounts owing have yet to be determined and will be subject to a separate damage phase proceeding which remains unscheduled by the Court. On January 9, 2015, the Court struck the plaintiffs’ damage expert report
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based primarily on the fact that the report relied on an unreliable survey. Just Energy disagrees with the result of the October trial and is of the opinion that it is not supported by existing law and precedent. Just Energy strongly believes it complied with the law, continues to vigorously defend the claims and intends to appeal adverse findings.

In August 2013, Levonna Wilkins, a former door-to-door independent contractor for Just Energy Illinois Corp. (“Just Energy Illinois”) filed a lawsuit against Just Energy Illinois, CEI, Just Energy Marketing Corp. and the Company in the Illinois federal district court claiming entitlement to payment of minimum wage and overtime under Illinois wage claim laws and the federal FLSA on her own behalf and similarly situated door-to-door sales representatives who sold in Illinois. On March 13, 2015, the Court granted Wilkin’s request to certify the lawsuit as a class action to include a class made up of Illinois sales representatives who sold for Just Energy Illinois and CEI. Just Energy filed a motion for reconsideration objecting to the class definition and requested that the Court revise its ruling to exclude sales representatives who sold for Commerce. Just Energy will continue to vigorously contest this matter.

INTEREST OF MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS

Other than as described in the Management Information Circular dated May 25, 2015 which is incorporated by reference herein, there were no material interests, direct or indirect, of directors or executive officers of the Company, any person that beneficially owns, or controls or directs, directly or indirectly, more than 10% of the Common Shares, or any known associate or affiliate of such persons, in any transaction within the three most recently completed financial years or during the current financial year which has materially affected or is reasonably expected to materially affect the Company.

AUDITORS, TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR

The auditors of the Company are Ernst & Young LLP, Chartered Accountants, Toronto, Ontario. Based on the recommendation of the Audit Committee of the Company, the Board has proposed that Ernst & Young LLP continue as auditors of the Company at the Annual and Special General Meeting of the Company to take place on June 25, 2015.

Computershare Investor Services Inc. at its principal transfer offices in Toronto, Ontario acts as the transfer agent and registrar for the Common Shares, and trustee for the $330 Million Convertible Debentures, the $100 Million Convertible Debentures and the $105 Million Note Indenture. US Bank Trustees Limited at their principal offices in London, England and Elevon Financial Services Limited, UK Branch act as trustees for the $150 Million Convertible Bonds.

INTEREST OF EXPERTS

There is no person or company whose profession or business gives authority to a statement, report or valuation made by such person or company and who is named as having prepared or certified a statement, report or valuation described or included in a filing, or referred to in a filing, made under National Instrument 51-102 by the Company during, or related to, the Company’s most recently completed financial year other than Ernst &Young LLP, the Company’s current auditors. Ernst & Young LLP have confirmed that they are independent within the meaning of the rules of professional conduct of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Ontario. In addition, none of the aforementioned persons or companies, nor any director, officer or employee of any of the aforementioned persons or companies, is or is expected to be elected, appointed or employed as a director, officer or employee of the Company or of any associate or affiliate of the Company.

MATERIAL CONTRACTS

Except for contracts entered into by the Just Energy in the ordinary course of business or otherwise disclosed herein, the only material contracts entered into by the Company and/or its Subsidiaries are: the Credit Facility and its respective amendments, the $330 Million Debenture Indenture (as amended and supplemented from time to time), the $100 Million Debenture Indenture (as amended and supplemented from time to time) the $105 Million Note Indenture, and the $150 Million Convertible Bonds Trust Deed each of which is described herein. Copies of the Company’s material agreements are available on the Company’s SEDAR profile at www.sedar.com or, since January 30, 2012, on the U.S. Securities Exchange Commission’s website at www.sec.com.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE INFORMATION

Multilateral Instrument 52-110 of the Canadian Securities Administrators requires the Company to disclose annually in its AIF certain information relating to the Company’s Audit Committee and its relationship with its independent auditors. Schedule "A" contains the additional information contemplated by Form 52-110F1 - "Audit Committee Information required in an AIF", including information with respect to the financial literacy and experience of each member of the Audit Committee. The text of the mandate for the Audit Committee is included in Schedule "B".

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Additional information relating to the Company may be found on SEDAR at www.sedar.com, at the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission website at www.sec.gov or on the Company’s website at www.justenergygroup.com. Additional information, including directors' and officers' remuneration and indebtedness, principal holders of the Company’s securities and securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans, is contained in the Information Circular of the Company for its most recent annual meeting of Shareholders that involved the election of directors of the Company. Additional financial and other information is contained in the Financial Statements and the MD&A.
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SCHEDULE "A" - FORM 52-110F1

AUDIT COMMITTEE INFORMATION REQUIRED IN AN AIF

The Audit Committee's Charter.

The text of the Company’s Audit Committee's charter as approved on February 9, 2012 is attached hereto as Schedule "B".

Composition of the Audit Committee and Relevant Education and Experience.

At May 25, 2015, the Company’s Audit Committee consisted of Michael J.L. Kirby (Chair), Hugh D. Segal, William F. Weld, George Sladoje and Brett Perlman. All members of the audit committee are independent and financially literate (as those terms are defined in Multilateral Instrument 52-110 – Audit Committees).

Mr. Kirby, Chair of the Committee, has a PhD in applied mathematics and has been Chair of the Audit Committee for over eight years. He has been a member of the faculty of several business schools, including the University of Chicago. For several years in the 1990's he was Chair of the Standing Senate Committee on Banking, Trade and Commerce, the Senate Committee which is responsible for all legislation and regulations affecting business. Mr. Kirby was Vice-Chair of the Accounting Standards Oversight Board. Currently, he serves as a director of four publicly listed companies (including the Company) and is chair of the Audit Committee of two of them, being the Company and Indigo Books & Music Inc.

Mr. Segal was President of the Institute for Research on Public Policy until May 31, 2006 and has been a member of the Company’s Audit Committee since 2003. Mr. Segal serves as a director of one TSX listed company, Sun Life Financial Inc. He has served as a member of the audit committee of two publicly listed companies. In June 2014, Mr. Segal took a position as Master of Massey College in the University of Toronto, following a 9 year term as a Senator of Canada. He had previously served as senior fellow at Queen’s School of Policy Studies and as an Adjunct Professor at the Queen’s School of Business. Mr. Segal developed the ability to assess the general application of accounting principles in connection with the accounting for estimates, accruals and reserves as President of a company with $100 million in sales, between 1982 and 1991. Beyond his undergraduate degree and business experience, Mr. Segal studied trade economics at the graduate level and between 1982 and 1991, advised clients on takeovers and merger activity and between 1996 and 1998 he also served on the staff of a major Bay Street investment firm.

William F. Weld joined the board of the Company on April 2, 2012 and became a member of the Audit Committee at such time. In addition to his bachelor’s degree from Harvard College and law degree from Harvard Law School, Mr. Weld holds a diploma (with distinction) in economics and political science from Oxford University. Mr. Weld is currently a Principal with Mintz, Levin, Cohn, Ferris, Glovsky and Popeo, P.C. Prior to October, 2012, Mr. Weld was Of Counsel with the law firm of McDermott Will & Emery LLP. His practice focuses in the areas of government strategies, corporate and legislative investigations, litigation, and legal crisis management. Mr. Weld joined McDermott in 1997 after serving as governor of Massachusetts, where he was elected in 1990 and re-elected in 1994. He served as national co-chair of the Privatization Council and led business and trade missions to many countries in Asia, Europe, Latin America, and Africa. Prior to his election as governor, Mr. Weld was a federal prosecutor for seven years, serving as the Assistant U.S. Attorney General in charge of the Criminal Division of the Justice Department in Washington, D.C., and the U.S. Attorney for Massachusetts during the Reagan administration. In all of these roles, Mr. Weld has had to develop and maintain an understanding and appreciation of finance and accounting principles.

Mr. Sladoje joined the board of the Company on November 6, 2012 and became a member of the Audit Committee on February 6, 2013. Mr. Sladoje was, until 2011, CEO of NASDAQ OMX Commodities Clearing Company and former Chair and CEO to 2010 of North American Energy and Clearing Corporation, both centered in Chicago, Illinois. Mr. Sladoje serves as Principal, Sladoje Consulting, Chicago where he specializes in providing regulatory and compliance consulting to organizations dealing in electricity, gas and equities trading and has provided marketing services to grid operators across the United States including Midwest ISO and ERCOT. This expertise, along with his accounting background as a CPA with a big 8 accounting firm, his experience in working with energy regulators and in risk management and governance qualifies him to serve on the Just Energy board of directors and as a member of the audit committee and chair of the risk committee. He has also served as a director of other companies, including the California Power Exchange, and the United States Power Fund, and has worked with many
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major national regulators including The Commodity Futures Trading Commission, the SEC, FERC and the public utility commissions of several states.

Mr. Perlman is the President of Vector Consultants, LLC of Houston, Texas, a consulting practice which specializes in business strategy, strategic marketing and mergers and acquisitions in the electric utility industry. He previously served as a Commissioner of the Public Utility Commission of Texas (1999-2003) and led the market design and implementation that resulted in the successful restructuring of the Texas wholesale and retail electric utility market. Previous to his public service, he was a consultant with McKinsey and Company (1993-1999) and has practiced law with major firms in Houston and Washington, D.C. He holds advanced degrees in public policy from Harvard University and in law from the University of Texas and was a Phi Beta Kappa graduate of Northwestern University. He has previously served as a director and as an independent strategic advisor to both public and private equity-based companies. Mr. Perlman recently obtained certification as a Governance Fellow from the National Association of Corporate Directors (NACD) in recognition of his commitment to ongoing professional development and training as a Corporate Director.

Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures

Recommendations are made from time to time from management to the Audit Committee for the engagement of all non-audit services. The Audit Committee considers such recommendations for pre-approval at its quarterly meetings or sooner, if necessary providing that where necessary, this function may be delegated to the Chair of the Audit Committee for approval on the basis that the Chair reports all such approvals to the Audit Committee at its next regularly scheduled meeting.

External Auditor Service Fees

Audit and Audit Related Fees

For fiscal 2015, fees charged by Ernst & Young LLP for professional audit services that are normally provided by external auditors in connection with statutory and regulatory filings or engagements as well as for assurance and related services rendered by it that are reasonably related to the performance of the audit or review of the Company's financial statements were $1,229,000 (2014 — $1,224,000).

Tax Fees

Tax fees for professional services rendered by Ernst & Young LLP for tax compliance, tax advice, tax planning and other services were $750,000 (2014 — $347,000).

Total Fees

The aggregate fees billed by Ernst & Young LLP were $2,079,000 (2014 —$1,728,500). No other services were provided to Just Energy and its subsidiaries by Ernst & Young LLP.


31
[image: ]

SCHEDULE "B" - AUDIT COMMITTEE MANDATE

JUST ENERGY GROUP INC.


COMPOSITION

Applicable Canadian corporate and provincial and United States securities legislation, regulation and policies, the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”) and New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) by-laws rules, regulation and policies and applicable provisions of the Securities Act of 1933, the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002 and the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010 to the extent applicable to a foreign private issuer (together “Applicable Legislation”) require that an audit committee (the "Committee") be comprised of a minimum of three directors, each of whom will be financially literate and independent and one of whom shall be a “financial expert” as defined by Applicable Legislation and each of whom shall be independent (as set out in section 303 A.02 of the NYSE Company Manual) and shall not have any material relationship with the Company or any affiliate thereof, i.e., a relationship that could, in the view of the Company’s board of directors (the “Board”) reasonably interfere with the exercise of a member’s independent judgment.

The Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) will appoint the members of the Committee annually at the first meeting of the Board after the annual meeting of shareholders of the Company and shall ensure that the members of the Committee meet the qualifications and other requirements outlined in (a) above under Applicable Legislation.

Committee members will be appointed for a one year term and may be reappointed subject to the discretion of the Board having regard: (i) to Applicable Legislation and, (ii) the desire for continuity and for periodic rotation of Committee members.

One of the members of the Committee who is otherwise qualified under Applicable Legislation and who shall be a financial expert under Applicable Legislation shall be appointed Committee Chair by the Board. The Committee shall appoint a Secretary who shall be the Corporate Secretary of to the Company. Any Committee member, who for any reason, is no longer independent, ceases to be a member of the Committee.

If an audit committee member simultaneously serves on the audit committee of more than 3 public companies, the Board must determine that such simultaneous service will not impair the ability of such member to effectively serve on the Company’s Committee.

2. AUTHORITY

The Board may authorize the Committee to investigate any activity of the Company and any affiliate thereof for which the Committee has responsibility or with respect to those responsibilities imposed on audit committees herein and by Applicable Legislation. All employees are to co-operate as requested by the Committee.

The Committee may, without the approval of management, retain persons having special expertise to assist the Committee in fulfilling its responsibilities, including outside counsel or financial experts and provide for their remuneration.

The external auditor and internal audit shall report to the Committee.

3. MEETINGS

The Committee is to meet at least four times per year preferably immediately following the meeting of the Risk Committee. The meetings will be scheduled to permit the review of the scope of the audit as presented by the Company’s auditor before commencement of the audit and the timely review of the quarterly and annual financial statements and such other annual filings required to be made by the Company and any affiliate thereof containing financial information about the Company and any affiliate thereof including the AIF, MD&A (quarterly and annual), quarterly press releases, reports to Shareholders, the management proxy circular and such other disclosure documents applicable to the Company and any affiliate thereof which contain financial data based upon, derived from or to form part of the financial statements of the Company and contemplated by Applicable Legislation.
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Meetings of the Committee shall be validly constituted if a majority of members of the Committee are present in person or by telephone conference. Additional meetings may be held as deemed necessary by the Committee Chair or as requested by any member or the external auditors or any director of the Company not a member of the Committee.

Any member of the external auditors of the Company is entitled to receive notice of every meeting of the Committee and at the Company's expense, to attend and be heard thereat and, if requested by a member of the Committee, to attend any meeting of the Committee.

The Committee should require the attendance of the Company's auditors at least once each year, and at such other times as the Committee deems appropriate in the context of Applicable Legislation and its responsibilities as outlined below. The Company’s external auditor shall be requested to review and comment on all disclosure documents issued by the Company containing financial statements or information derived therefrom.

The Committee shall meet privately with the external auditor at least quarterly excluding members of management other than the Secretary to the Committee. The Committee shall meet privately with the internal audit staff at least twice yearly excluding other members of management other than the Secretary to the Committee.

4. REPORTING

The minutes of all meetings of the Committee are to be provided to the Board and to the Company’s auditor. Oral reports by the Chair on recent matters not yet minuted will be provided to the Board at its next meeting. Minutes of all Committee meetings will be subsequently reviewed and approved by the Committee.

Supporting schedules and information reviewed by the Committee will be available for examination by any director or the Company’s auditor upon request to the Secretary of the Committee.

RESPONSIBILITIES

The general responsibility of the Committee is to assist the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities with respect to: (i) the integrity of annual and quarterly financial statements to be provided to shareholders and regulatory bodies; (ii) compliance with accounting and finance based legal and regulatory requirements; (iii) the independent auditor’s qualifications and independence; (iv) the system of internal accounting and financial reporting controls that management has established; (v) performance of the internal and external audit process and of the independent auditor; and (vi) to the extent not addressed by the Risk Committee, the implementation and effectiveness of the policies of the Company relating to Risk Management Policy and Procedures, the Policy on Dividends and such other policies of the Company approved from time to time by the Board or the Committee.

· The specific responsibilities of the Committee shall be as follows:

(a) to review the Company's quarterly and annual financial statements and any other financial statements of the Company and its affiliates required to be prepared by Applicable Legislation or otherwise for dissemination to the public, so as to be satisfied they are fairly presented in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and in accordance with Applicable Legislation and to recommend to the Board whether the quarterly and the annual financial statements and any such other financial statements should be approved by the Board;


(b) prior to the dissemination to the public, to review the financial information and financial data contained in the Company's quarterly financial statements, Annual Report to Shareholders and other financial publications of the Company or any affiliate thereof (including the Company's interim and year end management discussions and analysis of financial condition and results of operation, annual information form, proxy information circular, quarterly press releases and material and timely disclosure reports containing any financial data) and the financial information contained in a prospectus and/or registration statement of the Company or any affiliate thereof or other document filed with any regulatory authority so as to be satisfied that the financial information and financial data is not significantly erroneous, misleading or incomplete and contains full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts or as otherwise required by Applicable Legislation and to make recommendations to the Board with respect to all
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such disclosure documents;

(c) to be satisfied that management of the Company and any affiliate thereof have implemented appropriate systems of capture of financial information and internal control over financial reporting and that these are operating effectively under Applicable Legislation and to review all reports prepared by the auditors with respect to the auditors attestation report;

(d) to be satisfied that management of the Company and the Company have implemented appropriate systems of internal control to ensure compliance with Applicable Legislation and ethical requirements and particularly to be satisfied that internal controls over financial reporting and disclosure controls and procedures are in place and that internal controls have been designed and implemented to provide reasonable assurance that the Company’s financial statements and other documents required to be mailed to shareholders or filed with regulatory authorities are fairly presented so as to enable the Chief Financial Officer and the Chief Executive Officer (and any other officer or director of the Company as may be required by Applicable Legislation) to personally certify the Company’s financial statements as required by Applicable Legislation;

(e) to the extent not addressed by the Risk Committee, to be satisfied that management of the Company and each affiliate thereof have implemented effective systems to identify significant financial and other risks of the business and changes to these risks including the implications of risks associated with the Company’s compensation policies and practices under Form 51-12 F6 under National Instrument 51-102. The Committee will review reports from management related to these risks and make recommendations to the Board with respect to a Risk Management Policy;

(f) to recommend to the Board the appointment of external auditors nominated at each annual meeting of shareholders and provide oversight with respect to the external audit engagement. The Committee will also recommend to the Board the re-appointment or appointment of the external auditors and the compensation payable to them. The Committee will pre-approve all non-audit services to be provided to the Company and its affiliates by the Company’s external auditors providing that where necessary, this function may be delegated to the Chair of the Committee for approval on the basis that the Chair reports all such approvals to the Committee at its next regularly scheduled meeting;

(g) to be satisfied that any significant or material matter brought to the attention of the Committee by the Company's external auditors and internal audit or matters where there is significant disagreement between the Company's external auditors and/or internal audit and Company officers (including the resolution or proposed resolution thereof) are communicated to the Board;

(h) to be satisfied that all significant matters raised in any report to management by the external auditors and internal audit are being addressed and dealt with by management in a satisfactory manner and, to the extent they are not, to make a report to the Board;

(i) to be satisfied that the declaration and payment of dividends by any affiliate of the Company to the Company or to any affiliate thereof and the declaration and payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders, meet applicable legal requirements and Applicable Legislation and to make recommendations to the Board with respect thereto;

(j) as and when required by Applicable Legislation or as otherwise required including the laws and regulations in all jurisdictions in which it operates to establish independent procedures (A) for the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints received by the Company or any affiliate thereof regarding accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing matters, and (B) for the confidential communication of anonymous submissions to the Company or any affiliate thereof and a member of the Committee of concerns regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters from employees including the submission of those complaints and concerns by logging into www.justenergy.ethicspoint.com, selecting the Just Energy Group or JEG as the company and following the prompts which are available. This service is interactive and anonymous;

(k) as and when required by Applicable Legislation, to be satisfied that disclosure controls and procedures are in place to ensure that material information required to be disclosed by Applicable Legislation is recorded, processed and summarized and reported within the time periods specified in Applicable Legislation;
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to ensure that the external auditors report annually on matters of independence;

to ensure that the external and internal auditors prepare an external audit plan which, with any changes thereto, is reviewed by and acceptable to the Committee;

to review and approve the hiring policies of the Company and any affiliate thereof regarding partners and employees (past or current) of the present and former external auditors of the Company;

to review semi-annually all expenses relating to consulting and professional services including legal and audit;

to review semi-annually executive business expenses;

to review, analyse and implement all necessary procedures, controls and other similar requirements relating to financial matters arising from proposals to amend or introduce Applicable Legislation and the implementation or promulgation thereof;

once or more annually, as the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee (CGN Committee) decides, to receive for consideration that Committee’s evaluation of this Mandate and any recommended changes. Review and assess the CGN Committee’s recommended changes and make recommendations to the Board for consideration.

to carry out any other appropriate duties and responsibilities assigned to the Committee by the Board;

to honour the spirit and intent of Applicable Legislation as it evolves, authority to make minor technical amendments to this Mandate is delegated to the Corporate Secretary, who will report any amendments to the CGN Committee at its next meeting;

to ensure that the Terms of Reference for the Committee are published on the Company’s website; and

to discuss the Company’s major financial risk exposure and the steps management has taken to monitor and control such exposures and to ensure that the mandate for the Risk Committee addresses each of these matters.

· The Chair of the CGN Committee, in consultation with the Chair of the Committee, will periodically review the effectiveness of the Committee and the performance of each Committee member and report to the Board on their conclusions.

(Approved as amended by the Board of Directors of the Company on February 9, 2012)
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SCHEDULE “C” – GLOSSARY

All capitalized terms not otherwise defined in the body of this Annual Information Form, shall have the meanings ascribed to them below.

"$90 Million Convertible Debentures" means the $90 million aggregate principal amount of 6.0% convertible unsecured subordinated debentures of the Company issued on October 2, 2007 pursuant to the $90 Million Debenture Indenture.

"90 Million Debenture Indenture" means the trust indenture dated as of October 2, 2007 between Universal and Computershare, as amended and supplemented pursuant to a First Supplemental Trust Indenture dated as of July 1, 2009 between JEEC (as successor to Universal) and Computershare and pursuant to a Second Supplemental Trust Indenture dated as of January 1, 2011 between the Company (as successor to JEEC) and Computershare.

"$100 Million Convertible Debentures" means the $100 million aggregate principal amount of 5.75% extendible unsecured subordinated debentures of the Company issued on September 22, 2011 pursuant to the $100 Million Supplemental Debenture Indenture.

"100 Million Supplemental Indenture" means the supplemental indenture dated as of September 22, 2011 between the Company and Computershare, supplementing the $330 Million Debenture Indenture.

"$105 Million Note Indenture" means the trust indenture dated as of December 12, 2012 between Just Energy and Computershare.

"$105 Million Note" means the $105 million aggregate principal amount of the 9.75% note issued to CPPIB Credit Investments Inc. on December 12, 2012 pursuant to the $105 Million Note Indenture.

“$150 Million Convertible Bonds” means the $150 million aggregate principal amount of the 6.5% convertible bonds issued on January 29, 2014 pursuant to the $150 Million Convertible Bonds Trust Deed.

“$150 Million Convertible Bonds Trust Deed” means the trust deed dated as of January 29, 2014 between the Company, US Bank Trustees Limited and Elavon Financial Services Limited, UK Branch.

"$330 Million Convertible Debentures" means the $330 million aggregate principal amount of 6.0% extendible unsecured subordinated debentures of the Company issued on May 5, 2010 pursuant to the $330 Million Debenture Indenture.

"$330 Million Debenture Indenture" means the trust indenture dated as of May 5, 2010 between the Fund and Computershare, as amended and supplemented pursuant to a First Supplemental Trust Indenture dated as of January 1, 2011 between the Company (as successor to the Fund) and Computershare.

"Board" and "Board of Directors" means the board of directors of the Company.

"BP" means collectively BP Energy Company, BP Canada Energy Marketing Corp., BP Canada Energy Group ULC and BP Corporation North America Inc.

and any other related affiliate with which Just Energy contracts.

"Bruce Power" means Bruce Power L.P.

"CBCA" means the Canada Business Corporations Act, as amended from time to time, including the regulations promulgated thereunder.

"CIBC" means Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce, a Canadian chartered bank.

"CDS" means The Canadian Depository for Securities Limited.

"Commodity Suppliers" means Gas Suppliers and Electricity Suppliers.
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"Common Shares" means the common shares in the capital of the Company.

“Company” means Just Energy Group Inc., a corporation created by a certificate of arrangement issued under the CBCA on January 1, 2011.

“Computershare” means Computershare Trust Company of Canada.

“CPF” means Clean Power Finance, Inc., a Delaware corporation.

"Declaration of Trust" means the amended and restated declaration of trust for the Fund dated April 30, 2001 as amended and restated from time to time and terminated on December 31, 2010.

"DSGs" means deferred share grants (formerly DUGs – deferred unit grants), issued to Directors pursuant to the DSG Plan as a component of compensation paid to Directors in lieu of fees payable in cash and which are exchangeable into Common Shares on a 1:1 basis.

"DSG Plan" means the 2010 Directors’ Compensation Plan (formerly the Directors Deferred Unit Grant Plan) of the Company as amended from time to time.

"Electricity Supplier" means a person who is an electricity producer or an electricity supply aggregator.

"Energy Contracts" means customer Gas Contracts and Electricity Contracts.

"Exchangeable Shares" means exchangeable shares, series 1 in the capital of JEEC.

"Exelon" means Exelon Generation Company, LLC. or any other related affiliate with which Just Energy contracts.

"Financial Statements" means the audited comparative consolidated financial statements of the Company as at and for the years ended March 31, 2015 and 2014, together with the notes thereto and the auditor's report thereon.

"Fund" means Just Energy Income Fund, a trust established under the laws of the Province of Ontario on April 30, 2001, governed by the Declaration of Trust and wound up on December 31, 2010.

"Gas Supplier" means a person who is a natural gas producer or natural gas supply aggregator.

"Independent Broker" means a person who serves in the capacity of an independent broker to solicit Energy Contracts using among other things, a web based sales portal to small to mid-size commercial and small industrial customers primarily associated with Hudson.

"Independent Contractor" means a person who serves in the capacity of an independent contractor to solicit (i) Energy Contracts (including JustGreen and JustClean products), to residential and small commercial customers, (ii) contracts for the rental of water heaters, furnaces, and air conditioners.

"Information Circular" means the management information circular of the Company dated May 25, 2015 in respect of the annual meeting of shareholders of the Company to be held on June 25, 2015.

"Intercreditor Agreement" means the fifth amended and restated intercreditor agreement made as of October 2, 2013 between the Company, certain of the Company’s Subsidiaries, CIBC, as Collateral Agent, Shell, BP, Exelon, Société Générale and Bruce Power, EDF Trading North America, LLC National Bank of Canada and The Bank of Nova Scotia, as amended and supplemented from time to time.

"JEC" means Just Energy Corp., a corporation incorporated under the laws of Ontario and the former administrator of the Fund.

"JEEC" means Just Energy Exchange Corp., a corporation created by amalgamation under the CBCA on July 1, 2009 that amalgamated with, among others, the Company pursuant to the Trust Conversion, on January 1, 2011.
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"Just Energy" means all or any one or more of the Company and the Subsidiaries thereof as the context implies or may require.

"LDC" means local distribution company, the natural gas or electricity distributor for a geographic franchise area.

"National Home Services" means National Energy Corporation, a corporation incorporated under the laws of Ontario, doing business as National Home Services.

“NYSE” means the New York Stock Exchange.

"person" includes any individual, firm, partnership, joint venture, venture capital fund, association, trust, trustee, executor, administrator, legal personal representative, estate, group, body corporate, corporate, unincorporated association or organization, governmental entity, syndicate or other entity, whether or not having legal status.

“Preferred Shares” means the preferred shares of the Company.

"RCE" means a residential customer equivalent which is a unit of measurement equivalent to a customer using, as regards natural gas, 2,815 m3 (or 106 GJ's) of natural gas on an annual basis and, as regards electricity, 10,000 kWh of electricity on an annual basis, which represents respectively the approximate amount of gas and electricity used by a typical household in Ontario.

“PBGs” means the performance bonus grants of the Company granted pursuant to the Company’s 2013 Performance Bonus Incentive Plan, as amended from time to time.

"RSGs " means restricted share grants of the Company granted pursuant to the Company’s 2010 Restricted Share Grant Plan, as amended from time to time (formerly known as unit appreciation rights (UARs) of the Fund granted pursuant to the Fund’s 2004 Unit Appreciation Right Plan, as amended from time to time).

"Shareholders" means the holders from time to time of Common Shares and/or Preferred Shares, and includes the beneficial owners of such shares.

"Shell" means Shell Energy North America (Canada) Inc., Shell Energy North America (U.S.) L.P., and any other related affiliate with which Just Energy contracts.

"Subsidiary" has the meaning ascribed thereto in the CBCA and includes all limited partnerships directly or indirectly controlled by the Company.

"TGF " means Terra Grain Fuels Inc., a corporation amalgamated under the CBCA.

"TSX" means the Toronto Stock Exchange.

"Universal " means Universal Energy Group Ltd., a corporation incorporated under the CBCA and amalgamated with JEEC on July 1, 2009.

Words importing the singular include the plural and vice versa and words importing any gender include all genders.

Unless otherwise stated, all dollar amounts herein are in Canadian dollars.
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Exhibit 1.2

Management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) – May 13, 2015

Overview

The following discussion and analysis is a review of the financial condition and results of operations of Just Energy Group Inc. (“JE” or “Just Energy” or the “Company”) for the year ended March 31, 2015, and has been prepared with all information available up to and including May 13, 2015. This analysis should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended March 31, 2015. The financial information contained herein has been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). All dollar amounts are expressed in Canadian dollars. Quarterly reports, the annual report and supplementary information can be found on Just Energy’s corporate website at www.justenergygroup.com. Additional information can be found on SEDAR at www.sedar.com or at the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission’s website at www.sec.gov.

Just Energy is a corporation established under the laws of Canada and holds securities and distributes the income of its directly and indirectly owned operating subsidiaries and affiliates. Just Energy is an energy management solutions provider specializing in electricity, natural gas, solar and green energy. The company operates in the United States, Canada and the United Kingdom, offering a wide range of energy products and home energy management services including long-term fixed-price, variable price, and flat bill programs, smart thermostats, and residential solar panel installations. Just Energy is the parent company of Amigo Energy, Commerce Energy, Green Star Energy, Hudson Energy, Tara Energy and TerraPass.

By fixing the price of natural gas and electricity under its fixed-price or price-protected program contracts for a period of up to five years, Just Energy offsets its customers’ exposure to changes in the price of these essential commodities. Variable rate products allow customers to maintain competitive rates while retaining the ability to lock into a fixed price at their discretion. Just Energy derives its margin or gross profit from the difference between the price at which it is able to sell the commodities to its customers and the related price at which it purchases the associated volumes from its suppliers.

Just Energy also offers green products through its JustGreen program and conservation solutions through smart thermostats. The JustGreen electricity product offers customers the option of having all or a portion of their electricity sourced from renewable green sources such as wind, run of the river hydro or biomass. The JustGreen gas product offers carbon offset credits that allow customers to reduce or eliminate the carbon footprint of their homes or businesses. Additional green products allow customers to offset their carbon footprint without buying energy commodity products and can be offered in all states and provinces without being dependent on energy deregulation.

Smart thermostats are offered as a bundled product with commodity contracts as well as a stand-alone unit. The smart thermostats are manufactured and distributed by ecobee Inc. (“ecobee”), a company in which Just Energy holds a 10% equity interest.

Just Energy markets its product offerings through a number of sales channels including door-to-door marketing, broker and affinity relationships, and online marketing. The online marketing of gas and electricity contracts is primarily conducted through Just Ventures LLC and Just Ventures L.P. (collectively, “Just Ventures”), a joint venture in which Just Energy holds a 50% equity interest.

Included in this MD&A is an analysis of the above operations. On November 5, 2014, Just Energy announced that it had closed the sale of Hudson Energy Solar Corp. and its subsidiaries (“HES”). The sale of National Energy Corporation, operating as National Home Services (“NHS”) closed on November 24, 2014. Both the commercial solar and home services divisions were classified as discontinued operations with the financial results from operations for prior periods restated to reflect results from continuing and discontinued operations for comparative purposes.

On January 12, 2015, Just Energy announced an agreement with Clean Power Finance (“CPF”) to address the U.S. residential solar market. This agreement unites Just Energy’s strengths in customer
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acquisitions and experience with CPF solar finance and fulfillment capabilities. CPF’s online platform allows Just Energy to sell residential solar finance products and connects the company with a national network of qualified solar installation professionals. Under the agreement, Just Energy will act as an originator of residential solar deals that are financed and installed via CPF. Just Energy will also be able to sell complementary energy management solutions to solar customers.

Forward-looking information

This MD&A contains certain forward-looking information pertaining to customer additions and renewals, customer consumption levels, EBITDA, Base EBITDA, Funds from Operations, Base Funds from Operations and treatment under governmental regulatory regimes. These statements are based on current expectations that involve a number of risks and uncertainties, which could cause actual results to differ from those anticipated. These risks include, but are not limited to, levels of customer natural gas and electricity consumption, extreme weather conditions, rates of customer additions and renewals, customer attrition, fluctuations in natural gas and electricity prices, changes in regulatory regimes, decisions by regulatory authorities, competition, the results of litigation, and dependence on certain suppliers. Additional information on these and other factors that could affect Just Energy’s operations, financial results or dividend levels are included in the Annual Information Form and other reports on file with security regulatory authorities, which can be accessed on our corporate website at www.justenergygroup.com, or through the SEDAR website at www.sedar.com or at the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission’s website at www.sec.gov.

Key terms

“$100m convertible debentures” refers to the $100 million in convertible debentures issued by the Company to finance the purchase of Fulcrum Retail Holdings, LLC, effective October 1, 2011. See “Debt and financing for continuing operations” on page 25 for further details.

“$330m convertible debentures” refers to the $330 million in convertible debentures issued by Just Energy to finance the purchase of Hudson Energy Services, LLC, effective May 1, 2010. See “Debt and financing for continuing operations” on page 25 for further details.

“$150m convertible bonds” refers to the US$150 million in convertible bonds issued in January 2014. Net proceeds were used to redeem Just Energy’s outstanding $90 million convertible debentures on March 19, 2014 and pay down Just Energy’s line of credit. See “Debt and financing for continuing operations” on page 25 for further details.

“attrition” means customers whose contracts were terminated prior to the end of the term either at the option of the customer or by Just Energy.

“customer” does not refer to an individual customer but instead to an RCE (see key term below).

“failed to renew” means customers who did not renew expiring contracts at the end of their term.

“gross margin per RCE” refers to the energy gross margin realized on Just Energy’s customer base, including gains/losses from the sale of excess commodity supply.

“LDC” means a local distribution company; the natural gas or electricity distributor for a regulatory or governmentally defined geographic area.

“RCE” means residential customer equivalent, which is a unit of measurement equivalent to a customer using, as regards natural gas, 2,815 m3 (or 106 GJs or 1,000 Therms or 1,025 CCFs) of natural gas on an annual basis and, as regards electricity, 10 MWh (or 10,000 kWh) of electricity on an annual basis, which represents the approximate amount of gas and electricity, respectively, used by a typical household in Ontario, Canada.

NON-IFRS FINANCIAL MEASURES

Just Energy’s consolidated financial statements are prepared in compliance with IFRS. All non-IFRS financial measures do not have standardized meanings prescribed by IFRS and are therefore unlikely to be comparable to similar measures presented by other issuers.



2
[image: ]

EBITDA

“EBITDA” refers to earnings before finance costs, taxes, depreciation and amortization. This is a non-IFRS measure that reflects the pre-tax profitability of the business.

BASE EBITDA

“Base EBITDA” refers to EBITDA adjusted to exclude the impact of mark to market gains (losses) arising from IFRS requirements for derivative financial instruments on future supply positions as well as reflecting an adjustment for share-based compensation. This measure reflects operational profitability as the non-cash share-based compensation expense is treated as an equity issuance for the purpose of this calculation, as it will be settled in shares and the mark to market gains (losses) are associated with supply already sold in the future at fixed prices.

Just Energy ensures that customer margins are protected by entering into fixed-price supply contracts. Under current IFRS, the customer contracts are not marked to market but there is a requirement to mark to market the future supply contracts. This creates unrealized gains (losses) depending upon current supply pricing. Management believes that these short-term mark to market non-cash gains (losses) do not impact the long-term financial performance of Just Energy and management has therefore excluded it from the Base EBITDA calculation.

FUNDS FROM OPERATIONS

“Funds from Operations” refers to the cash flow generated by operations. Funds from Operations is calculated by Just Energy as gross margin adjusted for cash items including administrative expenses, selling and marketing expenses, bad debt expenses, finance costs, corporate taxes, capital taxes and other cash items. Funds from Operations also includes a seasonal adjustment for the gas markets in Ontario, Quebec, Manitoba and Michigan in order to include cash received from LDCs for gas not yet consumed by end customers.

BASE FUNDS FROM OPERATIONS/BASE FFO

“Base Funds from Operations” or “Base FFO” refers to the Funds from Operations reduced by capital expenditures purchased to maintain productive capacity. Capital expenditures to maintain productive capacity represent the capital spend relating to capital assets and a portion of investment relating to contract initiation costs.

BASE FUNDS FROM OPERATIONS PAYOUT RATIO

The payout radio for Base Funds from Operations means dividends declared and paid as a percentage of Base Funds from Operations.

EMBEDDED GROSS MARGIN

“Embedded gross margin” is a rolling five-year measure of management’s estimate of future contracted energy gross margin. The energy marketing embedded gross margin is the difference between existing energy customer contract prices and the cost of supply for the remainder of the term, with appropriate assumptions for customer attrition and renewals. It is assumed that expiring contracts will be renewed at target margin renewal rates.

Embedded gross margin indicates the margin expected to be realized from existing customers. It is intended only as a directional measure for future gross margin. It is not discounted to present value nor is it intended to take into account administrative and other costs necessary to realize this margin.
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Financial highlights

For the years ended March 31
(thousands of dollars, except where indicated and per share amounts)

	
	Fiscal 2015
	
	
	Fiscal 2014
	
	
	Fiscal 2013
	

	
	
	% increase
	
	
	% increase
	
	
	

	
	
	(decrease)
	
	
	(decrease)
	
	
	

	Sales
	$  3,895,940
	10%
	$
	3,534,614
	20%
	$
	2,957,647
	

	Gross margin
	600,069
	19%
	
	505,531
	5%
	
	482,168
	

	Administrative expenses
	154,222
	32%
	
	116,713
	(1)%
	118,136
	

	Selling and marketing expenses
	225,243
	19%
	
	189,890
	(12)%
	215,328
	

	Finance costs
	73,680
	6%
	
	69,441
	19%
	
	58,154
	

	Profit (loss) from continuing operations 1
	(576,377)
	NMF3
	
	170,566
	NMF 3
	
	629,714
	

	Profit (loss) from discontinued operations
	132,673
	NMF3
	
	(33,625)
	NMF 3
	
	(105,091)
	

	Profit (loss)1
	(443,704)
	NMF3
	
	136,941
	NMF 3
	
	524,623
	

	Profit (loss) per share from continuing operations
	(4.01)
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	available to shareholders - basic
	
	
	
	1.15
	
	
	4.54
	

	Profit (loss) per share from continuing operations
	(4.01)
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	available to shareholders - diluted
	
	
	
	1.11
	
	
	3.79
	

	Dividends/distributions
	86,723
	(30)%
	
	123,429
	(31)%
	178,400
	

	Base EBITDA from continuing operations2
	180,426
	8%
	
	167,663
	18%
	
	142,481
	

	Base Funds from continuing operations2
	92,472
	4%
	
	88,577
	10%
	
	80,810
	

	Payout ratio on Base Funds from continuing
	94%
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	operations2
	
	
	
	139%
	
	
	221%
	

	Embedded gross margin2
	1,874,900
	9%
	
	1,718,900
	4%
	
	1,654,400
	

	Total customers (RCEs)
	4,686,000
	6%
	
	4,410,000
	4%
	
	4,222,000
	


[image: ]
1Profit (loss) includes the impact of unrealized gains (losses), which represents the mark to market of future commodity supply acquired to cover future customer demand. The supply has been sold to customers at fixed prices, minimizing any realizable impact of mark to market gains and losses.
2See “Non-IFRS financial measures” on page 2.

3Not a meaningful figure.

Continuing operations

CONSUMER DIVISION

The sale of gas and electricity to customers with annual consumption equivalent to 15 RCEs and less is undertaken by the Consumer division. Marketing of the energy products of this division is primarily done door-to-door through independent contractors, online marketing and telemarketing efforts. Consumer customers make up 42% of Just Energy’s customer base, which is currently focused on longer-term price-protected and variable rate offerings of commodity products as well as JustGreen. To the extent that certain markets are better served by shorter-term or enhanced variable rate products, the Consumer division’s sales channels also offer these products. In addition, the Consumer division markets smart thermostats, offering the thermostats as a standalone unit or bundled with certain commodity products.

COMMERCIAL DIVISION

Customers with annual consumption over 15 RCEs are served by the Commercial division. These sales are made through three main channels: sales through the broker channel using the commercial platform; door-to-door commercial independent contractors; and inside commercial
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sales representatives. Commercial customers make up 58% of Just Energy’s customer base. Products offered to commercial customers can range from standard fixed-price offerings to “one off” offerings, which are tailored to meet the customer’s specific needs. These products can be either fixed or floating rate or a blend of the two, and normally have terms of less than five years. Gross margin per RCE for this division is lower than Consumer margins but customer aggregation costs and ongoing customer care costs per RCE are lower as well. Commercial customers have significantly lower attrition rates than those of Consumer customers.

ABOUT THE ENERGY MARKETS

NATURAL GAS

Just Energy offers natural gas customers a variety of products ranging from month-to-month variable-price offerings to five-year fixed-price contracts. For fixed-price contracts, Just Energy purchases gas supply through physical or financial transactions with market counterparts in advance of marketing, based on forecast customer aggregation for residential and small Commercial customers. For larger Commercial customers, gas supply is generally purchased concurrently with the execution of a contract. Variable rate products allow customers to maintain competitive rates while retaining the ability to lock into a fixed price at their discretion.

The LDC provides historical customer usage which, when normalized to average weather, enables Just Energy to purchase the expected normal customer load. Furthermore, Just Energy mitigates exposure to weather variations through active management of the gas portfolio, which involves, but is not limited to, the purchase of options including weather derivatives. Just Energy’s ability to successfully mitigate weather effects is limited by the degree to which weather conditions deviate from normal. To the extent that balancing requirements are outside the forecast purchase, Just Energy bears the financial responsibility for fluctuations in customer usage. To the extent that supply balancing is not fully covered through active management or the options employed, Just Energy’s realized customer gross margin may be reduced or increased depending upon market conditions at the time of balancing.

Ontario, Quebec, Manitoba and Michigan

In Ontario, Quebec, Manitoba and Michigan, the volumes delivered for a customer typically remain constant throughout the year. Just Energy does not recognize sales until the customer actually consumes the gas. During the winter months, gas is consumed at a rate that is greater than delivery and, in the summer months, deliveries to LDCs exceed customer consumption. Just Energy receives cash from the LDCs as the gas is delivered, which is even throughout the year.

Alberta

In Alberta, the volume of gas delivered is based on the estimated consumption for each month. Therefore, the amount of gas delivered in winter months is higher than in the spring and summer months. Consequently, cash received from customers and the LDC will be higher in the winter months.

Other gas markets

In New York, Illinois, Indiana, Ohio, California, Georgia, New Jersey, Pennsylvania, British Columbia, Saskatchewan and the United Kingdom, the volume of gas delivered is based on the estimated consumption and storage requirements for each month. Therefore, the amount of gas delivered in winter months is higher than in the spring and summer months. Consequently, cash flow received from these states/provinces is greatest during the third and fourth (winter) quarters, as cash is normally received from the LDCs in the same period as customer consumption.

ELECTRICITY

In Ontario, Alberta, New York, Texas, Illinois, Pennsylvania, New Jersey, Maryland, Michigan, California, Ohio, Delaware, Massachusetts and the United Kingdom, Just Energy offers a variety of solutions to its electricity customers, including fixed-price and variable-price products on both short-term and longer-term electricity contracts. Some of these products provide customers with price-protection programs for the majority of their electricity requirements. Just Energy uses
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historical usage data for all enrolled customers to predict future customer consumption and to help with long-term supply procurement decisions.

Just Energy purchases power supply through physical or financial transactions with market counterparties in advance of marketing to residential and small Commercial customers based on forecast customer aggregation. Power supply is generally purchased concurrently with the execution of a contract for larger Commercial customers. The LDC provides historical customer usage, which, when normalized to average weather, enables Just Energy to purchase the expected normal customer load. Furthermore, Just Energy mitigates exposure to weather variations through active management of the power portfolio, which involves, but is not limited to the purchase of options including weather derivatives.

The Company’s ability to successfully mitigate weather effects is limited by the degree to which weather conditions deviate from normal. In certain markets, to the extent that balancing requirements are outside the forecast purchase, Just Energy bears the financial responsibility for excess or short supply caused by fluctuations in customer usage. To the extent that supply balancing is not fully covered through customer pass-throughs or active management or the options employed, Just Energy’s customer gross margin may be impacted depending upon market conditions at the time of balancing.

JUSTGREEN

Customers also have the ability to choose an appropriate JustGreen program to supplement their electricity and natural gas contracts, providing an effective method to offset their carbon footprint associated with the respective commodity consumption.

JustGreen programs for electricity customers involve the purchase of power from green generators (such as wind, solar, run of the river hydro or biomass) via power purchase agreements and renewable energy certificates. JustGreen programs for gas customers involve the purchase of carbon offsets from carbon capture and reduction projects.

The Company currently sells JustGreen gas in the eligible markets of Ontario, British Columbia, Alberta, Saskatchewan, Michigan, New York, Ohio, Illinois, New Jersey, Maryland, Pennsylvania and California. JustGreen electricity is sold in Ontario, Alberta, New York, Texas, Maryland, Massachusetts, Ohio and Pennsylvania. Of all Consumer customers who contracted with Just Energy in the past year, 31% took JustGreen for some or all of their energy needs. On average, these customers elected to purchase 89% of their consumption as green supply. For comparison, as reported in fiscal 2014, 29% of Consumer customers who contracted with Just Energy chose to include JustGreen for an average of 84% of their consumption. Overall, JustGreen now makes up 12% of the Consumer gas portfolio, compared with 11% a year ago. JustGreen makes up 20% of the Consumer electricity portfolio, down from 21% a year ago.

Discontinued operations

HOME SERVICES DIVISION

On November 24, 2014, Just Energy announced that it had closed the sale of NHS to Reliance Comfort Limited Partnership (“Reliance”). NHS operates in Ontario and Quebec and provides residential customers with a long-term water heater, furnace and air conditioning rental, offering high efficiency conventional and power vented tank and tankless water heaters and high efficiency furnaces and air conditioners. The purchase price was $505 million subject to certain potential adjustments including working capital balances. Additionally, as a condition of closing, proceeds from the purchase were used to pay the outstanding NHS debt and the remaining interest in a royalty agreement.

COMMERCIAL SOLAR DIVISION

On November 5, 2014, Just Energy announced that the close of the sale of its shares of HES, its commercial solar development business, to SunEdison Inc. and its subsidiary, TerraForm Power Inc. The sale of HES resulted in the assumption or repayment by the purchaser of approximately
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US$33 million in outstanding debt plus the payment of approximately US$23 million cash at closing subject to working capital and other adjustments.

EBITDA

For the year ended March 31
(thousands of dollars)

	Reconciliation to consolidated statements of income (loss)
	
	Fiscal 2015
	
	Fiscal 2014
	
	Fiscal 2013
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Profit (loss) for the period from continuing operations
	$
	(576,377)
	$
	170,566
	$
	629,714
	

	Add (subtract):
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Finance costs
	
	73,680
	
	69,441
	
	58,154
	

	
	Provision for (recovery of) income taxes
	
	(28,889)
	
	48,190
	
	55,362
	

	
	Amortization
	
	76,040
	
	69,469
	
	102,723
	

	Profit attributable to non-controlling interest
	
	(6,352)
	
	(5,459)
	
	5,685
	

	
	EBITDA from continuing operations
	$
	(461,898)
	$
	352,207
	$
	851,638
	

	Add:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Change in fair value of derivative instruments
	
	635,204
	
	(186,142)
	
	(719,750)
	

	Share-based compensation
	
	7,120
	
	1,598
	
	10,593
	

	
	Base EBITDA from continuing operations
	$
	180,426
	$
	167,663
	$
	142,481
	

	
	EBITDA
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Gross margin per consolidated financial statements
	$
	600,069
	$
	505,531
	$
	482,168
	

	Add (subtract):
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Administrative expenses
	
	(154,222)
	
	(116,713)
	
	(118,136)
	

	
	Selling and marketing expenses
	
	(225,243)
	
	(189,890)
	
	(215,328)
	

	
	Bad debt expense
	
	(62,077)
	
	(46,051)
	
	(30,806)
	

	
	Amortization included in cost of sales/selling and marketing expenses
	
	30,647
	
	17,324
	
	14,893
	

	
	Other income
	
	(2,396)
	
	2,921
	
	4,005
	

	Profit attributable to non-controlling interest
	
	(6,352)
	
	(5,459)
	
	5,685
	

	
	Base EBITDA from continuing operations
	$
	180,426
	$
	167,663
	$
	142,481
	



The year ended March 31, 2015 saw significant improvement in all operating measures. Sales increased by 10% reflecting a 6% growth in customer base and higher U.S. selling prices after currency conversion to Canadian dollars. Gross margin was up 19% due to higher sales and higher realized margin per customer compared with fiscal 2014 which was adversely impacted by the Polar Vortex of the previous winter. Base EBITDA from continuing operations (“Base EBITDA”) amounted to $180.4 million, an increase of 8% from $167.7 million in the prior year. Management had provided guidance of $163.0 million to $173.0 million of Base EBITDA for fiscal 2015 and updated that guidance to the upper end of that range following the third quarter. Actual results exceeded the upper end of the range by $7.4 million based on strong fourth quarter results offsetting higher than anticipated operating costs, which included significant one-time costs associated with legal and regulatory expenses.

Administrative expenses increased by 32% from $116.7 million to $154.2 million. The increase over the prior year included growth in operating costs needed to support the growing customer base, higher exchange rates on U.S. dollar denominated administrative costs and an increase in bonus accruals. Higher administrative costs were anticipated within the Company’s fiscal 2015 guidance. However, over and above guidance expectations, Just Energy recorded additional legal and regulatory expenses in the amount of $14.5 million, including a settlement reached with the Massachusetts Attorney General’s Office (“AGO”).
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Selling and marketing expenses for the year ended March 31, 2015 were $225.2 million, a 19% increase from $189.9 million reported in the prior comparable year. While customer additions were increased by 5% year over year to a record 1.4 million, the increase in selling and marketing expense is becoming more directly correlated to the growing portion of the customer base for which selling costs are recorded over the life of the contract (Commercial broker and online sales channels). The amortization of contract initiation costs for commercial customer aggregation in past periods increased by $12.4 million while residual commissions from customers signed through the Company’s online sales channel increased by $16.4 million in fiscal 2015. Excluding these increases, selling and marketing costs would have been up 3%, in line with the growth in additions.

Bad debt expense was $62.1 million for the year ended March 31, 2015, an increase of 35% from $46.1 million recorded for the prior comparable year. This represents approximately 2.4% of revenue in the jurisdictions where the Company bears the credit risk, up from the 2.1% of revenue reported for the year ended March 31, 2014, both within management’s targeted range of 2% to 3%. Higher losses in fiscal 2015 were attributable to customer defaults from Polar Vortex bills which were far higher than those seen in the past winters.

For the year ended March 31, 2013, gross margin was $482.2 million for the year, an increase of 2% over the prior year due to the 9% increase in customer base being offset by lower consumption resulting from warmer than normal winter weather in the third and fourth quarters. Administrative, selling and marketing and bad debt expenses amounted to $118.1 million, $215.3 million and $30.8 million, respectively. For fiscal 2013, Base EBITDA from continuing operations amounted to $142.5 million, a decrease of 19% from the prior year, as a result of lower than expected gross margin being offset by higher operating expenditures.

For more information on the changes in the results from operations, please refer to “Gross margin” on page 18 and “Administrative expenses”, “Selling and marketing expenses”, “Bad debt expense” and “Finance costs”, which are further clarified on pages 19 through 21.


EMBEDDED GROSS MARGIN

Management's estimate of the future embedded gross margin is as follows:

	
	Fiscal
	
	2015 vs.
	
	2014 vs.
	

	
	
	Fiscal
	2014
	Fiscal
	2013
	

	(millions of dollars)
	2015
	2014
	variance
	2013
	variance
	

	Energy marketing
	$1,874.9
	$1,718.9
	9%
	$1,654.4
	4%
	
	



Management’s estimate of the embedded gross margin within its customer contracts amounted to $1,874.9 million as of March 31, 2015, an increase of 9% compared to embedded gross margin as of March 31, 2014. Higher number of customers and the strengthening of the U.S. dollar against the Canadian dollar during the year were offset somewhat by more conservative contract margin assumptions in the coming five years.

Embedded gross margin indicates the margin expected to be realized over the next five years from existing customers. It is intended only as a directional measure for future gross margin. It is not discounted to present value nor is it intended to take into account administrative and other costs necessary to realize this margin. As our mix of customers continues to reflect a higher proportion of Commercial volume the embedded gross margin may, depending on currency rates grow at a slower pace than customer growth; however, the underlying costs necessary to realize this margin will also decline.

In fiscal 2014, embedded gross margin increased by 4% to $1,718.9 million. The embedded gross margin for Energy marketing increased 4% due to a 9% increase in customer base, the majority of which were commercial customers which generate lower gross margin.
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Funds from Operations

For the years ended March 31
(thousands of dollars)

	
	
	Fiscal 2015
	
	Fiscal 2014
	
	Fiscal 2013
	

	
	Cash inflow from continuing operations
	$
	96,212
	$
	165,398
	$
	93,510
	

	Add (subtract):
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Changes in non-cash working capital
	
	44,458
	
	(45,765)
	
	5,481
	

	
	Cash flows used in operating activities of discontinued operations
	
	(20,902)
	
	(6,652)
	
	(18,127)
	

	
	Losses attributable to non-controlling interest
	
	(6,352)
	
	(5,459)
	
	5,685
	

	Tax adjustment
	
	(2,845)
	
	(4,815)
	
	1,178
	

	
	Funds from continuing operations
	$
	110,571
	$
	102,707
	$
	87,727
	

	Less: maintenance capital expenditures
	
	(18,099)
	
	(14,130)
	
	(6,917)
	

	
	Base Funds from continuing operations
	$
	92,472
	$
	88,577
	$
	80,810
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Base Funds from continuing operations
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Gross margin from consolidated financial statements
	$
	600,069
	$
	505,531
	$
	482,168
	

	
	Add (subtract):
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Adjustment required to reflect net cash receipts from gas sales
	
	(2,698)
	
	(6,186)
	
	(4,536)
	

	
	Administrative expenses
	
	(154,222)
	
	(116,713)
	
	(118,136)
	

	
	Selling and marketing expenses
	
	(225,243)
	
	(189,890)
	
	(215,328)
	

	
	Bad debt expense
	
	(62,077)
	
	(46,051)
	
	(30,806)
	

	
	Current income tax provision
	
	(8,859)
	
	(3,358)
	
	(2,060)
	

	
	Amortization included in cost of sales/selling and marketing expenses
	
	30,647
	
	17,324
	
	14,896
	

	
	Other income
	
	(2,396)
	
	2,921
	
	4,005
	

	
	Financing charges, non-cash
	
	15,609
	
	14,271
	
	10,534
	

	
	Finance costs
	
	(73,680)
	
	(69,441)
	
	(58,154)
	

	
	Other non-cash adjustments
	
	(6,579)
	
	(5,701)
	
	5,144
	

	
	Funds from continuing operations
	
	110,571
	$
	102,707
	$
	87,727
	

	
	Less: maintenance capital expenditures
	
	(18,099)
	
	(14,130)
	
	(6,917)
	

	
	Base Funds from continuing operations
	$
	92,472
	$
	88,577
	$
	80,810
	

	
	Base Funds from continuing operations payout ratio
	
	94%
	
	139%
	
	221%
	

	
	Dividends/distributions
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Dividends
	$
	84,945
	$
	120,142
	$
	173,646
	

	Distributions for share-based awards
	
	1,778
	
	3,287
	
	4,754
	

	
	Total dividends/distributions
	$
	86,723
	$
	123,429
	$
	178,400
	



Base Funds from continuing operations (“Base FFO”) for the year ended March 31, 2015 were $92.5 million, an increase of 4% compared with Base FFO of $88.6 million for the year ended March 31, 2014. The increase in Base FFO was lower than the increase in Base EBITDA as the increase of $12.8 million for EBITDA was offset by a $5.5 million increase in cash taxes due to stronger operating results and $3.0 million owing from the completion of prior period audits. A $2.9 million increase in cash-based finance costs (interest) also reduced the year over year Base FFO increase. The $178.5 million net proceeds from the closing of the NHS sale were received on November 24, 2014 and were used to reduce debt.
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Dividends and distributions for the year ended March 31, 2015 were $86.7 million, a decrease of 30% from the prior fiscal year as a result of a reduction in the annual dividend from $ 0.84 to $0.50 effective with the July 2014 dividend. The payout ratio on Base Funds from continuing operations was 94% for the year ended March 31, 2015, compared to 139% reported in fiscal 2014. The pro forma payout ratio based on the $0.50 dividend rate would have been 81% for fiscal 2015.


Selected consolidated financial data from continuing operations

(thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)

The results from operations have been reclassified for fiscal 2014 and 2013 to present HES and NHS as discontinued operations as it was available for sale and sold in fiscal 2015.

Statements of Operations

For the years ended March 31
(thousands of dollars, except per share amount)

	
	
	
	Fiscal 2015
	
	Fiscal 2014
	
	Fiscal 2013
	

	
	Sales
	$
	3,895,940
	$
	3,534,614
	$
	2,957,647
	

	
	Gross margin
	
	600,069
	
	505,531
	
	482,168
	

	
	Profit (loss) from continuing operations
	
	(576,377)
	
	170,566
	
	629,714
	

	
	Profit (loss) from continuing operations per share - basic
	
	(4.01)
	
	1.15
	
	4.54
	

	
	Profit (loss) from continuing operations per share - diluted
	
	(4.01)
	
	1.11
	
	3.79
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Balance sheet data
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	As at March 31
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	Fiscal 2015
	
	Fiscal 2014
	
	Fiscal 2013
	

	
	Total assets
	$
	1,297,190
	$
	1,642,650
	$
	1,528,942
	

	
	Long-term liabilities
	
	980,711
	
	1,023,832
	
	916,748
	



2015 COMPARED WITH 2014

Sales increased by 10% to $3,895.9 million in fiscal 2015, compared with $3,534.6 million in the prior fiscal year. The sales increase is a result of the 6% increase in the customer base and a strengthening of the U.S. dollar against the Canadian dollar.

For the year ended March 31, 2015, gross margin increased by 19% to $600.1 million from $505.5 million reported in fiscal 2014. Gross margin for the Consumer Energy division increased $450.2 million, up 21% while the gross margin for the Commercial Energy division increased by 13% to $149.8 million. The overall increase in margin is driven by a 6% increase in the customer base, higher currency exchange related impact on related margins for U.S. customers and comparison against the price spikes resulting from extreme winter weather in fiscal 2014.

The loss from continuing operations for fiscal 2015 amounted to $576.4 million, compared to a profit of $170.6 million in fiscal 2014. The loss from continuing operations is attributable to the change in fair value of the derivative instruments on the Company’s supply portfolio, which showed a loss of $635.2 million in fiscal 2015, versus a gain of $186.1 million in fiscal 2014. Under IFRS, there is a requirement to mark to market the future supply contracts, creating unrealized non-cash gains or losses depending on the supply pricing but the related future customer revenues are not marked to market (which would create an offsetting gain or loss to the supply gain or loss). Just Energy views Base EBITDA and FFO as the better measures of operating performance.

Total assets decreased by 21% to $1,297.2 million in fiscal 2015. The decrease in total assets is a result of sales of the Home Services and Commercial Solar divisions in November 2015, which resulted in a decrease in total assets of approximately $401.8 million.
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Total long-term liabilities as of March 31, 2015 were $980.7 million representing a 4% decrease over fiscal 2014. The decrease in total long-term liabilities is primarily a result of sale of Home Services division and the use of its proceeds from sale to reduce long-term debt.

2014 COMPARED WITH 2013

Sales increased by 20% to $3,534.6 million in fiscal 2014, compared with $2.957.6 million in the prior fiscal year. The sales increase is a result of the 4% increase in the customer base as well as higher commodity prices and higher consumption per customer resulting from colder than normal winter weather.

For the year ended March 31, 2014, gross margin increased by 5% to $505.5 million from $482.2 million reported in fiscal 2013. Gross margin for the Consumer Energy division increased by 12% as a result of higher variable product margins in fiscal 2014 as well as the increased gas consumption from the colder than normal winter temperatures. The margin from the higher consumption was offset by payouts on weather index derivatives intended to “collar” the effects of higher and lower consumption. Gross margin for the Commercial Energy division decreased by 12% to $132.9 million. Uncharacteristically, electricity prices saw a winter spike similar to gas prices due to excess consumption being supplied by spot prices driven by gas-fuelled electricity costs. The Commercial Energy division was most heavily impacted by higher capacity costs in its northeast U.S. markets and the volatility in supply prices resulting from the extreme weather throughout North America during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2014. As a result, Just Energy had to meet the increased demand of its customers at their contracted fixed prices while procuring extra supply at extremely high supply prices.

Profit from continuing operations for fiscal 2014 amounted to $170.6 million, compared to $629.7 million in fiscal 2013. The change in profit from continuing operations is primarily attributable to the change in fair value of the derivative instruments on the Company’s supply portfolio, which showed a gain of $186.1 million in fiscal 2014, versus a gain of $719.6 million in fiscal 2013. Under IFRS, the customer margins are not marked to market but there is a requirement to mark to market the future supply contracts, creating unrealized non-cash gains or losses depending on the supply pricing.

Excluding the year over year impact of the change in fair value of the derivative instruments, Just Energy’s loss from continuing operations was $15.6 million in fiscal 2014, compared with a loss of $90.0 million in fiscal 2013. The change year over year is a result of a decrease in selling and marketing and other operating expenses of $25.4 million and $29.4 million, respectively. The decrease in selling and marketing expenses is reflecting lower per-aggregation cost, particularly due to a reduction in the costs associated with the network marketing division as the build-out was completed in fiscal 2013. Other operating expenses were lower primarily as a result of lower amortization of the gas and electricity contracts resulting from the contracts acquired in fiscal 2010 being fully amortized. The provision for income taxes for fiscal 2014 decreased by $7.2 million over the prior year reflecting lower deferred tax expense due to a further decline of the cumulative mark to market losses from financial instruments.

Total assets increased by 7% to $1,642.7 million in fiscal 2014. The increase in total assets is primarily a result of additional capital expenditures related to the Home Services division.

Total long-term liabilities as of March 31, 2014 were $1,023.8 million representing a 12% increase over fiscal 2013. The increase of long-term liabilities was primarily a net result of the $150 million convertible bond issuance, the redemption of the $90 million convertible debentures series, higher NHS financing reflecting higher installations and the reclassification of the reduced credit facility from current to long-term upon its renewal in October 2013.
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Summary of quarterly results for continuing operations

(thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)

	
	
	
	
	Q4
	
	Q3
	
	Q2
	
	Q1

	
	
	
	Fiscal 2015
	Fiscal 2015
	Fiscal 2015
	Fiscal 2015

	
	Sales
	$
	1,209,879
	$
	946,752
	$
	918,260
	$
	821,049

	
	Gross margin
	
	
	194,066
	
	150,098
	
	132,515
	
	123,390

	
	Administrative expenses
	
	
	42,048
	
	40,912
	
	38,246
	
	33,016

	
	Selling and marketing expenses
	
	
	63,980
	
	52,968
	
	53,088
	
	55,207

	
	Finance costs
	
	
	16,684
	
	19,525
	
	18,700
	
	18,771

	
	Profit (loss) for the period from continuing operations
	
	
	(64,976)
	
	(371,403)
	
	(94,255)
	
	(45,743)

	
	Profit (loss) for the period
	
	
	(63,441)
	
	(206,193)
	
	(135,156)
	
	(38,914)

	
	Profit (loss) for the period from continuing operations per share – basic
	
	
	(0.46)
	
	(2.56)
	
	(0.67)
	
	(0.32)

	
	Profit (loss) for the period from continuing operations per share – diluted
	
	
	(0.46)
	
	(2.56)
	
	(0.67)
	
	(0.32)

	
	Dividends/distributions paid
	
	
	18,596
	
	18,572
	
	18,622
	
	30,933

	
	Base EBITDA from continuing operations
	
	
	67,914
	
	50,592
	
	31,734
	
	30,186

	
	Base Funds from continuing operations
	
	
	31,947
	
	21,179
	
	23,756
	
	15,590

	
	Payout ratio on Base Funds from continuing operations
	
	
	58%
	
	88%
	
	78%
	
	198%

	
	
	
	
	Q4
	
	Q3
	
	Q2
	
	Q1

	
	
	
	
	Fiscal 2014
	
	Fiscal 2014
	
	Fiscal 2014
	
	Fiscal 2014

	
	Sales
	$
	1,132,750
	$
	840,098
	$
	833,710
	$
	728,056

	
	Gross margin
	
	
	137,466
	
	148,616
	
	113,515
	
	105,934

	
	Administrative expenses
	
	
	28,517
	
	29,034
	
	29,354
	
	29,808

	
	Selling and marketing expenses
	
	
	46,870
	
	45,373
	
	46,805
	
	50,842

	
	Finance costs
	
	
	19,191
	
	16,805
	
	16,600
	
	16,845

	
	Profit (loss) for the period from continuing operations
	
	
	154,868
	
	167,077
	
	(111,810)
	
	(39,569)

	
	Profit (loss) for the period
	
	
	109,377
	
	179,608
	
	(110,232)
	
	(41,812)

	
	Profit (loss) for the period from continuing operations per share – basic
	
	
	1.06
	
	1.15
	
	(0.79)
	
	(0.28)

	
	Profit (loss) for the period from continuing operations per share – diluted
	
	
	0.91
	
	0.99
	
	(0.79)
	
	(0.28)

	
	Dividends/distributions paid
	
	
	30,932
	
	30,891
	
	30,850
	
	30,756

	
	Base EBITDA from continuing operations
	
	
	56,552
	
	62,130
	
	28,257
	
	20,724

	
	Base Funds from continuing operations
	
	
	17,327
	
	37,379
	
	23,472
	
	10,399

	
	Payout ratio on Base Funds from continuing operations
	
	
	179%
	
	83%
	
	131%
	
	296%



Just Energy’s results reflect seasonality, as electricity consumption is slightly greater in the first and second quarters (summer quarters) and gas consumption is significantly greater during the third and fourth quarters (winter quarters). While quarter over quarter comparisons are relevant, sequential quarters will vary materially. The main impact of this will mornally be higher Base EBITDA in the third and fourth quarters (assuming consumption based on normal winter weather) and lower Base EBITDA in the first and second quarters. This impact is lessening as current net customer additions are concentrated in electricity, which traditionally experiences less seasonality than natural gas.
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Financial highlights

For the three months ended March 31
(thousands of dollars, except where indicated and per share amounts)
[image: ]




Sales
Gross margin
[image: ]
Administrative expenses
Selling and marketing expenses
[image: ]
Finance costs
Profit (loss) from continuing operations1
[image: ]
Profit (loss) from discontinued operations
Profit (loss) 1
[image: ]
Profit (loss) per share from continuing operations available to shareholders - basic
[image: ]
Profit (loss) per share from continuing operations available to shareholders - diluted Dividends/distributions
Base EBITDA from continuing operations2
[image: ]
Base Funds from continuing operations2
[image: ]
Payout ratio on Base Funds from continuing operations2







	Fiscal 2015
	
	
	Fiscal 2014

	
	% increase
	
	

	
	(decrease)
	
	

	1,209,879
	7%
	$
	1,132,750

	194,066
	41%
	
	137,466

	42,048
	47%
	
	28,517

	63,980
	37%
	
	46,870

	16,684
	(13)%
	19,191

	(64,976)
	NMF 3
	
	154,868

	1,535
	NMF 3
	
	(45,491)

	(63,441)
	NMF 3
	
	109,377

	(0.46)
	
	
	1.06

	(0.46)
	
	
	0.91

	18,596
	(40)%
	30,932

	67,914
	20%
	
	56,552

	31,947
	84%
	
	17,327

	58%
	
	
	179%




1Profit (loss) includes the impact of unrealized gains (losses), which represents the mark to market of future commodity supply acquired to cover future customer demand. The supply has been sold to customers at fixed prices, minimizing any realizable impact of mark to market gains and losses.
2See “Non-IFRS financial measures” on page 2.

3Not a meaningful figure.

ANALYSIS OF THE FOUTH QUARTER

Financial Results

Sales increased by 7% to $1,209.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2015 from $1,132.8 million recorded in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2014. The Consumer division’s sales increased by 5% primarily as a result of the currency conversion impact on U.S. dollar denominated sales while the Commercial division’s sales increased by 18%, primarily as result of the 10% increase in customer base.

Gross margin was $194.1 million, an increase of 41% from the prior comparable quarter. The Consumer and Commercial division contributed increases of 41% and 43%, respectively, as a result of a 1% growth in the customer base, currency driven higher margins on U.S. based contracts and a comparison to the fourth quarter of fiscal 2014 which had heavy balancing charges related to the Polar Vortex.

Administrative expenses increased by 47% from $28.5 million to $42.0 million. Just Energy recorded a one-time additional legal expense in the amount of $6.5 million attributable to legal fees and settlement accruals for outstanding litigation. Excluding this, the quarter’s administrative costs had an expected increase over fiscal 2014 due to lower expenses recorded in the prior period for bonus payments as well as the expected costs of the growth of the Company’s business.

Selling and marketing expenses for the three months ended March 31, 2015 were $64.0 million, a 37% increase from $46.9 million reported in the prior comparable quarter. This increase is largely attributable to the higher residual commissions from customers signed through the Company’s online and broker sales channels.
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Finance costs for the three months ended March 31, 2015 amounted to $ 16.7 million, a decrease of 13% from $19.2 million reported for the three months ended March 31, 2014. The decrease in finance costs was a result of the reduction in long-term debt with the closing of the sale of NHS late in the third quarter.

As of March 31, 2015, Just Energy reported no debt outstanding for its credit facility while as of March 31, 2014, there was $69.5 million outstanding. In addition, Just Energy has the ability to make a normal course issuer bid (“NCIB”) to purchase for cancellation a portion of its convertible debentures. As of March 31, 2015, Just Energy had purchased $1.6 million of the $330m convertible debentures.

The change in fair value of derivative instruments was negative, resulting in a non-cash loss of $101.6 million for the current quarter compared to a gain of $157.2 million in the prior comparative period, as market prices relative to Just Energy’s future electricity supply contracts ended lower by an average of $2.56/MWh while future gas contracts decreased by an average of $0.03/GJ. The loss from continuing operations for the three months ended March 31, 2015 was $65.0 million, representing a loss per share of $0.46 on a basic and diluted basis. For the prior comparable quarter, the income from continuing operations was $154.9 million, representing a gain per share of $1.06 and $0.91 on a basic and diluted basis, respectively.

Base EBITDA from continuing operations was $67.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2015, a 20% increase from $56.6 million in the prior comparable quarter. The increase in gross margin reflected sharply higher margins partially offset by higher operating expenses. Base FFO was $31.9 million for the fourth quarter of fiscal 2015, up 84% compared to $17.3 million in the prior comparable quarter as a result of the higher contribution from Base EBITDA and lower cash interest costs.

Dividends/distributions paid were $18.6 million, a decrease of 40% over the prior comparable period based on an annual dividend rate decrease from $0.84 to $0.50 per share effective July 1, 2014. The result was a quarterly payout ratio of 58%, down from 179% a year earlier.

Marketing Results

Gross Energy Marketing customer additions for the fourth quarter of fiscal 2015 were 292,000, down from 356,000 recorded for the three months ended March 31, 2014. Consumer customer additions totalled 149,000 for the fourth quarter of fiscal 2015, a 1% increase from the gross customer additions recorded in the prior comparable period. Commercial customer additions were 143,000 for the current quarter, a 31% decrease from 208,000 gross customer additions in the three months ended March 31, 2014. Overall customer additions for the fiscal year were at record levels and lower commercial additions in the fourth quarter reflected continued focus on targeting higher margin segments of that market.

Net additions for the three months ended March 31, 2015 were 24,000, compared with 50,000 in the prior comparable period.
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Segmented Base EBITDA1
For the years ended March 31

(thousands of dollars)

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	Fiscal 2015

	
	
	
	Consumer
	
	Commercial
	
	

	
	
	
	division
	
	division
	Consolidated

	Sales
	$
	2,113,828
	$
	1,782,112
	$
	3,895,940

	Cost of sales
	
	(1,663,598)
	
	(1,632,273)
	
	(3,295,871)

	Gross margin
	
	450,230
	
	149,839
	
	600,069

	Add (subtract):
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Administrative expenses
	
	(121,170)
	
	(33,052)
	
	(154,222)

	Selling and marketing expenses
	
	(134,084)
	
	(91,159)
	
	(225,243)

	Bad debt expense
	
	(46,945)
	
	(15,132)
	
	(62,077)

	Amortization included in cost of sales/selling and marketing expenses
	
	-
	
	30,647
	
	30,647

	Other expenses
	
	(788)
	
	(1,608)
	
	(2,396)

	Profit attributable to non-controlling interest
	
	(6,352)
	
	-
	
	(6,352)

	Base EBITDA from continuing operations
	$
	140,891
	$
	39,535
	$
	180,426

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	Fiscal 2014

	
	
	
	Consumer
	
	Commercial
	
	

	
	
	
	division
	
	division
	Consolidated

	Sales
	$
	2,022,270
	$
	1,512,344
	$
	3,534,614

	Cost of sales
	
	(1,649,672)
	
	(1,379,411)
	
	(3,029,083)

	Gross margin
	
	372,598
	
	132,933
	
	505,531

	Add (subtract):
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Administrative expenses
	
	(84,646)
	
	(32,067)
	
	(116,713)

	Selling and marketing expenses
	
	(130,153)
	
	(59,737)
	
	(189,890)

	Bad debt expense
	
	(37,357)
	
	(8,694)
	
	(46,051)

	Amortization included in cost of sales/selling and marketing expenses
	
	-
	
	17,324
	
	17,324

	Other income (expenses)
	
	3,444
	
	(523)
	
	2,921

	Profit attributable to non-controlling interest
	
	(5,459)
	
	-
	
	(5,459)

	Base EBITDA from continuing operations
	
	$
	118,427
	$
	49,236
	$
	167,663



1The definitions of each segment are provided on pages 4 and 5.

Base EBITDA was $180.4 million for the year ended March 31, 2015, an increase of 8% from $167.7 million in the prior year. Consumer Energy contributed $140.9 million to Base EBITDA for the year ended March 31, 2015, an increase of 19% from $118.4 million in the year ended March 31, 2014. Overall gross margin increased by 19% as a result of the 6% increase in the customer base as well higher Canadian dollar selling prices on growing U.S. sales due to the impact of the stronger U.S. currency.

Consumer administrative costs were up 43% in fiscal 2015, due in part to the expected growth in operating costs needed to support the growing customer base and higher bonus payments as well as currency movements. Over and above these expected cost increases, Just Energy recorded additional legal and regulatory expenses in the amount of $14.5 million in one-time legal fees and accrual for outstanding litigation and the settlement reached with the Massachusetts AGO.



15
[image: ]

Commercial Energy contributed $39.5 million to Base EBITDA, a decrease of 20% from the year ended March 31, 2014, when the segment contributed $49.2 million. The increase in gross margin was offset by higher operating expenses, in particular, higher selling and marketing costs due to higher amortization of contract initiation costs and higher residual-based commission payments reflecting the expanding customer base.

Customer aggregation
	
	
	April 1,
	
	
	Failed to
	March 31,
	% increase

	
	
	2014
	Additions
	Attrition
	renew
	2015
	(decrease)

	
	Consumer Energy
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Gas
	747,000
	186,000
	(169,000)
	(40,000)
	724,000
	(3)%
	

	
	Electricity
	1,198,000
	489,000
	(342,000)
	(84,000)
	1,261,000
	5%
	

	
	Total Consumer RCEs
	1,945,000
	675,000
	(511,000)
	(124,000)
	1,985,000
	2%
	

	
	Commercial Energy
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Gas
	204,000
	67,000
	(12,000)
	(28,000)
	231,000
	13%
	

	
	Electricity
	2,261,000
	699,000
	(176,000)
	(314,000)
	2,470,000
	9%
	

	
	Total Commercial RCEs
	2,465,000
	766,000
	(188,000)
	(342,000)
	2,701,000
	10%
	

	
	Total RCEs
	4,410,000
	1,441,000
	(699,000)
	(466,000)
	4,686,000
	6%
	



Gross customer additions for the year ended March 31, 2015 were 1,441,000, an increase of 5% from the previous record 1,377,000 customers added in the fiscal 2014. Consumer customer additions amounted to 675,000 for the year ended March 31, 2015, a 4% increase from 648,000 gross customer additions recorded in the prior comparable year. Commercial customer additions were 766,000 for fiscal 2015, a 5% increase from 729,000 gross customer additions in the prior comparable year.

Net additions were 276,000 for fiscal 2015, an increase of 47% from 188,000 net customer additions in fiscal 2014. The increase in net additions was largely a result of higher customer additions as well as fewer customers lost on renewal.

Overall, the Commercial customer base grew 10% versus a year earlier while the Consumer customer base increased by 2%. In addition to the customers referenced in the above table, the Consumer customer base also includes 43,000 smart-thermostat customers. These smart thermostats are bundled with a commodity contract and are currently offered in Ontario, Alberta and Texas. Customers with bundled products have lower attrition and higher overall profitability. Further expansion of smart-thermostats is a key driver for continued growth of Just Energy.

For the year ended March 31, 2015, 21% of total Consumer and Commercial Energy marketing customer additions were generated from door-to-door sales, 50% from commercial brokers and 29% through online and other non-door-to-door sales channels. In the prior year, 31% of new customers were generated using door-to-door sales, 45% from commercial brokers and 24% from online and other sales channels.

As of March 31, 2015, the U.S., Canadian and U.K. segments accounted for 72%, 24% and 4% of the customer base, respectively. At March 31, 2014, the U.S., Canadian and U.K. segments represented 72%, 26% and 2% of the customer base, respectively.
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ATTRITION

	
	Fiscal 2015
	Fiscal 2014

	
	
	
	

	Consumer
	27%
	27%

	Commercial
	7%
	6%

	Total attrition
	16%
	15%



The combined attrition rate for Just Energy was 16% for the year ended March 31, 2015, a slight increase from the 15% overall rate reported a year prior. While Consumer renewal rates remained consistent at 27% year over year, the Commercial attrition rates increased by 1% to 7%. The increase in attrition is a result of increased competition. The Company continues to focus on maintaining its profitable customers and ensuring that variable rate customers meet base profitability profiles even if this results in higher attrition.

The Company carefully monitors the levels of customer complaints from its Consumer and Commercial divisions. The goal is to resolve all complaints registered within five days of receipt. Our corporate target is to have an outstanding complaint rate less than 0.05% of flowing customers at any time. As of March 31, 2015, the total outstanding rate was 0.02%.

RENEWALS

	
	Fiscal 2015
	Fiscal 2014

	
	
	
	

	Consumer
	77%
	75%

	Commercial
	63%
	64%

	Total renewals
	67%
	68%



The Just Energy renewal process is a multifaceted program that aims to maximize the number of customers who choose to renew their contract prior to the end of their existing contract term. Efforts begin up to 15 months in advance, allowing a customer to renew for an additional period. Overall, the renewal rate was 67% for the year ended March 31, 2015, down slightly from a renewal rate of 68% realized a year ago. The Consumer renewal rate showed an improvement of 2% to 77%, while the Commercial renewal rate decreased by 1% to 63%. The year over year decline reflected a very competitive market for Commercial renewals and Just Energy’s focus on maintaining average customers’ profitability rather than pursuing low margin growth.

Energy contract renewals

This table shows the percentage of customers up for renewal in each of the following fiscal periods:

	
	
	Consumer
	
	Commercial
	
	

	
	
	Gas
	Electricity
	Gas
	Electricity

	
	2016
	20%
	36%
	36%
	40%
	

	
	2017
	15%
	22%
	22%
	26%
	

	
	2018
	23%
	19%
	22%
	21%
	

	
	2019
	20%
	11%
	10%
	8%
	

	
	Beyond 2019
	22%
	12%
	10%
	5%
	

	
	Total
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	



Note: All month-to-month customers, which represent 589,000 RCEs, are excluded from the table above.
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Gross Margin

For the years ended March 31
(thousands of dollars)

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	Fiscal 2015
	
	
	
	
	
	Fiscal 2014

	
	
	
	Consumer
	
	Commercial
	
	Total
	
	Consumer
	
	Commercial
	
	Total

	Gas
	$
	165,770
	$
	33,352
	$
	199,122
	$
	116,955
	$
	27,674
	$
	144,629

	Electricity
	
	
	284,460
	
	116,487
	
	400,947
	
	255,643
	
	105,259
	
	360,902

	
	$
	450,230
	$
	149,839
	$
	600,069
	$
	372,598
	$
	132,933
	$
	505,531

	Increase
	
	
	21%
	
	13%
	
	19%
	
	
	
	
	
	



CONSUMER ENERGY

Gross margin for the year ended March 31, 2015 for the Consumer Energy division was $450.2 million, an increase of 21% from the $372.6 million recorded in the prior year. Gas and electricity gross margins increased by 42% and 11%, respectively.

Average realized gross margin for the Consumer division for the year ended March 31, 2015 was $199/RCE, representing an 18% increase from $168/RCE reported in the prior year. The increase is largely due to margins reported without the adverse impact from the price spikes experienced in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2014 from the Polar Vortex. The gross margin/RCE value includes an appropriate allowance for bad debt expense in Illinois, Texas, Georgia, Michigan, Pennsylvania and Massachusetts.

Gas

Gross margin for the year ended March 31, 2015 from gas customers in the Consumer division was $165.8 million, an increase of 42% from $117.0 million recorded in fiscal 2014. Gross margin increased despite the 3% decrease in customer base largely due to lower balancing costs in the current year and benefits from improved U.S. exchange rates, compared to weak margins adversely impacted by higher commodity costs from the Polar Vortex in fiscal 2014.

Electricity

Gross margin from electricity customers in the Consumer Energy division was $284.5 million for the year ended March 31, 2015, an increase of 11% from $255.6 million recorded in the prior comparable quarter. The higher gross margin in fiscal 2015 is a result of the 5% increase in customer base over the past year, lower balancing costs in the current year as well as a higher U.S. dollar and its impact on U.S. margins. Also contributing were to the increase higher margin contributions from the JustGreen product offerings and bundled products.

COMMERCIAL ENERGY

Gross margin for the Commercial division was $149.8 million, an increase of 13% from the $132.9 million recorded in the prior comparable year. The Commercial customer base increased by 10% during the past year.

Average realized gross margin for the year ended March 31, 2015 was $60/RCE, a slight decrease from $ 61/RCE due largely to higher bad debt expense. The GM/RCE value includes an appropriate allowance for bad debt expense in Illinois, Texas, Georgia, Michigan and California. While the percentage increase in the gross margin was greater than the increase in the customers, GM/RCE was lower as a result of the higher bad debt expense.

Gas

Gas gross margin for the Commercial division was $ 33.4 million for the year ended March 31, 2015, up 21% from $ 27.7 million. The increase in gross margin resulted from the higher consumption from the 13% increase in customer base, higher margins on new commercial customers added in recent periods and effects of the higher U.S. dollar.
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Electricity

Electricity gross margin for the Commercial division was $116.5 million, an increase of 11% from the $105.3 million recorded in the prior comparable year. The increase in gross margin is a result of the 9% increase in customer base and the higher U.S. dollar.

Gross margin on new and renewing customers

The table below depicts the annual margins on contracts for Consumer and Commercial customers signed during the year. This table reflects the gross margin (sales price less costs of associated supply and allowance for bad debt) earned on new additions and renewals including both the brown commodity and JustGreen supply.

ANNUAL GROSS MARGIN PER CUSTOMER

	
	
	
	Fiscal
	Number of
	
	Fiscal
	Number of

	
	
	
	2015
	customers
	
	2014
	customers

	Consumer customers added and renewed
	$
	191
	983,000
	$
	166
	1,032,000

	Consumer customers lost
	
	
	184
	635,000
	
	178
	651,000

	Commercial customers added and renewed
	
	
	79
	1,171,000
	
	67
	1,336,000

	Commercial customers lost
	
	
	73
	531,000
	
	82
	531,000



For the year ended March 31, 2015 the average gross margin per RCE for the customers added and renewed by the Consumer division was $191/RCE, an increase from $166/RCE in the prior comparable year. The average gross margin per RCE for the Consumer customers lost during fiscal 2015 was $184/RCE, compared with $178/RCE in fiscal 2014. Higher new customer margins reflect strong margins new products including bundled offerings.

For the Commercial division, the average gross margin per RCE for the customers signed during the year ended March 31, 2015 was $79/RCE compared to $ 67/RCE in fiscal 2014. Customers lost through attrition and failure to renew during the year ended March 31, 2015 were at an average gross margin of $ 73/RCE, a decrease from $82/RCE reported in the fiscal 2014. The Company has pursued a plan where focus in the commercial market will be on higher margin segments while those with traditionally low margins are allowed to expire.

Overall consolidated results from continuing operations

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

For the years ended March 31

(Thousands of dollars)

	
	
	
	
	Fiscal 2015
	
	Fiscal 2014
	% increase

	
	Consumer Energy
	$
	121,170
	$
	84,646
	43%

	
	Commercial Energy
	
	
	33,052
	
	32,067
	3%

	
	Total administrative expenses
	$
	154,222
	$
	116,713
	32%




The Consumer division’s administrative expenses were $121.2 million for the year ended March 31, 2015, an increase of 43% from $84.6 million recorded in the prior comparable year. The Commercial division’s administrative expenses were $33.1 million for fiscal 2015, a 3% increase from $32.1 million for the year ended March 31, 2014.

Administrative expenses increased by 32% from $116.7 million to $154.2 million. The increase over the prior comparable year included growth in operating costs needed to support the growing customer base and the impact of the U.S. exchange rate. Higher administrative costs were
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anticipated within the Company’s fiscal 2015 guidance as expenditures on the UK expansion and higher accrued bonus payments based on improved performance were expected. However, over and above guidance expectations, Just Energy recorded additional legal and regulatory expenses in the amount of $14.5 million including the settlement reached with the Massachusetts Attorney General’s Office (“AGO”) as well as additional accruals associated with ongoing litigation matters.

SELLING AND MARKETING EXPENSES

For the years ended March 31
(Thousands of dollars)

	
	
	Fiscal 2015
	
	Fiscal 2014
	% increase

	Consumer Energy
	$
	134,084
	$
	130,153
	3%

	Commercial Energy
	
	
	91,159
	
	59,737
	53%

	Total selling and marketing expenses
	$
	225,243
	$
	189,890
	19%



Selling and marketing expenses, which consist of commissions paid to independent sales contractors, brokers and independent representatives, as well as sales-related corporate costs were $225.2 million for the year, ended March 31, 2015, an increase of 19% from $189.9 million in the prior comparable year. Energy marketing customer additions for the year ended March 31, 2015 were 1,441,000, an increase of 5% from the 1,377,000 energy marketing customer additions recorded in fiscal 2014.

The selling and marketing expenses for the Consumer Energy division were $134.1 million for the year ended March 31, 2015, an increase of 3% from $130.2 million recorded in the prior comparable year. During fiscal 2015, the customer additions by the Consumer Energy sales force totalled 675,000, a 4% increase from 648,000 customers added through these sales channels in the prior comparable year. Consumer customer additions through door-to-door sales channels decreased in fiscal 2015 but were replaced largely by online sales for which commissions is paid on a residual basis. As a result, less commission for new contracts was paid up front and instead, will be paid on a residual basis over the term of the contract.

The selling and marketing expenses for the Commercial Energy division were $91.2 million for the year ended March 31, 2014, up 53% from fiscal 2014. While customer additions were by 5% higher in fiscal 2015, the additional expense is related to the 73% increase (to $29.3 million) in the amortization of past contract initiation costs, as well as higher residual-based commission payments reflecting the expanding customer base.

The aggregation costs per customer for consumer customers signed by independent representatives and commercial customers signed by brokers were as follows:

	
	Fiscal 2015
	
	Fiscal 2014
	
	

	
	Consumer
	Commercial
	Consumer
	Commercial

	Natural gas
	$183/RCE
	$46/RCE
	$170/RCE
	$34/RCE
	

	Electricity
	$143/RCE
	$28/RCE
	$131/RCE
	$31/RCE
	

	Average aggregation costs
	$153/RCE
	$29/RCE
	$142/RCE
	$32/RCE
	

	
	
	
	
	
	



The aggregation cost per RCE for the Consumer Energy division listed above includes a growing proportion of customers generated by affinity and online marketing programs where commissions are paid on a residual basis as the customer flows. The increase in costs in fiscal 2015 is a result of the foreign exchange impact on U.S. dollar denominated expenses as well as the upfront overhead expenses being allocated to fewer additions through door-to-door sales channels.
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The $29 average aggregation cost for the Commercial division customers is based on the contracted average annual cost for the respective customer contracts. It should be noted that these commercial broker contracts are paid further commissions averaging $29 per year for each additional year that the customer flows. Assuming an average life of 2.8 years, this would add approximately $52 (1.8 x $ 29) to the year’s $29 average aggregation cost reported above. For the prior year, the total aggregation costs through commercial brokers were $32/RCE.

BAD DEBT EXPENSE

In Illinois, Alberta, Texas, Delaware, Ohio, California, Michigan and Georgia, Just Energy assumes the credit risk associated with the collection of customer accounts. In addition, for commercial direct-billed accounts in British Columbia, Just Energy is responsible for the bad debt risk. Credit review processes have been established to manage the customer default rate. Management factors default from credit risk into its margin expectations for all of the above-noted markets. During the year ended March 31, 2015, Just Energy was exposed to the risk of bad debt on approximately 66% of its sales, compared with 61% of sales during the year ended March 31, 2014. The increase in the amount of sales exposed to bad debt is due to the increase in customer base in markets where Just Energy assumes the credit risk.

Bad debt expense is included in the consolidated income statement under other operating expenses. Bad debt expense for the year ended March 31, 2015, was $ 62.1 million, an increase of 35% from $46.1 million expensed for the year ended March 31, 2014. The bad debt expense increase was primarily a result of a 16% increase in revenue as well as higher default rates for consumer customers in Texas. These customers experienced higher bills during the extreme winter weather experienced in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2014. These bills had high rates of default which were realized in fiscal 2015. Management attempts to maintain its default rate for bad debt within its target margins and continuously reviews and monitors the credit approval process to mitigate customer delinquency. For the year ended March 31, 2015, the bad debt expense represents 2.4% of relevant revenue, up from 2.1% reported in fiscal 2014.

Management expects that bad debt expense will remain in the range of 2% to 3% of relevant revenue. For each of Just Energy’s other markets, the LDCs provide collection services and assume the risk of any bad debt owing from Just Energy’s customers for a regulated fee.

FINANCE COSTS

Total finance costs for the year ended March 31, 2015 amounted to $73.6 million, an increase of 6% from $69.4 million during the year ended March 31, 2014. Removing the amortization of debt service costs, the finance costs for the year ended March 31, 2015 were $ 58.1 million, an increase of 5% from $55.2 million due to higher borrowing costs on the issuance of the U.S. $150m convertible bonds, offset by the redemption of the Cdn$90m convertible debentures in March of 2014 and a small impact from the third quarter repayment of the credit facility using proceeds from the sale of NHS.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE

Just Energy has an exposure to U.S. dollar exchange rates as a result of its U.S. operations. Any changes in the applicable exchange rate may result in a decrease or increase in other comprehensive income. For the year ended March 31, 2015, a foreign exchange unrealized loss of $13.1 million was reported in Other comprehensive income versus a gain of $ 27.3 million in the fiscal 2014. In addition to changes in the U.S. foreign exchange rate, this fluctuation is a result of the significant increase in the mark-to-market liability position of the Company’s derivative financial instruments.

Overall, a stronger U.S. dollar increases the value of sales and gross margin in Canadian dollars but this is partially offset by higher operating costs denominated in U.S. dollars. Total estimated impact of the decline in the Canadian dollar versus the U.S. dollar was a favourable $9.2 million on Base EBITDA and $8.1 million on FFO for fiscal 2015.

Just Energy retains sufficient funds in the U.S. to support ongoing growth and surplus cash is repatriated to Canada. U.S. cross border cash flow is forecasted annually, and hedges for cross border cash flow are placed. Just Energy hedges between 50% and 90% of the next 12 months
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and between 0% and 50% for the following 12 months of cross border cash flows, depending on the level of certainty of the cash flow.

PROVISION FOR (RECOVERY OF) INCOME TAX

	For the years ended March 31
	
	
	
	
	
	

	(thousands of dollars)
	
	
	Fiscal 2015
	
	Fiscal 2014
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Current income tax expense
	$
	8,859
	$
	765
	

	Deferred tax (recovery) provision
	
	
	(37,748)
	
	47,425
	

	Provision for (recovery of) income tax
	$
	(28,889)
	$
	48,190
	



Just Energy recorded a current income tax expense of $8.9 million for the year, versus $0.8 million of expense in fiscal 2014. The increase in current tax expense in the current fiscal year is due to improved operating results, the combined effect of the sale of Canadian and U.S. subsidiaries, and the conclusion of prior period Canadian federal tax and U.S. state tax audits settled in fiscal 2015.

During fiscal 2015, a deferred tax benefit of $37.7 million has been recorded, due to an increase in the cumulative mark to market losses from financial instruments as a result of a change in the fair value of these derivative financial instruments. In fiscal 2014, a deferred tax expense of $47.4 million was recognized, due to a decline in the cumulative mark to market losses from financial instruments as a result of a change in the fair value of these derivative financial instruments.

Just Energy is taxed as a taxable Canadian corporation. Therefore, the deferred tax asset or liability associated with Canadian assets and liabilities recorded on the consolidated balance sheets as at that date will be realized over time as the temporary differences between the carrying value of assets in the consolidated financial statements and their respective tax bases are realized. Current Canadian income taxes are accrued to the extent that there is taxable income in Just Energy and its underlying corporations. For fiscal 2015, Canadian corporations under Just Energy are subject to a tax rate of approximately 26%.

Under IFRS, Just Energy recognized income tax liabilities and assets based on the estimated tax consequences attributable to the temporary differences between the carrying value of the assets and liabilities on the consolidated financial statements and their respective tax bases, using substantively enacted income tax rates. A deferred tax asset will not be recognized if it is not anticipated that the asset will be realized in the foreseeable future. The effect of a change in the income tax rates used in calculating deferred income tax liabilities and assets is recognized in income during the period in which the change occurs.


Discontinued operations

HOME SERVICES DIVISION

On November 24, 2014, Just Energy announced that it had closed the sale of its shares of NHS to Reliance. NHS provides Ontario and Quebec residential customers with a long -term water heater, furnace and air conditioning rental, offering high efficiency conventional and power vented tank and tankless water heaters and high efficiency furnaces and air conditioners. The purchase price was $ 505 million subject to certain potential adjustments at closing including working capital balances. Additionally, as a condition of closing, Just Energy paid all outstanding NHS borrowings and the remaining interest in a royalty agreement.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

For the period of April 1, 2014 to November 24, 2014, the Home Services division had sales of $58.8 million and gross margin of $47.6 million, compared with $76.4 million and $60.1 million, respectively, in the prior comparable year. NHS’s operating profit included in discontinued
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operations was $168.1 million (including gain on sale of $191.2 million), compared with a loss of $4.4 million in the prior year.

COMMERCIAL SOLAR (HES)

On November 5, 2014, Just Energy announced the closing of the sale of HES to SunEdison, Inc. and its subsidiary, TerraForm Power Inc., a leading global solar technology manufacturer and provider of solar energy services.

For the period of April 1, 2014 to November 5, 2014, the Commercial Solar division had sales of $4.4 million compared with $3.9 million for the year ended March 31, 2014. The operating loss of HES included in the discontinued operations was $35.5 million compared to $46.8 million in fiscal 2014.

Liquidity and capital resources from continuing operations

SUMMARY OF CASH FLOWS

For the years ended March 31,
(thousands of dollars)

	
	
	
	Fiscal 2015
	
	Fiscal 2014

	Operating activities from continuing operations
	$
	75,310
	$
	158,746

	Investing activities from continuing operations
	
	
	152,278
	
	(45,123)

	Financing activities from continuing operations, excluding dividends
	
	
	(77,865)
	
	10,252

	Effect of foreign currency translation
	
	
	7,037
	
	1,276

	Increase in cash before dividends
	
	
	156,760
	
	125,151

	Dividends (cash payments)
	
	
	(83,041)
	
	(115,072)

	Increase in cash
	
	
	73,719
	
	10,079

	Decrease in cash from discontinued operations and cash reclassified to assets held for sale
	
	
	(15,306)
	
	(28,176)

	Cash and cash equivalents – beginning of year
	
	
	20,401
	
	38,498

	Cash and cash equivalents – end of year
	$
	78,814
	$
	20,401

	
	
	
	
	
	



OPERATING ACTIVITIES FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS

Cash flow from continuing operating activities for the year ended March 31, 2015 was an inflow of $75.3 million, compared to $158.7 million in fiscal 2014. Cash flow from continuing operations decreased as a result of higher accounts recievable balances at March 31, 2015 as a result of higher revenues in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2015 versus the prior comparable period as well as lower inventory balances at the current year end.

INVESTING ACTIVITIES FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS

Just Energy purchased capital assets totalling $5.8 million during fiscal 2015, a decrease from $7.3 million in the prior year. Just Energy’s capital spending from continuing operations related primarily to thermostats and office equipment. Contract initiation costs increased from $23.2 million to $29.8 million as a result of growth in the Commercial Energy division’s customer additions from brokers which receive commission payments upfront for a period of twelve or more months.

FINANCING ACTIVITIES FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS

Financing activities, excluding dividends, relates primarily to the issuance and repayment of long-term debt. For the year ended March 31, 2015, long-term debt of $173.7 million was repaid. The repayment of the credit facility was a result of the net cash received from the sale of NHS and HES. As of March 31, 2015, Just Energy has not drawn on its $210 million credit facility although certain letters of credit remain outstanding.



23
[image: ]

Just Energy’s liquidity requirements are driven by the delay from the time that a customer contract is signed until cash flow is generated. For residential customers signed by independent contractors, approximately 60% of the commission payment is made following reaffirmation or verbal verification of the customer contract, with most of the remaining 40% being paid after the energy commodity begins flowing to the customer. Margins associated with these customers are realized over the term of the contract. For Commercial and internet generated customers, commissions are paid either as the energy commodity flows throughout the contract or partially upfront once the customer begins to flow.

The elapsed period between the time a customer is signed and receipt of the first payment from the customer varies with each market. The time delays per market are approximately two to nine months. These periods reflect the time required by the various LDCs to enroll, flow the commodity, bill the customer and remit the first payment to Just Energy. In Alberta, Georgia, Texas and for commercial direct-billed customers, Just Energy receives payment directly.

DIVIDENDS (CASH AND SHARE PAYMENTS)

Just Energy reduced its dividend to an annual rate of $0.50 per share effective July 1, 2014 to be paid quarterly. Prior to this, the dividend rate was $0.84. The revised dividend policy provides that shareholders of record on the 15th day of March, June, September and December, or the first business day thereafter, receive dividends at the end of that month. During the year ended March 31, 2015, Just Energy paid cash dividends to its shareholders and distributions to holders of share-based awards in the amount of $83.0 million, compared to $115.1 million paid in the prior comparable year.

The dividend reinvestment plan (”DRIP’) reduces the amount of cash dividends as a portion of dividends declared is paid through the issuance of additional shares. Under the program, Canadian resident shareholders could elect to receive their dividends in shares at a 2% discount on the prevailing market price rather than the cash equivalent. The program was suspended effective January 1, 2015.

Balance sheet as at March 31, 2015, compared to March 31, 2014

Cash increased from $ 20.4 million as at March 31, 2014, to $78.8 million. The utilization of the credit facility was paid down from $69.5 million as at March 31, 2014 to nil at March 31, 2015. The increase in cash and the decrease in the credit facility is primarily attributable to the proceeds from the sale of NHS in November, 2015 as a result of higher cost of sales in the current year.

As of March 31, 2015, trade receivables and unbilled revenue amounted to $459.4 million and $219.6 million, respectively, compared to March 31, 2014, when the trade receivables and unbilled revenue amounted to $427.0 million and $170.7 million, respectively. Trade payables have increased from $485.5 million to $510.5 million during fiscal 2015.

In Ontario, Manitoba and Quebec more gas has been consumed by customers than Just Energy has delivered to the LDCs. As a result, Just Energy has recognized an accrued gas receivable and accrued gas payable for $46.0 million and $ 28.9 million, respectively, as of March 31, 2015. These amounts decreased from $ 48.6 million and $34.6 million, respectively as of March 31, 2014 as a result of lower consumption in the current year. In Michigan more gas has been delivered to LDCs than consumed by customers resulting in gas delivered in excess of consumption and a deferred revenue position of $1.1 million and $ 1.6 million, respectively as of March 31, 2015. In addition, gas in storage increase from $2.4 million as at March 31, 2014 to $5.2 million as at March 31, 2015 due to lower consumption in fiscal 2015.

Other assets and other liabilities relate entirely to the fair value of the financial derivatives. The mark to market gains and losses can result in significant changes in profit and, accordingly, shareholders’ equity from year to year due to commodity price volatility. Given that Just Energy has purchased this supply to cover future customer usage at fixed prices, management believes that these non-cash quarterly changes are not meaningful.
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Intangible assets include the goodwill and acquired customer contracts, as well as other intangibles such as brand, broker network and information technology systems, primarily related to the acquisitions in 2009, 2010 and 2011. The total intangible asset balance decreased to $348.5 million as at March 31, 2015, from $404.9 million a year earlier as a result of thr amortization and sale of NHS in fiscal 2015.

Long-term debt (excluding the current portion) has decreased from $930.0 million as at March 31, 2014 to $676.5 million at March 31, 2015, primarily due to the pay down of debt using the proceeds from the sale of NHS and HES.

Debt and financing for continuing operations

(thousands of dollars)

	
	
	
	March 31,
	
	

	
	
	
	2015
	March 31, 2014

	Just Energy credit facility
	$
	-
	$
	69,500

	$105m senior unsecured note
	
	
	105,000
	
	105,000

	NHS financing
	
	
	-
	
	272,561

	$330m convertible debentures
	
	
	310,083
	
	304,458

	$100m convertible debentures
	
	
	91,445
	
	89,430

	US$150m convertible bonds
	
	
	175,003
	
	149,572



The recognized value of the Canadian dollar denominated convertible debentures increased due to the reduced period until maturity and the lower likelihood of conversion. The US dollar denominated convertible bonds saw their recognized value increase both for the reduced period until maturity and the appreciation of the US dollar.

During fiscal 2015, Just Energy’s long-term debt position significantly improved. Just Energy used the proceeds from the sale of NHS to repay the long-term debt of approximately $207.2 million associated with the Home Services division as well as repay the cash withdrawals on the credit facility. The debt associated with HES was transferred upon completion of the sale on November 5, 2014. As a result of these transactions, the long-term debt was reduced to $676.5 million as of March 31, 2015, compared with $930.0 million reported a year earlier.

Debt reduction remains a clear priority for management. While much has been accomplished to improve the overall balance sheet and debt position, management feels there is more that can be done. As such, management has defined a logical, financially prudent approach to further reducing debt. Just Energy is in a strong position to execute the deleveraging plan and believes the results will place the Company in a stronger, more financially flexible position that aligns with the corporate strategy of financial optimization though adherence to a capital-light, high return on invested capital structure.

JUST ENERGY CREDIT FACILITY

During fiscal 2015, the credit facility was reduced to $210 million from $290 million with the sale of NHS. The current syndicate of lenders includes Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce, Royal Bank of Canada, National Bank of Canada, Toronto-Dominion Bank, The Bank of Nova

Scotia, HSBC Bank Canada and Alberta Treasury Branches.

Under the terms of the credit facility, Just Energy is able to make use of Bankers’ Acceptances and LIBOR advances at stamping fees that vary between 3.65% and 4.00%, prime rate advances at rates of interest that vary between bank prime plus 2.65% and 3.00%, and letters of credit at rates that vary between 3.65% and 4.00%. Interest rates are adjusted quarterly based on certain financial performance indicators.

Just Energy’s obligations under the credit facility are supported by guarantees of certain subsidiaries and affiliates, excluding, primarily, the U.K. operations and secured by a pledge of
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the assets of Just Energy and the majority of its operating subsidiaries and affiliates. Just Energy is required to meet a number of financial covenants under the credit facility agreement. During the year, the Company requested and received amendments with respect to covenants within the credit facility. As at March 31, 2015, all of the covenants had been met.

$105M SENIOR UNSECURED NOTE

The $105m senior unsecured note bears interest at 9.75% and matures in June 2018. The $105m senior unsecured note is subject to certain financial and other covenants. As of March 31, 2015, all of these covenants have been met.

In conjunction with the covenant requirements associated with the issuance of senior unsecured notes, the following represents select financial disclosure for the “Restricted Subsidiaries” as defined within the Note Indenture, which generally excludes the U.K. operations.


	
	
	
	Fiscal
	
	Fiscal

	
	
	
	2015
	
	2014

	Base EBITDA
	$
	177,700
	$
	173,238

	Selling and marketing expenses to add gross margin
	
	
	73,133
	
	43,187

	Share-based compensation
	
	
	7,110
	
	1,518

	Maintenance capital expenditures
	
	
	17,785
	
	8,734

	
	
	
	
	
	



$330M CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES

To fund an acquisition in May 2010, Just Energy issued $330 million of convertible extendible unsecured subordinated debentures. The $330m convertible debentures bear an interest rate of 6% per annum payable semi-annually in arrears on June 30 and December 31 in each year, with maturity on June 30, 2017. Each $1,000 of principal amount of the $330m convertible debentures is convertible at any time prior to maturity or on the date fixed for redemption, at the option of the holder, into approximately 55.6 shares of Just Energy, representing a conversion price of $18 per share.

Prior to June 30, 2015, the debentures may be redeemed by Just Energy, in whole or in part, on not more than 60 days’ and not less than 30 days’ prior notice, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest, provided that the current market price on the date on which notice of redemption is given is not less than 125% of the conversion price. On or after June 30, 2015, and prior to the maturity date, the debentures may be redeemed by Just Energy, in whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest.

During March 2015, the company purchased and retired $1.6 million of convertible debentures. The company paid $1.4 million, reduced the net book value by $1.5 million and the gain was recorded as a reduction to the interest expense.

$100M CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES

On September 22, 2011, Just Energy issued $100 million of convertible unsecured subordinated debentures, which were used to fund an acquisition in October 2011. The $100m convertible debentures bear interest at an annual rate of 5.75%, payable semi-annually on March 31 and September 30 in each year, and have a maturity date of September 30, 2018. Each $1,000 principal amount of the $ 100m convertible debentures is convertible at the option of the holder at any time prior to the close of business on the earlier of the maturity date and the last business day immediately preceding the date fixed for redemption, into 56.0 common shares of Just Energy, representing a conversion price of $17.85 per share.
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Prior to September 30, 2016, the $100m convertible debentures may be redeemed in whole or in part from time to time at the option of the Company on not more than 60 days’ and not less than 30 days’ prior notice, at a price equal to their principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest, provided that the weighted average trading price of the common shares of Just Energy on the Toronto Stock Exchange for the 20 consecutive trading days ending five trading days preceding the date on which the notice of redemption is given is at least 125% of the conversion price. On or after September 30, 2016, the $100m convertible debentures may be redeemed in whole or in part from time to time at the option of the Company on not more than 60 days’ and not less than 30 days’ prior notice, at a price equal to their principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest.

$150M CONVERTIBLE BONDS

On January 29, 2014, Just Energy issued US$150 million of European-focused senior unsecured convertible bonds, and the net proceeds were used to redeem Just Energy’s outstanding $90m convertible debentures due September 30, 2014 and to pay down Just Energy’s credit line. The $150m convertible bonds bear interest at an annual rate of 6.5%, payable semi-annually in arrears in equal installments on January 29 and July 29 in each year. The maturity date of the $150m convertible bonds is July 29, 2019. The increase in long-term debt associated with the US$150 million convertible bonds increased from $149.6 million to $175 million as primarily a result of the decline in Canadian dollar against the U.S. dollar during the past year.

A Conversion Right in respect of a bond may be exercised, at the option of the holder thereof, at any time (the “Conversion Period”) (subject to any applicable fiscal or other laws or regulations and as hereinafter provided) from May 30, 2014 (being the date falling four months and one day after the closing date) to the close of business on the business day falling 22 business days prior to the final maturity date. The initial conversion price is US$9.3762 per common share (being C$10.2819 translated into US$ at the fixed exchange rate) but is subject to adjustments.

Contractual obligations

In the normal course of business, Just Energy is obligated to make future payments for contracts and other commitments that are known and non-cancellable.

PAYMENTS DUE BY PERIOD

(thousands of dollars)

	
	
	
	
	Less than 1
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	Total
	
	year
	
	1 – 3 years
	
	4 – 5 years
	
	After 5 years

	Trade and other payables
	$
	510,470
	$
	510,470
	$
	-
	$
	-
	$
	-

	Long-term debt (contractual cash flow)
	
	723,433
	
	23
	
	328,420
	
	394,990
	
	-

	Interest payments
	
	150,554
	
	40,365
	
	88,790
	
	21,399
	
	-

	Premises and equipment leasing
	
	32,729
	
	6,163
	
	9,366
	
	6,445
	
	10,755

	Long-term gas and electricity contracts
	
	4,074,637
	
	2,167,000
	
	1,596,187
	
	274,187
	
	37,263

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	$
	5,491,823
	$
	2,724,021
	$
	2,022,763
	$
	697,021
	$
	48,018

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	



OTHER OBLIGATIONS

In the opinion of management, Just Energy has no material pending actions, claims or proceedings that have not been included in either its accrued liabilities or in the consolidated financial statements. In the normal course of business, Just Energy could be subject to certain contingent obligations that become payable only if certain events were to occur. The inherent uncertainty surrounding the timing and financial impact of any events prevents any meaningful measurement, which is necessary to assess any material impact on future liquidity. Such obligations include potential judgments, settlements, fines and other penalties resulting from actions, claims or proceedings.
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Transactions with related parties

Just Energy does not have any material transactions with any individuals or companies that are not considered independent of Just Energy or any of its subsidiaries and/or affiliates.

Off balance sheet items

The Company has issued letters of credit in accordance with its credit facility totalling $134.8 million to various counterparties, primarily utilities in the markets where it operates, as well as suppliers.

Pursuant to separate arrangements with several bond agencies, The Hanover Insurance Group and Charter Brokerage LLC, Just Energy has issued surety bonds to various counterparties including states, regulatory bodies, utilities and various other surety bond holders in return for a fee and/or meeting certain collateral posting requirements. Such surety bond postings are required in order to operate in certain states or markets. Total surety bonds issued as at March 31, 2015 were $54.8 million.

Critical accounting estimates

The consolidated financial statements of Just Energy have been prepared in accordance with IFRS. Certain accounting policies require management to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, cost of sales, selling and marketing, and administrative expenses. Estimates are based on historical experience, current information and various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The emergence of new information and changed circumstances may result in actual results or changes to estimated amounts that differ materially from current estimates.

The following assessment of critical accounting estimates is not meant to be exhaustive. Just Energy might realize different results from the application of new accounting standards promulgated, from time to time, by various rule-making bodies.

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

Just Energy performed its annual impairment test as at March 31, 2015. Just Energy considers the relationship between its market capitalization and its book value, among other factors, when reviewing for indicators of impairment. As at March 31, 2015, the market capitalization of Just Energy was above the book value of its equity, indicating that a potential impairment of goodwill and intangibles with indefinite lives does not exist.

The recoverable amount of each of the units has been determined based on a value-in-use calculation using cash flow projections from financial budgets covering a five-year period. The projections for fiscal 2016 have been approved by the Audit Committee; the assumptions used in the following years have been approved by senior management. The calculation of the value-in-use for each unit is most sensitive to the following assumptions:

· Customer consumption assumptions used in determining gross margin;

· New customer additions, attrition and renewals;

· Selling and marketing costs;

· Discount rates; and

· Growth rates used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the budget period.

The gross margin and customer consumption included in the financial projections is based on normal weather. Management has estimated normal weather based on historical weather patterns covering 10 to 30 years. In the past, weather has deviated from normal, which can impact the expected performance of the Company. Past experience has shown that deviations from normal weather can have an impact of up to $35 million on expected margins. Derivative instruments are used to mitigate the risk of weather deviating from normal and are entered into prior to the start of a peak consumption season (winter and summer for gas and electricity markets, respectively). An average customer consumption growth rate of 3% was used in the projections. A 5% decrease in the consumption assumptions would not have an impact on the results of the impairment test.
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New customer additions and attrition and renewal rate estimates are based on historical results and are adjusted for new marketing initiatives that are included in the budget. A 3% average increase in the overall customer base was used in the projections. A 5% decrease annually in the overall customer base would not have an impact on the results of the impairment test.

Selling and marketing costs fluctuate with customer additions, renewals and attrition. Selling and marketing costs used in the financial forecast are based on assumptions consistent with the above new customer additions, renewals and attritions. Rates used are based on historical information and are adjusted for new marketing initiatives included in the budget. An average increase of 3% was applied to selling costs in the projections. A further 5% increase annually in selling and marketing costs would not have an impact on the results of the impairment test.

Discount rates represent the current market assessment of the risks specific to the Company, regarding the time value of money and individual risks of the underlying assets. The discount rate calculation is based on the specific circumstances of Just Energy and its operating segments and is derived from its weighted average cost of capital (“WACC”). The WACC takes into account both debt and equity. The cost of equity is derived from the expected return on investment by Just Energy’s investors and the cost of debt is based on the interest bearing borrowings the Company is obliged to service. Just Energy used a discount rate of 11%. A 5% increase in the WACC would not have an impact on the results of the impairment test.

In addition to the above assumptions, the expected forecasted performance assumes that there will not be any new legislation that will have a negative impact on Just Energy’s ability to market its products in the jurisdictions in which it currently operates. Any changes in legislation would only impact the respective jurisdiction. This item is out of the control of management and cannot be predicted. Management has used all information available to prepare its financial projections.

DEFERRED TAXES

In accordance with IFRS, Just Energy uses the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under the liability method, deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized on the differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their respective income tax basis.

Preparation of the consolidated financial statements involves determining an estimate of, or provision for, income taxes in each of the jurisdictions in which Just Energy operates. The process also involves making an estimate of taxes currently payable and taxes expected to be payable or recoverable in future periods, referred to as deferred income taxes. Deferred income taxes result from the effects of temporary differences due to items that are treated differently for tax and accounting purposes. The tax effects of these differences are reflected in the consolidated statements of financial position as deferred income tax assets and liabilities. An assessment must also be made to determine the likelihood that our future taxable income will be sufficient to permit the recovery of deferred income tax assets. To the extent that such recovery is not probable, deferred income tax assets must be reduced. The reduction of the deferred income tax asset can be reversed if the estimated future taxable income improves. No assurances can be given as to whether any reversal will occur or as to the amount or timing of any such reversal. Management must exercise judgment in its assessment of continually changing tax interpretations, regulations and legislation to ensure deferred income tax assets and liabilities are complete and fairly presented. Assessments and applications differing from our estimates could materially impact the amount recognized for deferred income tax assets and liabilities.

Deferred income tax assets of $25.4 million and $1.7 million have been recorded on the consolidated statements of financial position as at March 31, 2015 and March 31, 2014, respectively. These assets primarily relate to mark to market losses on our derivative financial instruments. Management believes there will be sufficient taxable income that will permit the use of these future tax assets in the tax jurisdictions where they exist. When evaluating the future tax position, Just Energy assesses its ability to use deferred tax assets based on expected taxable income in future periods. As at March 31, 2015, a valuation allowance of $271 million was taken
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against the Company’s deferred tax assets in the U.S. If the Company’s taxable income is higher than expected these deferred tax assets will be used.

Deferred income tax liabilities of $32.9 million have been recorded on the consolidated statements of financial position as at March 31, 2014.
These liabilities are primarily due to the excess of the book value of property, plant and equipment over their tax basis.

Fluctuations in deferred tax balances are primarily driven by changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments. Any increase or decrease in the fair value of the derivative financial instruments will decrease or increase the net tax asset position by the effective tax rate of the entity.

SUBSIDIARIES

Subsidiaries that are not wholly owned by Just Energy require judgment in determining the amount of control that Just Energy has over that entity and the appropriate accounting treatments. In these consolidated financial statements, management has determined that Just Energy controls Just Ventures and, therefore, has treated the 50% that is not owned by Just Energy as a non-controlling interest.

USEFUL LIFE OF KEY PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Each significant component is depreciated over its estimated useful life. A component can be separately identified as an asset and is expected to provide a benefit of greater than one year. Estimated useful lives are determined based on current facts and past experience, and take into consideration the anticipated physical life of the asset, existing long-term sales agreements and contracts, current and forecasted demand, and the potential for technological obsolescence and regulations. The useful lives of property, plant and equipment and depreciation rates used are reviewed at least annually to ensure they continue to be appropriate.

Depreciation and amortization expense from continuing operations for the year ended March 31, 2015, record in the consolidated statements of loss, was 76.0 million, compared with $69.5 million for the year ended March 31, 2014.

Fair value of financial instruments and risk management

Just Energy has entered into a variety of derivative financial instruments as part of the business of purchasing and selling gas, electricity and JustGreen supply. Just Energy enters into contracts with customers to provide electricity and gas at fixed prices and provide comfort to certain customers that a specified amount of energy will be derived from green generation or carbon destruction. These customer contracts expose Just Energy to changes in market prices to supply these commodities. To reduce the exposure to the commodity market price changes, Just Energy uses derivative financial and physical contracts to secure fixed-price commodity supply to cover its estimated fixed-price delivery or green commitment.

Just Energy’s objective is to minimize commodity risk, other than consumption changes, usually attributable to weather. Accordingly, it is Just Energy’s policy to hedge the estimated fixed-price requirements of its customers with offsetting hedges of natural gas and electricity at fixed prices for terms equal to those of the customer contracts. The cash flow from these supply contracts is expected to be effective in offsetting Just Energy’s price exposure and serves to fix acquisition costs of gas and electricity to be delivered under the fixed-price or price-protected customer contracts. Just Energy’s policy is not to use derivative instruments for speculative purposes.

Just Energy’s U.S. and U.K. operations introduce foreign exchange-related risks. Just Energy enters into foreign exchange forwards in order to hedge its exposure to fluctuations in cross border cash flows.

The consolidated financial statements are in compliance with IAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation; IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement; and IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosure. Effective July 1, 2008, Just Energy ceased the utilization of hedge accounting. Accordingly, all the mark to market changes on Just Energy’s derivative instruments are recorded on a single line on the consolidated income statement. Due to
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commodity volatility and to the size of Just Energy, the quarterly swings in mark to market on these positions will increase the volatility in Just Energy’s earnings.

The Company’s financial instruments are valued based on the following fair value (“FV”) hierarchy:

Level 1

The fair value measurements are classified as Level 1 in the FV hierarchy if the fair value is determined using quoted unadjusted market prices.

Level 2

Fair value measurements that require inputs other than quoted prices in Level 1, either directly or indirectly, are classified as Level 2 in the FV hierarchy. This could include the use of statistical techniques to derive the FV curve from observable market prices. However, in order to be classified under Level 2, inputs must be substantially observable in the market. Just Energy values its New York Mercantile Exchange (“NYMEX”) financial gas fixed-for-floating swaps under Level 2.

Level 3

Fair value measurements that require unobservable market data or use statistical techniques to derive forward curves from observable market data and unobservable inputs are classified as Level 3 in the FV hierarchy. For the electricity supply contracts, Just Energy uses quoted market prices as per available market forward data and applies a price-shaping profile to calculate the monthly prices from annual strips and hourly prices from block strips for the purposes of mark to market calculations. The profile is based on historical settlements with counterparties or with the system operator and is considered an unobservable input for the purposes of establishing the level in the FV hierarchy. For the natural gas supply contracts, Just Energy uses three different market observable curves: i) Commodity (predominately NYMEX), ii) Basis and iii) Foreign exchange. NYMEX curves extend for over five years (thereby covering the length of Just Energy’s contracts); however, most basis curves only extend 12 to 15 months into the future. In order to calculate basis curves for the remaining years, Just Energy uses extrapolation, which leads natural gas supply contracts to be classified under Level 3.

For the share swap, Just Energy uses a forward interest rate curve along with a volume weighted average share price. The Eurobond conversion feature is valued using an option pricing model.

Fair value measurement input sensitivity

The main cause of changes in the fair value of derivative instruments are changes in the forward curve prices used for the fair value calculations. Below is a sensitivity analysis of these forward curves. Other inputs, including volatility and correlations, are driven off historical settlements.

Commodity price risk

Just Energy is exposed to market risks associated with commodity prices and market volatility where estimated customer requirements do not match actual customer requirements. Management actively monitors these positions on a daily basis in accordance with its Risk Management Policy. This policy sets out a variety of limits, most importantly, thresholds for open positions in the gas and electricity portfolios which also feed a Value at Risk limit. Should any of the limits be exceeded, they are closed expeditiously or express approval to continue to hold is obtained. Just Energy’s exposure to market risk is affected by a number of factors, including accuracy of estimation of customer commodity requirements, commodity prices, and volatility and liquidity of markets. Just Energy enters into derivative instruments in order to manage exposures to changes in commodity prices. The derivative instruments used are designed to fix the price of supply for estimated customer commodity demand and thereby fix margins such that shareholder dividends can be appropriately established. Derivative instruments are generally transacted over the counter. The inability or failure of Just Energy to manage and monitor the above market risks could have a material adverse effect on the operations and cash flows of Just Energy. Just Energy mitigates the exposure to variances in customer requirements that are driven by changes in expected weather conditions, through active management of the underlying portfolio, which involves, but is not limited to, the purchase of options including weather derivatives. Just Energy’s
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ability to mitigate weather effects is limited by the degree to which weather conditions deviate from normal.

Commodity price sensitivity – all derivative financial instruments

If all the energy prices associated with derivative financial instruments including natural gas, electricity, verified emission-reduction credits and renewable energy certificates had risen (fallen) by 10%, assuming that all the other variables had remained constant, income before income taxes for the nine months ended March 31, 2015 would have increased (decreased) by $260.2 million ($256.2 million) primarily as a result of the change in fair value of Just Energy’s derivative instruments.

Commodity price sensitivity – Level 3 derivative financial instruments

If the energy prices associated with only Level 3 derivative instruments including natural gas, electricity, verified emission-reduction credits and renewable energy certificates had risen (fallen) by 10%, assuming that all the other variables had remained constant, income before income taxes for the year ended March 31, 2015 would have increased (decreased) by $240.9 million ($237.2 million) primarily as a result of the change in fair value of Just Energy’s derivative instruments.

RECEIVABLES AND ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS

The allowance for uncollectible accounts reflects Just Energy’s best estimates of losses on the accounts receivable balances. Just Energy determines the allowance for doubtful accounts on customer receivables by applying loss rates based on historical results to the outstanding receivable balance. Just Energy is exposed to customer credit risk on its continuing operations in Alberta, Texas, Illinois, British Columbia, New York, California, Michigan, Georgia and commercial direct-billed accounts in British Columbia, New York and Ontario. Credit review processes have been implemented to perform credit evaluations of customers and manage customer default. If a significant number of customers were to default on their payments, it could have a material adverse effect on the operations and cash flows of Just Energy. Management factors default from credit risk in its margin expectations for all the above markets.

Revenues related to the sale of energy are recorded when energy is delivered to customers. The determination of energy sales to individual customers is based on systematic readings of customer meters generally on a monthly basis. At the end of each month, amounts of energy delivered to customers since the date of the last meter reading are estimated, and corresponding unbilled revenue is recorded. The measurement of unbilled revenue is affected by the following factors: daily customer usage, losses of energy during delivery to customers and applicable customer rates.

Increases in volumes delivered to the utilities’ customers and favourable rate mix due to changes in usage patterns in the period could be significant to the calculation of unbilled revenue. Changes in the timing of meter reading schedules and the number and type of customers scheduled for each meter reading date would also have an effect on the measurement of unbilled revenue; however, total operating revenues would remain materially unchanged.

Just Energy common shares

As at May 13, 2015, there were 146,559,176 common shares of Just Energy outstanding.

Normal course issuer bid

During the 12-month period beginning March 17, 2014 and ending March 16, 2015, Just Energy had the ability to make a normal course issuer bid (“NCIB”) to purchase for cancellation up to $33 million of the $330m convertible debentures, representing approximately 10% of the public float.

On March 13, 2015, Just Energy announced the approval from the TSX to renew its NCIB for the $330m convertible debentures and filed an NCIB for the $100m convertible debentures as well as for the common shares. Under each NCIB, Just Energy may purchase debentures and common shares representing 10% of the outstanding public float at close of business February 27, 2015 up to daily and total limits. As of March 31, 2015, Just Energy had purchased $1.6 million of the $330m convertible debentures.
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Just Energy believes that the debentures and common shares may trade in a range that may not fully reflect their value. As a result, Just Energy believes that the purchase of the debentures and common shares from time to time can be undertaken at prices that make the acquisition of such securities an appropriate use of Just Energy’s available funds. In addition, purchases under each of the NCIBs may increase the liquidity of the debentures and common shares and will enable Just Energy to deleverage its balance sheet. Just Energy intends to continue to buy back debentures and common shares when the circumstances present themselves in a way that maximizes value for Just Energy. The current Company’s priority is the repurchase of debentures at attractive prices.

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET APPLIED

IFRS 9, Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”), was issued by the IASB on July 24, 2014, and will replace IAS 39. IFRS 9 uses a single approach to determine whether a financial asset is measured at amortized cost or fair value, replacing the multiple rules in IAS 39. The approach in IFRS 9 is based on how an entity manages its financial instruments in the context of its business model and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. Two measurement categories continue to exist to account for financial liabilities in IFRS 9, fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) and amortized cost. Financial liabilities held for trading are measured at FVTPL, and all other financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost unless the fair value option is applied. The treatment of embedded derivatives under the new standard is consistent with IAS 39 and is applied to financial liabilities and non-derivative hosts not within the scope of the standard. IFRS 9 also uses a new model for hedge accounting aligning the accounting treatment with risk management activities. IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. Management is currently evaluating the impact of IFRS 9 on the consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements (“IFRS 11”)-Accounting for Acquisition of Interest require an entity acquiring an interest in a joint operation in which the activity of the joint operation constitutes a business to apply, to the extent of its share, all of the principles on business combination accounting in IFRS 3 Business Combinations, and other IFRSs, that do not conflict with the requirements of IFRS 11. Furthermore, entities are required to disclose the information required in those IFRSs in relation to business combinations. The amendments also apply to an entity on the formation of a joint operation if, and only if, an existing business is contributed by the entity to the joint operation on its formation. The amendments also clarify that for the acquisition of an additional interest in a joint operation in which the activity of the joint operation constitutes a business, previously held interests in the joint operation must not be remeasured if the joint operator retains joint control. These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016, with early adoption permitted. The Company does not expect this standard to have any impact on the consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 15, Revenue recognition (“IFRS 15”), establishes a five-step model that will apply to revenue earned from a contract with a customer, regardless of the type of revenue transaction or industry. The standard will also provide guidance on the recognition and measurement of gains and losses on the sale of some non-financial assets that are not an output of the entity’s ordinary activities. The standard also outlines increased disclosures that will be required, including disaggregation of total revenue, information about performance obligations, changes in contract asset and liability account balances between periods and key judgments and estimates made. Management is currently evaluating the impact of IFRS 15 on the consolidated financial statements.

IAS 27, Equity Method (“IAS27”), in separate financial statements will allow entities to use the equity method to account for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in their separate financial statements, Entities already applying IFRS and electing to change to the equity method in its separate financial statements will have to apply that change retrospectively. The
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amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016 with early adoption permitted. The Company does not expect this standard to have any impact on the consolidated financial statements. Two new annual improvements including Annual Improvements to IFRS 2010 – 2012, Cycle and Annual Improvements IFRS 2011 – 2013 Cycle included amendments effective immediately as well as those effective with fiscal years beginning January 1, 2015. Just Energy does not expect these amendments to have any impact on the consolidated financial statements.

IAS 16 and IAS 38, Property, Plant and Equipment and Intangible Assets (“IAS 16 & 38”)- Clarification of acceptable methods of depreciation and amortization clarifies the principle in IAS 16 and IAS 38 that revenue reflects a pattern of economic benefits that are generated from operating a business (of which the asset is part) rather than the economic benefits that are consumed through use of the asset. As a result, a revenue based method cannot be used to depreciate property, plant and equipment and may only be used in very limited circumstances to amortize intangible assets. These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016, with early adoption permitted. Just Energy does not expect these amendments to have any impact on the consolidated financial statements.

RISK FACTORS

Described below are the principal risks and uncertainties that Just Energy can foresee. It is not an exhaustive list, as some future risks may be as yet unknown and other risks, currently regarded as immaterial, could turn out to be material.

Market Risk

Market Risk is a potential loss that may be incurred as a result of changes in the market or fair value of a particular instrument or commodity.

Commodity Price Risk

Just Energy’s cost to serve its retail energy customers is exposed to fluctuations in commodity prices. Although Just Energy enters into commodity derivative instruments with its suppliers to manage the commodity price risks, it is exposed to commodity price risk where estimated customer requirements do not match actual customer requirements or where it is not able to exactly purchase the estimated customer requirements. In such cases, Just Energy may suffer a loss if it is required to sell excess supply in the spot market (compared to its weighted average cost of supply) or to purchase additional supply in the spot market. Such losses could have a material adverse impact on Just Energy’s operating results, cashflow and liquidity.

A key risk to Just Energy’s business model is a sudden and significant drop in the commodity market price resulting in increase in customer churn, regulatory pressure and resistance on enforcement of liquidation damages and enactment of provisions to reset the customer price to current market price levels which could have significant impact on Just Energy’s business.

Commodity Volume Balancing Risk

Depending on several factors including weather, Just Energy’s customers may use more or less commodity than the volume purchased by Just Energy for delivery to them. Just Energy bears the financial responsibility, is exposed to market risk and, furthermore, may also be exposed to penalties by the LDCs for balancing the customer volume requirements. Although Just Energy manages the volume balancing risk through balancing language in some of its retail energy contracts, enters into weather derivative transactions to mitigate weather risk, and leverages natural gas storage facilities to manage daily delivery requirements, increased costs and/or losses resulting from occurrences of volume imbalance net of Just Energy’s risk management activities could have a material adverse impact on Just Energy’s operating results, cashflow and liquidity.
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Interest Rate Risk

Just Energy is exposed to interest rate risk associated with its credit facility. Current exposure to interest rate risk associated with its credit facility does not economically warrant the use of derivative instruments.

Foreign Exchange Rate Risk

Just Energy is exposed to foreign exchange risk on repatriation of US dollar denominated and UK pound denominated income against Canadian dollar denominated dividends. In addition, Just Energy is exposed to translation risk on US dollar and UK pound denominated earnings and foreign investments. Just Energy enters into foreign exchange derivative instruments to manage the cash flow risk on repatriation of foreign funds. Currently, Just Energy does not enter into derivative instruments to manage foreign exchange translation risk. Large fluctuations in foreign exchange rates may have a significant impact on Just Energy’s earnings and cash flow. In particular, a significant rise in the relative value of the Canadian dollar to the US dollar or UK pound could materially reduce reported earnings and cash flow.

Liquidity Risk

Just Energy is at risk of not being able to settle its future debt obligations including convertible debentures and commercial notes. Increase in liquidity risk may put Just Energy’s cash dividend at risk or require Just Energy to raise additional funds. Liquidity risk may cause Just Energy to close down, sell or otherwise dispose of all or part of the business of Just Energy’s subsidiaries.

Credit Agreement and Other Debt

Just Energy maintains a credit facility of up to $ 210 million for working capital purposes, pursuant to a credit agreement with various lenders (the “Credit Agreement”). The lenders under the Credit Agreement, together with certain suppliers of Just Energy and its affiliates are party to the Credit Agreement and related security agreement which provide for a joint security interest over all customer contracts. There are various covenants pursuant to the Credit Agreement that govern activities of Just Energy and its affiliates. The restrictions in the Credit Agreement may adversely affect Just Energy’s ability to finance its future operations and capital needs and to pursue available business opportunities. Should Just Energy or its subsidiary default under the terms of the Credit Agreement, the credit facility thereunder may become unavailable and may materially reduce Just Energy’s liquidity. There can be no assurance that Just Energy would be able to obtain alternative financing or that such financing would be on terms favourable to Just Energy. In addition, Just Energy may not be able to extend, renew or refinance the credit facility on terms favourable to Just Energy, or at all, which would materially and adversely affect Just Energy’s liquidity position, in which case Just Energy could be forced to sell assets or secure additional financing to make up for any shortfall in its payment obligations under unfavourable circumstances.

Just Energy has significant levels of other debt, including convertible debentures and bonds and a senior unsecured note, which could further limit Just Energy's ability to obtain additional financing for working capital, capital expenditures, debt service requirements, restructuring, acquisitions or general corporate purposes, which could make Just Energy more vulnerable to economic downturns and adverse industry developments or limit flexibility in planning for or reacting to changes in its business. There can be no assurance that Just Energy would be able to refinance or replace such debt on terms favourable to Just Energy, or at all, which would materially and adversely affect Just Energy's liquidity position.

Working Capital Requirements (Availability of Credit)



35
[image: ]

In several markets where Just Energy operates, payment is provided to Just Energy by LDCs only when the customer has paid the LDC for the consumed commodity, rather than when the commodity is delivered. Just Energy also manages natural gas storage facilities where Just Energy must inject natural gas in advance of payment. These factors along with seasonality in energy consumption, create a working capital requirement necessitating the use of Just Energy’s available credit. In addition, Just Energy and its subsidiaries are required to post collateral to LDCs and Electricity System Operators. Any changes in payment terms managed by LDCs, any increase in cost of carrying natural gas storage inventory, and any increase in collateral posting requirements could result in significant liquidity risk to Just Energy.

Earnings Seasonality and Volatility

Just Energy’s business is seasonal in nature. In addition to regular seasonal fluctuations in its earnings, there is significant volatility in its earnings associated with the requirement to mark its commodity contracts to market. The earnings volatility associated with seasonality and mark to market accounting may affect the ability of Just Energy to access capital and increase its liquidity risk.

Cash Dividends are not guaranteed

The ability to pay dividends and the actual amount of dividends will depend upon numerous factors, including profitability; fluctuations in working capital; debt service requirements (including compliance with Credit Agreement obligations); and the sustainability of margins. Cash dividends are not guaranteed and will fluctuate with the performance of Just Energy and the availability of cash liquidity from ongoing business operations.

Share Ownership Dilution

Just Energy may issue additional or Just Energy may issue an unlimited number of Common Shares and up to 50,000,000 preferred shares without the approval of shareholders which would dilute existing shareholders’ interests.

Supply Counterparty Risk

Counterparty risk is a loss that Just Energy would incur if a counterparty fails to perform under its contractual obligations

Credit Risk

Just Energy enters into long term derivative contracts with its counterparties. If a derivative counterparty were to default on its contractual obligations, Just Energy would be required to replace its contracted commodities or instruments at prevailing market prices, which would negatively affect related customer margin or cash flows.

Supply Delivery Risk

Just Energy’s business model is based on contracting for supply of electricity or natural gas to deliver to its customers. Failure by Just Energy’s supply counterparties to deliver these commodities to Just Energy due to business failure, supply shortage, force majeure, or any other failure of such counterparties to perform their obligations under the applicable contracts would put Just Energy at risk of not meeting its delivery requirements with LDCs, thereby resulting in penalties, price risk, liquidity and collateral risk and may have a significant impact on the business, financial condition, results of operations and cashflows of Just Energy.

Legal and Regulatory Risk

Legal and Regulatory Risk is a potential loss that may be incurred as a result of changes in regulations or legislation affecting Just Energy’s business model, costs or operations, as well as it is a risk of potential litigation against Just Energy resulting in impact to Just Energy’s cash flow.
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Regulatory Environment

Just Energy may receive complaints from consumers which may involve sanctions from regulatory and legal authorities. The most significant potential sanction is the suspension or revocation of a licence which would prevent Just Energy from selling in a particular jurisdiction.

Changes to consumer protection legislation may impact Just Energy’s business model and may include additional measures that require additional administration together with potential impacts to contracting, renewal and retention rates.

Just Energy’s business model involves entering into derivative financial instruments to manage commodity price and supply risk. Financial reforms in the US, Canada and Europe may require Just Energy to comply with certain aspects of reporting, record keeping, position limits and other risk mitigation and price transparency rules that result in increased scrutiny of commodity procurement activities. Costs resulting from Just Energy’s compliance with certain new regulatory requirements as well as increased costs of doing business with Just Energy’s counterparties who may be subject to even greater regulatory requirements could have a material impact on Just Energy’s business.

Litigation

In addition to the litigation referenced herein (see the “Legal Proceedings” section on page 40) and occurring in the ordinary course of business, Just Energy may in the future be subject to class actions and other actions arising in relation to its consumer contracts and marketing practices. This litigation is, and any such additional litigation could be, time consuming and expensive and could distract the executive team from the conduct of Just Energy’s daily business and may result in costly settlement arrangements. An adverse resolution or reputational damage of any specific lawsuit could have a material adverse effect on Just Energy’s business or results of operations and the ability to favourably resolve other lawsuits.

In certain jurisdictions, independent contractors that contract with Just Energy to provide door-to-door sales have made claims, either individually or as a class, that they are entitled to employee benefits such as minimum wage or overtime pursuant to legislation, even though they have entered into a contract with Just Energy that provides that they are not entitled to benefits normally available to employees. Just Energy’s position has been confirmed in some instances and overturned by regulatory bodies and courts in others, and some of these decisions are under appeal. Should the regulatory bodies or claimants be ultimately successful, Just Energy would be required to remit unpaid tax amounts plus interest and might be assessed a penalty, which amounts could be substantial.

Retail Risk

Retail Customer Risk is a potential loss that may be incurred as a result of change in customer behaviour and from an increase in competition in the retail energy industry.

Consumer Contract Attrition and Renewal Rates

Just Energy may experience an increase in attrition rates and lower acceptance rates on renewal requests due to commodity price volatility, increased competition or change in customer behaviour. There can be no assurance that the historical rates of annual attrition will not increase substantially in the future or that Just Energy will be able to renew its existing energy contracts at the expiry of their terms. Any such increase in attrition or failure to renew could have a material adverse impact on Just Energy’s business, financial condition, operating results, cashflow, liquidity and prospects.
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Customer Credit Risk

Just Energy has credit risk in various markets where bills are sent directly to customers for energy consumption from Just Energy. If a significant number of direct bill customers were to default on their payments, it could have a material adverse effect on the results operations, cash flow and liquidity of Just Energy.

For the remaining customers, the LDCs provide collection services and assume the risk of any bad debts owing from Just Energy’s customers for a fee. There is no assurance that the LDCs that provide these services will continue to do so in the future which would mean that Just Energy would have to accept additional customer credit risk.

Competition

A number of companies and incumbent utility subsidiaries compete with Just Energy in the residential, commercial and small industrial market. It is possible that new entrants may enter the market as marketers and compete directly for the customer base that Just Energy targets, slowing or reducing its market share. If the LDCs are permitted by changes in the current regulatory framework to sell natural gas or electricity at prices at other than cost, their existing customer bases could provide them with a significant competitive advantage. This could limit the number of customers available for marketers including Just Energy and impact Just Energy’s growth and retention.

Business Operations Risks

Business Operations Risk is a potential loss occurring from an unplanned interruption or cyber-attack, manual or system errors, and business earnings risk unique to retail energy sales industry.

Cyber Risk

Just Energy’s business requires retaining important customer information that is considered private, such as name, address, banking and payment information, drivers’ licenses, Social Security and Social Insurance numbers. Although Just Energy protects this information with restricted access and enters into cyber risk insurance policies, there could be a significant adverse impact to the business, reputation and customer relations should the private information be compromised due to a cyber-attack on Just Energy’s information technology systems.

Just Energy is also subject to federal, state, provincial and foreign laws regarding privacy and protection of data. Changes to such data protection laws may impose more stringent requirements for compliance and impose significant penalties for non-compliance. Just Energy’s failure to comply with federal, state, provincial and foreign laws regarding privacy and protection of data could lead to significant fines and penalties imposed by regulators, as well as claims by our customers. There can be no assurance that the limitations of liability in Just Energy’s contracts would be enforceable or adequate or would otherwise protect Just Energy from any such liabilities or damages with respect to any particular claim. The successful assertion of one or more large claims against Just Energy that exceeds its available insurance coverage, could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Information Technology Systems

Just Energy’s relies on Information Technology (“IT”) systems to store critical information, generate financial forecasts, report financial results and make applicable securities law filings. Just Energy also relies on IT systems to make payments to suppliers, pay commissions to brokers and independent contractors, enroll new customers, send monthly bills to customers and
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collect payments from customers. Failure of these systems could have material adverse effect on Just Energy’s business and financial prospects or cause it to fail to meet its reporting obligations, which could result in a suspension or delisting of its Common Shares.

Model Risk

The approach to calculation of market value and customer forecasts requires data-intensive modelling used in conjunction with certain assumptions when independently verifiable information is not available. Although Just Energy uses industry standard approaches and validates its internally developed models, should underlying assumptions prove incorrect or an embedded modelling error go undetected in the vetting process, this could result in incorrect estimates and thereby have a material adverse impact on Just Energy’s business, financial condition, results of operations, cashflow and liquidity.

Accounting Estimates Risks

Just Energy makes accounting estimates and judgments in the ordinary course of business. Such accounting estimates and judgments will affect the reported amounts of Just Energy's assets and liabilities at the date of its financial statements and the reported amounts of its operating results during the periods presented. Additionally, Just Energy interprets the accounting rules in existence as of the date of its financial statements when the accounting rules are not specific to a particular event or transaction. If the underlying estimates are ultimately proven to be incorrect, or if Just Energy's auditors or regulators subsequently interpret Just Energy's application of accounting rules differently, subsequent adjustments could have a material adverse effect on Just Energy's operating results for the period or periods in which the change is identified. Additionally, subsequent adjustments could require Just Energy to restate historical financial statements.

Risks from Adoption of New Accounting Standards or Interpretations

Implementation of and compliance with changes in accounting rules and interpretations could adversely affect Just Energy's operating results or cause unanticipated fluctuations in its results in future periods. The accounting rules and regulations that Just Energy must comply with are complex and continually changing. While Just Energy believes that its financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS, Just Energy cannot predict the impact of future changes to accounting principles or Just Energy's accounting policies on its financial statements going forward.

Risks from Deficiencies in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Just Energy may face risks if there are deficiencies in its internal control over financial reporting and disclosure controls and procedures. The board of directors, in coordination with the audit committee, is responsible for assessing the progress and sufficiency of internal control over financial reporting and disclosure controls and procedures and makes adjustments as necessary. Any deficiencies, if uncorrected, could result in Just Energy's financial statements being inaccurate and in future adjustments or restatements of Just Energy's historical financial statements, which could adversely affect the business, financial condition and results of operations of Just Energy.

Outsourcing and Third Party Service Agreements

Just Energy has outsourcing arrangements to support its call centre’s requirements for business continuity plans and independence for regulatory purposes, billing and settlement arrangements for certain jurisdictions, scheduling responsibilities in certain jurisdictions and operational support for its operations in the United Kingdom. Contract data input is also outsourced as is some corporate business continuity, IT development and disaster recovery functions. Should the outsourced counterparties not deliver their contracted services, Just Energy may experience
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service and operational gaps that adversely impact customer retention and aggregation and cash flows.

In most jurisdictions in which Just Energy operates, the LDCs currently perform billing and collection services. If the LDCs cease to perform these services, Just Energy would have to seek a third party billing provider or develop internal systems to perform these functions. This could be time consuming and expensive.

Disruption to Infrastructure

Customers are reliant upon the LDCs to deliver their contracted commodity. LDCs are reliant upon the continuing availability of their distribution infrastructure. Any disruptions in this infrastructure as a result of a hurricane, act of terrorism or otherwise could result in counterparties’default and thereafter Just Energy enacting the force majeure clauses of their contracts. Under such severe circumstances there could be no revenue or margin for the affected areas.

Additionally, any disruptions to Just Energy’s operations or sales office may also have a significant impact on business and financial prospects. Although Just Energy has insurance policies that cover business interruption and natural calamities, in certain cases the insurance coverage may not be sufficient to cover the potential loss.

Other Risks

Share Price Volatility Risk

The Common Shares currently trade on the TSX and the NYSE. The trading price of the Common Shares has in the past been, and may be in the future be, subject to significant fluctuations. These fluctuations may be caused by events related or unrelated to Just Energy's operating performance and beyond its control. Factors such as actual or anticipated fluctuations in Just Energy's operating results (including as a result of seasonality and volatility caused by mark to market accounting for commodity contracts), fluctuations in the share prices of other companies operating in business sectors comparable to those in which Just Energy operates, outcomes of litigation or regulatory proceedings or changes in estimates of future operating results by securities analysts, among other things, may have a significant impact on the market price of the Common Shares. In addition, the stock market has experienced volatility which often has been unrelated to the operating performance of the affected companies. These market fluctuations may materially and adversely affect the market price of the Common Shares, which may make it more difficult for holders of Common Shares to sell their shares.

Management Retention Risk

Just Energy's future success will depend on, among other things, its ability to keep the services of its management and to hire other highly qualified employees at all levels. Just Energy will compete with other potential employers for employees, and may not be successful in hiring and keeping the services of executives and other employees that it needs. The loss of the services of, or the inability to hire, executives or key employees could hinder Just Energy's business operations and growth..

Legal proceedings

The State of California has filed a number of complaints with the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (“FERC”) against many suppliers of electricity, including Commerce Energy Inc. (“CEI”), a subsidiary of the Company, with respect to events stemming from the 2001 energy crisis in California. On March 18, 2010, the assigned Administrative Law Judge granted a motion to strike the claim for all parties in one of the complaints (in favour of the suppliers), holding that California did not prove that the reporting errors masked the accumulation of market power.
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California has appealed the decision. On June 13, 2012, FERC denied the plaintiff’s request for a rehearing, affirming its initial decision. California appealed to the United States District Courts for the Ninth Circuit and oral arguments were heard on February 26, 2015. On April 29, 2015, the appeals court remanded the case back to FERC on grounds that the agency erred in assessing whether market power had resulted in unjust and unreasonable prices, when it only considered power generation market share. CEI continues to vigorously contest this matter.

In August 2013, Fulcrum Power Services L.P. (“FPS”) filed a lawsuit against the Company, Just Energy (US) Corp. and Fulcrum, for up to $20 million in connection with Fulcrum failing to achieve an earn-out target under the purchase and sales agreement dated August 24, 2011 for the purchase of Fulcrum from FPS. FPS alleges that the Company conducted itself in a manner that was intended to or reasonably likely to reduce or avoid the achievement of the earn-out target. In October 2013, the Company’s motion to compel arbitration was successful. The arbitration is scheduled to commence on June 1, 2015. Just Energy will continue to vigorously defend itself against this claim through the arbitration process.

In March 2012, Davina Hurt and Dominic Hill filed a lawsuit against Commerce Energy Inc. Just Energy Marketing Corp. and the Company (collectively referred to as “Just Energy”) in the Ohio federal court claiming entitlement to payment of minimum wage and overtime under Ohio wage claim laws and the federal Fair Labor Standards Act (“FLSA”) on their own behalf and similarly situated door-to-door sales representatives who sold for Commerce in certain regions of the United States. The Court granted the plaintiffs’ request to certify the lawsuit as a class action. Approximately 1,800 plaintiffs opted-into the federal minimum wage and overtime claims, and approximately 8,000 plaintiffs were certified as part of the Ohio state overtime claims. A jury trial on the liability phase was completed on October 6, 2014. The jury reached a verdict that supports the plaintiffs’ class and collective action that certain individuals were not properly classified as outside salespeople in order to qualify for an exemption under the minimum wage and overtime requirements pursuant to the FLSA and Ohio wage and hour laws. Potential amounts owing have yet to be determined and will be subject to a separate damage phase proceeding which remains unscheduled by the Court. On January 9, 2015, the Court struck plaintiffs’ damage expert report based primarily on the fact that the report relied on an unreliable survey Just Energy disagrees with the result of the October trial and is of the opinion that it is not supported by existing law and precedent. Just Energy strongly believes it complied with the law, continues to vigorously defend the claims and intends to appeal adverse findings.

In August 2013, Levonna Wilkins, a former door-to-door independent contractor for Just Energy Illinois Corp. (“Just Energy Illinois”) filed a lawsuit against Just Energy Illinois, Commerce Energy, Inc., Just Energy Marketing Corp. and the Company (collectively referred to as “Just Energy”) in the Illinois federal district court claiming entitlement to payment of minimum wage and overtime under Illinois wage claim laws and the federal Fair Labor Standards Act (“FLSA”) on her own behalf and similarly situated door-to-door sales representatives who sold in Illinois. On March 13, 2015, the Court granted Wilkins’ request to certify the lawsuit as a class action to include a class made up of Illinois sales representatives who sold for Just Energy Illinois and Commerce. Just Energy filed a motion for reconsideration objecting to the class definition and requested that the Court revise its ruling to exclude sales representatives who sold for Commerce. Just Energy will continue to vigorously contest this matter.

Controls and procedures

An evaluation was performed under the supervision and with the participation of Company’s management, including the Co-Chief Executive Officers and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in the rules of the US Securities and Exchange Commission and Canadian Securities Administrators, as of March 31, 2015. Based on that evaluation, the Company’s management, including the Co- Chief Executive Officers and Chief Financial Officer, concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of March 31, 2015.
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Report of management on internal control over financial reporting

The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting for the company. The Company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records, that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorization of the Company’s management and directors; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

The Company’s management has used the criteria established in the 1992 Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission to assess, with the participation of the Co- Chief Executive Officers and Chief Financial Officer, the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Based on this assessment management has concluded that as at March 31, 2015, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was effective based on the applicable criteria. The effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting has been audited by the independent auditors, Ernst & Young LLP, a registered public accounting firm that has also audited the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company as of and for the year ended March 31,2015. Their Report of Internal Controls under Standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), included in the Consolidated Financial Statements, expresses an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2015.

Changes in internal control over financial reporting

During the year and quarter ended March 31, 2015, there have been no changes in the Company’s policies and procedures and other processes that comprise its internal control over financial reporting, that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting

Corporate Governance

Just Energy is committed to maintaining transparency in its operations and ensuring its approach to governance meets all recommended standards. Full disclosure of Just Energy’s compliance with existing corporate governance rules is available at www.justenergygroup.com and is included in Just Energy’s Management Proxy Circular. Just Energy actively monitors the corporate governance and disclosure environment to ensure timely compliance with current and future requirements.

Outlook

Fiscal 2015 was a remarkable year for Just Energy, as the Company delivered excellent financial results and made significant progress towards achieving its objective of becoming a premiere, world-class provider of energy management solutions. The energy management industry is bringing value-add products to market that address the transformation in how energy will be consumed in the future. The retail energy industry has historically been viewed as offering only opaque financial instruments that yielded little value and which consumers didn’t fully understand. Today, technology and innovative products make it a dynamic industry adding real value to consumers and providing significant growth opportunities for companies with sales and marketing expertise that can provide exceptional customer service.

Just Energy has the longevity, size, independence, and forward-thinking solutions to capitalize on this emerging opportunity and disrupt the traditional utility model. The Company made significant strides along many of the critical objectives it set out to accomplish in fiscal 2015. However, there is more to be done along these objectives in order to fully establish the platform upon which to
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transform the Company and execute the strategy effectively – a strategy that will position Just Energy to fully participate in this changing macro dynamic in how individuals will consume energy and manage their energy needs in the future.

Fiscal 2015 marked the 18th consecutive year of net customer additions for Just Energy, reflecting the Company’s ability to meet the evolving, modern demands of today’s consumers. The Company now serves over two million individual customers, consuming the equivalent energy of 4.7 million residential customers. The Company foresees near term growth in its customer base in line with that experienced over the past three years. Keys to that growth will be improved attrition and continued strong renewal rates. New product offerings including bundling have shown lower attrition as compared with single product offerings. Just Energy will look to broaden its geographical reach through new product innovation.

It’s important to note that the Company’s has the ability to grow its large, established base business, and grow earnings per customer at the same time. The margin per customer improvements achieved in fiscal 2015 in both the residential and commercial business are directly related to the ongoing commitment to Just Energy’s margin improvement initiative. While competition is certain to come and go from the space over time, the Company believes it can continue to drive margin improvement that can be sustained over the long term as a result of the Company’s innovative new products with more appeal and value for customers. This has continued to allow Just Energy to increase its margin without sacrificing customers. As such, the Company expects to continue replacing lost customers by signing new, higher margin customers throughout fiscal 2016. This improved profitability per customer adds to the Company’s future margins over and above growth in the customer base.

Going forward, Just Energy expects administrative cost growth to be lower than margin growth. However, the majority of the Company’s expenses are denominated in US dollars, offsetting some of the positive impact on margin.

Selling and marketing expense is transforming with the evolution of Just Energy’s sales channels. These costs grew by 19% in fiscal 2015, compared to customer addition growth of 5% year-over-year. This reflects a shift from largely up-front commission structures in the door-to-door channel to residual commissions for online and broker sales. Selling and marketing costs are expected to grow more quickly than customers and margins until the mix of selling channels stabilizes.

The result of the expected customer growth, continued margin improvements, and ongoing cost controls will drive Base EBITDA growth in fiscal 2016. Just Energy has provided a Base EBITDA guidance range for fiscal 2016 of $193 million to $203 million for the full year. The midpoint of the range would result in 10% Base EBITDA growth over the strong performance of fiscal 2015.

During fiscal 2016, Just Energy expects to become a federal tax payer in Canada. The Company estimates its Canadian federal tax liability will be approximately $15 million. Moving forward, the Company will be a cash tax payer. Just Energy is currently conducting business in the United States, Canada, and the United Kingdom and is working to create a tax efficient solution in those jurisdictions.

As reported on the consolidated statements of financial position, Just Energy’s cash and long-term debt were $78.8 million and $676.5 million, respectively, as of March 31, 2015, resulting in a ratio of new debt to Base EBITDA of 3.3 times.

Debt reduction remains a clear priority for Just Energy. During the year the Company took swift action to improve the financial position of the business by reducing the long-term debt by 27%, from $930.0 million at fiscal 2014 year-end to $676.5 million as of Mach 31, 2015. While these improvements significantly improved the Company’s financial footing and flexibility, and adhere to the commitment to maintain a capital light business model, the Company feels there is more to be done to further strengthen the balance sheet and improve the debt position. As such, management has defined a logical, financially prudent approach to further reducing debt that also recognizes certain restrictions on the debt. The Company is already in discussions with the parties involved to reach a mutually agreeable resolution. One of the first steps in further deleveraging is renewing the credit facility. Initial discussions with the participating lenders are
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positive and management expects to finalize and close on the credit facility renewal during the fiscal second quarter.

Base Funds from operations were up 4% in fiscal 2015, with lower growth compared to EBITDA as a result of higher cash taxes and finance costs. The result was a payout ratio of 94%, down from 139% in fiscal 2014. Recognizing the pro forma $0.50 annual dividend, the payout ratio would have been 81% in fiscal 2015. The Company anticipates lower finance costs based on lower debt in the coming year, with higher cash taxes as the sale of NHS absorbs future tax benefits.

In fiscal 2015, Just Energy reached a very unique, strategic agreement with Clean Power Finance (CPF) to enter the high-growth residential solar markets in a manner that leverages Just Energy’s core competencies in sales and marketing, tapping into Just Energy’s two million captive customers and the ten million doors the Just Energy team knocks on annually. CPF’s online platform allows Just Energy to sell residential solar finance products and connects the Company with a national network of qualified solar installation professionals. Under the agreement, Just Energy will act as an originator of residential solar deals that are financed and installed via CPF. Just Energy will also be able to sell complimentary energy management solutions to solar customers.

The Just Energy solar pilot program was launched in California and New York during March and May, respectively. While it is still early in the pilot phase of the business, the initial results and feedback has been positive. The Company is successfully selling solar deals in California and ramping up in New York. The solar plan is to continue to carefully expand the solar footprint to other states where it makes economic sense while pushing the industry forward to develop more value-add, customer friendly products. The Company expects to begin reporting the financial contributions from solar as a separate reporting segment during fiscal 2016.

In summary, Just Energy is in a very solid position and poised for success in 2016. The core business is healthy and growing as seen by its record number of new customer additions. The Company is committed to achieving measureable financial improvement through prudent financial management and customer margin expansion. It has a clear strategy for the future, which will serve as the springboard to capturing significant global opportunities. Just Energy has a leading market position in all of its geographic territories, and its sales and marketing expertise will allow the Company to meet the evolving demands of its target customers.
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Exhibit 1.3

Management’s responsibility for financial reporting

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Just Energy Group Inc. and all the information in this annual report are the responsibility of management and have been approved by the Board of Directors.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. The consolidated financial statements include some amounts that are based on estimates and judgments. Management has determined such amounts on a reasonable basis in order to ensure that the consolidated financial statements are presented fairly, in all material respects. Financial information presented elsewhere in this annual report has been prepared on a consistent basis with that in the consolidated financial statements.

Just Energy Group Inc. maintains systems of internal accounting and administrative controls. These systems are designed to provide reasonable assurance that the financial information is relevant, reliable and accurate and that the Company assets are properly accounted for and adequately safeguarded.

The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that management fulfills its responsibilities for financial reporting and is ultimately responsible for reviewing and approving the consolidated financial statements. The Board carries out this responsibility principally through its Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee is appointed by the Board of Directors and is composed entirely of non-management directors. The Audit Committee meets periodically with management and the external auditors, to discuss auditing, internal controls, accounting policy and financial reporting matters. The committee reviews the consolidated financial statements with both management and the external auditors and reports its findings to the Board of Directors before such statements are approved by the Board.

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, the external auditors, in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) on behalf of the shareholders. The external auditors have full and free access to the Audit Committee, with and without the presence of management, to discuss their audit and their findings as to the integrity of the financial reporting and the effectiveness of the system of internal controls.

On behalf of Just Energy Group Inc.


	/s/ James Lewis
	/s/ Deb Merril
	/s/ Pat McCullough

	James Lewis
	Deb Merril
	Pat McCullough

	Co-Chief Executive Officer
	Co-Chief Executive Officer
	Chief Financial Officer

	Toronto, Canada May 14, 2015
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Management’s report on internal control over financial reporting

The management of Just Energy Group Inc. (“the Company”) is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, and has designed such internal control over financial reporting to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

Management has used “Internal Control – Integrated Framework” to evaluate the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, which is a recognized and suitable framework developed by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (1992 framework) (COSO). Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management has evaluated the design and operation of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2015, and has concluded that such internal control over financial reporting is effective.

Ernst & Young LLP, the independent auditors appointed by the shareholders of the Company who have audited the consolidated financial statements, have also audited internal control over financial reporting and have issued their report on the following page of this annual report.


	/s/ James Lewis
	/s/ Deb Merril
	/s/ Pat McCullough

	James Lewis
	Deb Merril
	Pat McCullough

	Co-Chief Executive Officer
	Co-Chief Executive Officer
	Chief Financial Officer

	Toronto, Canada May 14, 2015
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Independent auditors’ report of registered public accounting firm

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Just Energy Group Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Just Energy Group Inc., which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at March 31, 2015 and 2014, and the consolidated statements of income (loss), comprehensive income (loss), changes in shareholders’ deficit and cash flows for the years ended March 31, 2015 and 2014, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements, evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Just Energy Group Inc. as at March 31, 2015 and 2014 and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years ended March 31, 2015 and 2014 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

OTHER MATTER

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), Just Energy Group Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2015, based on the criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (1992 framework) and our report dated May 14, 2014 expressed an unqualified opinion on Just Energy Group Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting.


/s/ Ernst & Young LLP


Chartered Accountants

Licensed Public Accountants

Toronto, Canada

May 14, 2015
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Independent auditors’ report of registered public accounting firm

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Just Energy Group Inc.

We have audited Just Energy Group Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2015, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (1992 framework) (the “COSO criteria”). Just Energy Group Inc.’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying management certification report on internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on Just Energy Group Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that: (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company;

(2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Just Energy Group Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2015, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated statements of financial position of Just Energy Group Inc. as at March 31, 2015 and 2014, and the consolidated statements of income (loss), comprehensive income (loss), shareholders’ deficit and cash flows for the years ended March 31, 2015 and 2014, and our report dated May 14, 2015 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.


/s/ Ernst & Young LLP


Chartered Accountants

Licensed Public Accountants

Toronto, Canada

May 14, 2015
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Consolidated statements of financial position


As at March 31 (in thousands of Canadian dollars)


ASSETS

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets

Contract initiation costs
Other non-current financial assets

Non-current receivables
Investments

Deferred tax asset

Current assets






	Notes
	
	2015
	
	2014

	5
	$
	23,815
	$
	176,720

	6
	
	348,511
	
	404,928

	
	
	20,440
	
	75,731

	11
	
	1,091
	
	31,696

	
	
	–
	
	11,175

	9
	
	9,627
	
	9,224

	16
	
	25,374
	
	1,676

	
	
	428,858
	
	711,150
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	Inventory
	
	–
	
	9,205
	

	Gas delivered in excess of consumption
	
	1,064
	
	7
	

	Gas in storage
	
	5,167
	
	2,387
	

	Current trade and other receivables
	
	459,427
	
	426,971
	

	Accrued gas receivables
	
	45,992
	
	48,634
	

	Unbilled revenues
	
	219,630
	
	170,661
	

	Prepaid expenses and deposits
	
	22,875
	
	21,699
	

	Other current financial assets
	11
	4,834
	
	103,502
	

	Corporate tax recoverable
	
	13,067
	
	9,754
	

	Restricted cash
	7
	17,462
	
	12,017
	

	Cash and cash equivalents
	
	78,814
	
	20,401
	

	
	
	868,332
	
	825,238
	

	Assets classified as held for sale
	
	–
	
	106,262
	

	
	
	868,332
	
	931,500
	

	TOTAL ASSETS
	$
	1,297,190
	$
	1,642,650
	

	DEFICIT AND LIABILITIES
	
	
	
	
	

	Deficit attributable to equity holders of the parent
	
	
	
	
	

	Deficit
	$
	(1,828,495)
	$
	(1,294,987)
	

	Accumulated other comprehensive income
	12
	56,393
	
	71,997
	

	Shareholders’ capital
	13
	1,063,423
	
	1,033,557
	

	Equity component of convertible debentures
	
	25,795
	
	25,795
	

	Contributed surplus
	
	44,062
	
	65,569
	

	Shareholders’ deficit
	
	(638,822)
	
	(98,069)
	

	Non-controlling interest
	
	–
	
	6,427
	

	TOTAL DEFICIT
	
	(638,822)
	
	(91,642)
	

	Non-current liabilities
	
	
	
	
	

	Long-term debt
	15
	676,480
	
	930,027
	

	Provisions
	17
	4,307
	
	3,760
	

	Deferred lease inducements
	
	604
	
	813
	

	Other non-current financial liabilities
	11
	299,320
	
	56,297
	

	Deferred tax liability
	16
	–
	
	32,935
	

	
	
	980,711
	
	1,023,832
	

	Current liabilities
	
	510,470
	
	
	

	Trade and other payables
	
	
	
	485,471
	

	Accrued gas payable
	
	28,944
	
	34,589
	

	Deferred revenue
	
	1,573
	
	82
	

	Income taxes payable
	
	13,152
	
	6,280
	

	Current portion of long-term debt
	15
	23
	
	51,999
	

	Provisions
	17
	14,899
	
	3,052
	

	Other current financial liabilities
	11
	386,240
	
	77,135
	

	
	
	955,301
	
	658,608
	

	Liabilities relating to assets classified as held for sale
	
	–
	
	51,852
	

	
	
	955,301
	
	710,460
	

	TOTAL LIABILITIES
	
	1,936,012
	
	1,734,292
	

	TOTAL DEFICIT AND LIABILITIES
	$
	1,297,190
	$
	1,642,650
	

	Commitments and Guarantees (Note 26)
	
	
	
	
	

	See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
	
	
	
	
	



Approved on behalf of Just Energy Group Inc.


/s/ Rebecca MacDonald	/s/ Michael Kirby

Rebecca MacDonald	Michael Kirby

Executive Chair	Corporate Director
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Consolidated statements of income (loss)

For the years ended March 31

(in thousands of Canadian dollars, except where indicated and per share amounts)

	CONTINUING OPERATIONS
	Notes
	
	2015
	
	2014
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Sales
	19
	$
	3,895,940
	$
	3,534,614
	

	Cost of sales
	18(b)
	
	3,295,871
	
	3,029,083
	

	GROSS MARGIN
	
	
	600,069
	
	505,531
	

	EXPENSES
	
	
	154,222
	
	
	

	Administrative expenses
	
	
	
	
	116,713
	

	Selling and marketing expenses
	
	
	225,243
	
	189,890
	

	Other operating expenses
	18(a)
	
	114,590
	
	99,794
	

	
	
	
	
	494,055
	
	406,397
	

	Operating profit before the following
	
	
	106,014
	
	99,134
	

	Finance costs
	15
	
	(73,680)
	
	(69,441)
	

	Change in fair value of derivative instruments
	11
	
	(635,204)
	
	186,142
	

	Other income (loss)
	
	
	(2,396)
	
	2,921
	

	Income (loss) before income taxes
	
	
	(605,266)
	
	218,756
	

	Provision for (recovery of) income taxes
	16
	
	(28,889)
	
	48,190
	

	PROFIT (LOSS) FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS
	
	$
	(576,377)
	$
	170,566
	

	DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
	
	
	132,673
	
	
	

	Income (loss) from discontinued operations
	8
	
	
	
	(33,625)
	

	PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR
	
	$
	(443,704)
	$
	136,941
	

	Attributable to:
	
	$
	(446,785)
	
	
	

	Shareholders of Just Energy
	
	
	
	$
	135,907
	

	Non-controlling interest
	10
	
	3,081
	
	1,034
	

	PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR
	
	$
	(443,704)
	$
	136,941
	

	Earnings (loss) per share from continuing operations
	21
	
	
	
	
	

	Basic
	
	$
	(4.01)
	$
	1.15
	

	Diluted
	
	$
	(4.01)
	$
	1.11
	

	Earnings (loss) per share from discontinued operations
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Basic
	
	$
	0.94
	$
	(0.20)
	

	Diluted
	
	$
	0.91
	$
	(0.20)
	

	Earnings (loss) per share available to shareholders
	21
	
	
	
	
	

	Basic
	
	$
	(3.07)
	$
	0.95
	

	Diluted
	
	
	$
	(3.07)
	$
	0.94
	



See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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Consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss)


For the years ended March 31 (in thousands of Canadian dollars)
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PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR

Other comprehensive income (loss) to be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent years:
[image: ]

Unrealized gain (loss) on translation of foreign operations from continuing operations

Unrealized gain on translation of foreign operations from discontinued operations
[image: ]

Realized loss on translation of foreign operations sold

Amortization of deferred unrealized loss on discontinued hedges, net of income taxes of nil (2014 – $207) Other comprehensive income (loss) to be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent years, net of tax
[image: ]
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX
[image: ]






	Notes
	2015
	
	2014

	$
	(443,704)
	$
	136,941

	12
	
	
	

	
	(13,139)
	
	27,287

	
	–
	
	2,556

	
	(2,465)
	
	–

	
	–
	
	(5,001)

	
	(15,604)
	
	24,842

	$
	(459,308)
	$
	161,783





	Total comprehensive income (loss) attributable to:
	
	
	
	

	Shareholders of Just Energy
	$
	(462,389)
	$
	160,749

	Non-controlling interest
	
	3,081
	
	1,034

	
	
	
	
	

	TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX
	$
	(459,308)
	$
	161,783

	
	
	
	
	

	See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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Consolidated statements of changes in shareholders’ deficit

	For the years ended March 31 (in thousands of Canadian dollars)
	
	
	
	
	

	ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE SHAREHOLDERS
	Notes
	2015
	
	2014
	

	
	
	
	
	
	

	Accumulated earnings
	
	
	
	
	

	Accumulated earnings, beginning of year
	$
	216,218
	$
	87,496
	

	Loss on acquisition of non-controlling interest
	
	–
	
	(7,185)
	

	Income (loss) for the period, attributable to shareholders
	
	(446,785)
	
	135,907
	

	Accumulated earnings (deficit), end of year
	
	(230,567)
	
	216,218
	

	
	
	
	
	
	

	DIVIDENDS
	
	
	
	
	

	Dividends, beginning of year
	
	(1,511,205)
	
	(1,387,776)
	

	Dividends
	25
	(86,723)
	
	(123,429)
	

	Dividends, end of year
	
	(1,597,928)
	
	(1,511,205)
	

	DEFICIT
	$
	(1,828,495)
	$
	(1,294,987)
	

	ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
	12
	
	
	
	

	Accumulated other comprehensive income, beginning of year
	$
	71,997
	$
	47,155
	

	Other comprehensive income (loss)
	
	(15,604)
	
	24,842
	

	Accumulated other comprehensive income, end of year
	$
	56,393
	$
	71,997
	

	
	
	
	
	
	

	SHAREHOLDERS’ CAPITAL
	13
	
	
	
	

	Shareholders’ capital, beginning of year
	$
	1,033,557
	$
	1,018,082
	

	Share-based compensation awards exercised
	
	26,272
	
	7,240
	

	Dividend reinvestment plan
	
	3,594
	
	8,235
	

	Shareholders’ capital, end of year
	$
	1,063,423
	$
	1,033,557
	

	
	
	
	
	
	

	EQUITY COMPONENT OF CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES
	
	
	
	
	

	Balance, beginning of year
	$
	25,795
	$
	25,795
	

	Balance, end of year
	$
	25,795
	$
	25,795
	

	
	
	
	
	
	

	CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS
	
	
	
	
	

	Balance, beginning of year
	$
	65,569
	$
	70,893
	

	Reclassification of non-controlling interest on dissolution of entity
	
	(2,443)
	
	–
	

	Add: Share-based compensation awards
	18(a)
	7,120
	
	1,796
	

	Non-cash deferred share grant distributions
	
	88
	
	120
	

	Less: Share-based compensation awards exercised
	
	(26,272)
	
	(7,240)
	

	Balance, end of year
	$
	44,062
	$
	65,569
	

	
	
	
	
	
	

	NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST
	
	
	
	
	

	Balance, beginning of year
	$
	6,427
	$
	(702)
	

	Disposal of non-controlling interest
	
	(5,602)
	
	–
	

	Reclassification of non-controlling interest on dissolution of entity
	
	2,443
	
	–
	

	Investment by non-controlling shareholders
	
	–
	
	11,063
	

	Foreign exchange impact on non-controlling interest
	
	66
	
	1,176
	

	Distributions to non-controlling shareholders
	
	(6,415)
	
	(6,144)
	

	Income attributable to non-controlling interest
	
	3,081
	
	1,034
	

	Balance, end of year
	$
	–
	$
	6,427
	

	TOTAL DEFICIT
	$
	(638,822)
	$
	(91,642)
	



See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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Consolidated statements of cash flows

	For the years ended March 31 (in thousands of Canadian dollars)
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Notes
	
	2015
	
	2014

	Net inflow (outflow) of cash related to the following activities
	
	
	
	
	

	OPERATING
	
	
	
	
	

	Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes
	
	$
	(605,266)
	$
	218,756

	Items not affecting cash
	
	
	
	
	

	Amortization of intangible assets and related supply contracts
	18(a)
	
	41,814
	
	47,994

	Amortization of contract initiation costs
	
	
	29,249
	
	16,884

	Amortization of property, plant and equipment
	18(a)
	
	3,579
	
	4,151

	Amortization included in cost of sales
	18(b)
	
	1,398
	
	440

	Share-based compensation
	18(a)
	
	7,120
	
	1,598

	Financing charges, non-cash portion
	
	
	15,609
	
	14,271

	Other
	
	
	(227)
	
	(242)

	Change in fair value of derivative instruments
	
	
	635,204
	
	(186,142)

	Cash inflow (outflow) from operating activities of discontinued operations
	
	
	20,902
	
	6,652

	
	
	
	754,648
	
	(94,394)

	Adjustment required to reflect net cash receipts from gas sales
	27
	
	(2,698)
	
	(6,186)

	Net change in non-cash working capital balances
	28
	
	(44,458)
	
	45,765

	
	
	
	102,226
	
	163,941

	Income taxes recovered (paid)
	
	
	(6,014)
	
	1,457

	Cash inflow from operating activities
	
	
	96,212
	
	165,398

	INVESTING
	
	
	
	
	

	Purchase of property, plant and equipment
	
	
	(5,769)
	
	(7,294)

	Purchase of intangible assets
	
	
	(7,632)
	
	(7,480)

	Proceeds on disposal of subsidiaries
	
	
	195,510
	
	–

	Acquisition of minority interest
	
	
	–
	
	(7,185)

	Contract initiation costs
	
	
	(29,831)
	
	(23,164)

	Cash outflow from investing activities of discontinued operations
	
	
	(18,713)
	
	(68,120)

	Cash inflow (outflow) from investing activities
	
	
	133,565
	
	(113,243)

	FINANCING
	
	
	
	
	

	Dividends paid
	
	
	(83,041)
	
	(115,072)

	Issuance of long-term debt
	
	
	310,279
	
	601,534

	Repayment of long-term debt
	
	
	(381,359)
	
	(573,894)

	Debt issuance costs
	
	
	(370)
	
	(11,245)

	Distributions to minority shareholder
	
	
	(6,415)
	
	(6,143)

	Cash inflow (outflow) from financing activities of discontinued operations
	
	
	(15,560)
	
	38,443

	Cash outflow from financing activities
	
	
	(176,466)
	
	(66,377)

	Effect of foreign currency translation on cash balances
	
	
	7,037
	
	1,276

	Net cash inflow (outflow)
	
	
	60,348
	
	(12,946)

	Cash and cash equivalents reclassified to assets held for sale
	
	
	(1,935)
	
	(5,151)

	Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
	
	
	20,401
	
	38,498

	Cash and cash equivalents, end of year
	
	$
	78,814
	$
	20,401

	Supplemental cash flow information:
	
	
	
	
	

	Interest paid
	
	$
	56,505
	$
	57,097



See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

For the year ended March 31, 2015

(in thousands of Canadian dollars, except where indicated and per share amounts)


· ORGANIZATION

Just Energy Group Inc. (“JEGI”, “Just Energy” or the “Company”) is a corporation established under the laws of Canada to hold securities and to distribute the income of its directly or indirectly owned operating subsidiaries and affiliates. The registered office of Just Energy is First Canadian Place, 100 King Street West, Toronto, Ontario, Canada. The consolidated financial statements consist of Just Energy and its subsidiaries and affiliates. The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on May 14, 2015.

· OPERATIONS

Just Energy’s business involves the sale of natural gas and/or electricity to residential and commercial customers under long-term fixed-price, price- protected or variable-priced contracts. Just Energy markets its gas and electricity contracts in Canada, the United States and the United Kingdom under the following trade names: Just Energy, Hudson Energy, Commerce Energy, Amigo Energy, Tara Energy, Green Star Energy and TerraPass. By fixing the price of natural gas or electricity under its fixed-price or price-protected program contracts for a period of up to five years, Just Energy’s customers offset their exposure to changes in the price of these essential commodities. Variable rate products allow customers to maintain competitive rates while retaining the ability to lock into a fixed price at their discretion. Just Energy derives its margin or gross profit from the difference between the price at which it is able to sell the commodities to its customers and the related price at which it purchases the associated volumes from its suppliers.

In addition, Just Energy markets smart thermostats, offering the thermostats as a stand-alone unit or bundled with certain commodity products.

Just Energy also offers green products through its JustGreen programs. The JustGreen electricity product offers customers the option of having all or a portion of their electricity sourced from renewable green sources such as wind, run of the river hydro or biomass. The JustGreen gas product offers carbon offset credits that allow customers to reduce or eliminate the carbon footprint of their homes or businesses. Additional green products allow customers to offset their carbon footprint without buying energy commodity products and can be offered in all states and provinces without being dependent on energy deregulation.

Just Energy markets its product offerings through a number of sales channels including door-to-door marketing, broker and affinity relationships, and online marketing. The online marketing of gas and electricity contracts is primarily conducted through Just Ventures LLC and Just Ventures L.P. (collectively, “Just Ventures”), a joint venture in which Just Energy holds a 50% equity interest.

During the year ended March 31, 2015 and further described in Note 8, Just Energy disposed of its National Home Services (“NHS”) and Hudson Energy Solar Corp.

(“HES”) divisions.

· SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Basis of presentation and statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, the functional currency of Just Energy, and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand, except where indicated. The Company’s consolidated financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis of accounting, except as disclosed in the accounting policies set out below.

(b)	Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Just Energy and its directly or indirectly owned subsidiaries as at March 31, 2015. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition and control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases. Control is achieved when the Company is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect these returns through its power over the investee. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as Just Energy, using consistent accounting policies. All intercompany balances, income, expenses, and unrealized gains and losses resulting from intercompany transactions are eliminated on consolidation.

(c) Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash

All highly liquid temporary cash investments with an original maturity of three months or less when purchased are considered to be cash equivalents. For the purpose of the consolidated statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

Restricted cash includes cash and cash equivalents, where the availability of funds is restricted by debt arrangements or held in escrow as part of prior acquisition agreements.

(d)	Accrued gas receivables/accrued gas payable or gas delivered in excess of consumption/deferred revenue

Accrued gas receivables are stated at fair value and result when customers consume more gas than has been delivered by Just Energy to local distribution companies (“LDCs”). Accrued gas payable represents the obligation to the LDCs with respect to gas consumed by customers in excess of that delivered to the LDCs.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Gas delivered to LDCs in excess of consumption by customers is stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Collections from customers in advance of their consumption of gas result in deferred revenue.

Assuming normal weather and consumption patterns, during the winter months customers will have consumed more than what was delivered, resulting in the recognition of unbilled revenues/accrued gas payable; however, in the summer months, customers will have consumed less than what was delivered, resulting in the recognition of gas delivered in excess of consumption/deferred revenue.

These adjustments are applicable solely to the Ontario, Manitoba, Quebec, Saskatchewan and Michigan gas markets.

(e) Gas in storage

Gas in storage represents the gas delivered to the LDCs in Illinois, Indiana, New York, Ohio, Georgia, Maryland, California and Alberta. The balance will fluctuate as gas is injected or withdrawn from storage.

Gas in storage is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value with cost being determined on a weighted average basis. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business.

(f) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, net of any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Cost includes the purchase price and, where relevant, any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary and/or the present value of all dismantling and removal costs. Where major components of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the components are recognized and depreciated separately. Just Energy recognizes in the carrying amount, the cost of replacing part of an item when the cost is incurred and if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied with the item can be reliably measured. When significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, Just Energy recognizes such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly. Likewise, when a major inspection is performed, its cost is recognized in the carrying amount of the plant and equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. All other repair and maintenance costs are recognized in the consolidated statements of income as a general and administrative expense when incurred. Depreciation is provided over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

	Asset category
	Depreciation method
	Rate/useful life

	Furniture and fixtures
	Declining balance
	20%

	Office equipment
	Declining balance
	20%

	Computer equipment
	Declining balance
	30%

	Leasehold improvements
	Straight-line
	Term of lease

	Thermostats
	Straight-line
	5 years



An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially recognized is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset is included in the consolidated statements of income.

The useful lives and methods of depreciation are reviewed at each financial year-end and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate.

(g)	Goodwill

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, which is the excess of the cost of the business combination over Just Energy’s share in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities. Any negative difference is recognized directly in the consolidated statements of income.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost, less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of Just Energy’s operating segments that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets and liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those segments.

(h)	Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired outside of a business combination are measured at cost on initial recognition. Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are recorded at fair value on the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortization and/or accumulated impairment losses. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite.

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortized over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortization method and amortization period of an intangible asset with a finite useful life is reviewed at least once annually. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are accounted for by changing the amortization period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates. The amortization expense related to intangible assets with finite lives is recognized in the consolidated statements of income in the expense category associated with the function of the intangible assets.

Intangible assets consist of gas customer contracts, electricity customer contracts, sales network, brand and goodwill, acquired through business combinations and asset purchases, as well as software, commodity billing and settlement systems and information technology system development.
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Internally generated intangible assets are capitalized when the product or process is technically and commercially feasible, the future economic benefit is measurable, Just Energy can demonstrate how the asset will generate future economic benefits and Just Energy has sufficient resources to complete development. The cost of an internally generated intangible asset comprises all directly attributable costs necessary to create, produce and prepare the asset to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.

The brand and goodwill are considered to have indefinite useful lives and are not amortized, but rather tested annually for impairment. The assessment of indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether the indefinite life continues to be supportable.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, and are recognized in the consolidated statements of income when the asset is derecognized.

	Intangible asset category
	Amortization method
	Rate

	Customer contracts
	Straight-line
	Term of contract

	Contract initiation costs
	Straight-line
	Term of contract

	Commodity billing and settlement systems
	Straight-line
	5 years

	Sales network and affinity relationships
	Straight-line
	5–8 years

	Information technology system development
	Straight-line
	5 years

	Software
	Straight-line
	1 year

	Other intangible assets
	Straight-line
	5 years



(i) Impairment of non-financial assets

Just Energy assesses whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired at each reporting date. If such an indication exists or when annual testing for an asset is required, Just Energy estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. The recoverable amounts of goodwill and intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are estimated at least annually. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s (“CGU”) fair value less costs to sell and its value-in-use. Value-in-use is determined by discounting estimated future pre-tax cash flows using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects the current market assessment of the time value of money and the specific risks of the asset. In determining fair value less costs to sell, an appropriate valuation model has to be used. The recoverable amount of assets that do not generate independent cash flows is determined based on the cash- generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognized in the consolidated statements of income if an asset’s carrying amount or that of the cash-generating unit to which it is allocated is higher than its recoverable amount. Impairment losses of cash-generating units are first charged against the value of assets in proportion to their carrying amount.

In the consolidated statements of income, an impairment loss is recognized in the expense category associated with the function of the impaired asset. For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognized impairment

losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, Just Energy estimates the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s recoverable amount.

A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognized. The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of amortization, had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior years. Such a reversal is recognized in the consolidated statements of income.

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually at year-end and when circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing the recoverable amount of each segment to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the segment is less than its carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognized. Impairment losses relating to goodwill cannot be reversed in future periods.

(j) Leases

The determination of whether an arrangement is or contains a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement at the inception date and whether fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets, or the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.

Just Energy as a lessee

Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense in the consolidated statements of income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Just Energy as a lessor

Leases where Just Energy does not transfer substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognized over the lease term on the same basis as rental income.
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(k) Financial instruments Financial assets and liabilities
Just Energy classifies its financial assets as either (i) financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, (ii) loans and receivables or (iii) other financial assets, and its financial liabilities as either (i) financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss or (ii) other financial liabilities. Appropriate classification of financial assets and liabilities is determined at the time of initial recognition or when reclassified in the consolidated statements of financial position.

Financial instruments are recognized on the trade date, which is the date on which Just Energy commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held-for-trading and financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets are classified as fair value through profit and loss if they are acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. This category includes derivative financial instruments entered into that are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined by IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (“IAS 39”). Included in this class are primarily physical delivered energy contracts, for which the own-use exemption could not be applied, financially settled energy contracts and foreign currency forward contracts.

An analysis of fair values of financial instruments and further details as to how they are measured are provided in Note 11. Related realized and unrealized gains and losses are included in the consolidated statements of income.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. Assets in this category include receivables. Loans and receivables are initially recognized at fair value net of transaction costs. They are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method less any impairment. The effective interest amortization is included in finance costs in the consolidated statements of income.

Derecognition

A financial asset is derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired or when Just Energy has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset.

Impairment of financial assets

Just Energy assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset is impaired at each reporting date. A financial asset is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that have occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred “loss event”) and that loss event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows that can be reliably estimated.

For financial assets carried at amortized cost, Just Energy first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. If Just Energy determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognized are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has occurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows. The present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognized in income or loss. Interest income continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount and is accrued using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. The interest income is recorded as part of other income in the consolidated statements of income.

Loans and receivables, together with the associated allowance, are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery. If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to other operating costs in the consolidated statements of income.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held-for-trading and financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held-for-trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling in the near term. This category includes derivative financial instruments entered into by Just Energy that are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined by IAS 39. Included in this class are primarily physically delivered energy contracts, for which the own-use exemption could not be applied, financially settled energy contracts and foreign currency forward contracts.

Gains or losses on liabilities held-for-trading are recognized in the consolidated statements of income.
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Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. Financial liabilities include long-term debt issued and are initially measured at fair value. Fair value is the consideration received, net of transaction costs incurred, trade and other payables and bank

indebtedness. Transaction costs related to the long-term debt instruments are included in the value of the instruments and amortized using the effective interest rate method. The effective interest expense is included in finance costs in the consolidated statements of income.

Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in the consolidated statements of income.

(l) Derivative instruments

Just Energy enters into fixed-term contracts with customers to provide electricity and gas at fixed prices. These customer contracts expose Just Energy to changes in consumption as well as changes in the market prices of gas and electricity. To reduce its exposure to movements in commodity prices, Just Energy enters into derivative contracts.

Just Energy analyzes all its contracts, of both a financial and non-financial nature, to identify the existence of any “embedded” derivatives. Embedded derivatives are accounted for separately from the underlying contract at the inception date when their economic characteristics are not closely related to those of the host contract and the host contract is not carried as held-for-trading or designated as fair value through profit or loss. These embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss.

All derivatives are recognized at fair value on the date on which the derivative is entered into and are re-measured to fair value at each reporting date. Derivatives are carried in the consolidated statements of financial position as other financial assets when the fair value is positive and as other financial liabilities when the fair value is negative. Just Energy does not utilize hedge accounting; therefore, changes in the fair value of these derivatives are recorded directly to the consolidated statements of income and are included within change in fair value of derivative instruments.

(m) Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statements of financial position if, and only if, there is currently an enforceable legal right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

(n)	Fair value of financial instruments

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date (i.e., an exit price). The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active markets at each reporting date is determined by reference to quoted market prices, without any deduction for transaction costs.

For financial instruments not traded in an active market, the fair value is determined using appropriate valuation techniques that are recognized by market participants. Such techniques may include using recent arm’s length market transactions, reference to the current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis, or other valuation models. An analysis of fair values of financial instruments and further details as to how they are measured are provided in Note 11.

(o)	Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognized when significant risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the customer. In the case of gas and electricity, transfer of risks and rewards is upon consumption of the commodity. Just Energy recognizes revenue from thermostat leases, based on rental rates over the term commencing from the installation date.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received, excluding discounts, rebates and sales taxes.

The Company assumes credit risk for all customers in Alberta, Illinois, Texas, Michigan, California, Georgia, Delaware and Ohio and for certain large- volume customers in British Columbia. In these markets, the Company ensures that credit review processes are in place prior to the commodity flowing to the customer.

(p)	Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the consolidated financial statements of each of the Company’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”). For U.S. based subsidiaries, this is U.S. dollars and for subsidiaries based in the

U.K. it is British pounds. The consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the parent company’s presentation and functional currency.

Transactions

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at period-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in the consolidated statements of income except when deferred in other comprehensive income (“OCI”) as qualifying net investment hedges.
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Translation of foreign operations

The results and consolidated financial position of all the group entities that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

· assets and liabilities for each consolidated statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of that consolidated statement of financial position; and

· income and expenses for each consolidated statement of income are translated at the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign operations, and of borrowings and other foreign currency instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are recorded to other comprehensive income.

When a foreign operation is partially disposed of or sold, exchange differences that were recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income are recognized in the consolidated statements of income as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.

(q)	Earnings per share amounts

The computation of earnings per share is based on the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year. Diluted earnings per share are computed in a similar way to basic earnings per share except that the weighted average number of shares outstanding is increased to include additional shares assuming the exercise of stock options, restricted share grants (“RSGs”), performance bonus incentive grants (“PBGs”), deferred share grants (“DSGs”) and convertible debentures, if dilutive.

(r) Share-based compensation plans

Equity-based compensation liability

Just Energy accounts for its share-based compensation as equity-settled transactions. The cost of share-based compensation is measured by reference to the fair value at the date on which it was granted. Awards are valued at the grant date and are not adjusted for changes in the prices of the underlying shares and other measurement assumptions. The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognized, together with the corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the performance or service conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant grantee becomes fully entitled to the award. The cumulative expense recognized for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until the vesting period reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and Just Energy’s best estimate of the number of the shares that will ultimately vest. The expense or credit recognized for a period represents the movement in cumulative expense recognized as at the beginning and end of that period.

When options, RSGs, PBGs and DSGs are exercised or exchanged, the amounts credited to contributed surplus are reversed and credited to shareholders’ capital.

The RSG plan is an equity-settled plan with the exception of the cash-out option offered. It provides employees who (i) hold a position below director or (ii) wish to exchange 500 or fewer RSGs to receive cash in lieu of shares. The Company records this financial liability as fair value through profit and loss. Fair value is based on the number of RSGs eligible for the cash-out option and the underlying price of Just Energy’s shares. As at March 31, 2015, the Company recorded $356 (2014 – $560) to other current liabilities with an offsetting adjustment to change in fair value of derivative financial instruments.

(s) Employee future benefits

In Canada, Just Energy offers a long-term wealth accumulation plan (the “Plan”) for all permanent full-time and permanent part-time employees (working more than 26 hours per week). The Plan consists of two components, a Deferred Profit Sharing Plan (“DPSP”) and an Employee Profit Sharing Program (“EPSP”). For participants of the DPSP, Just Energy contributes an amount equal to a maximum of 2% per annum of an employee’s base earnings. For the EPSP, Just Energy contributes an amount up to a maximum of 2% per annum of an employee’s base earnings towards the purchase of shares of Just Energy, on a matching one for one basis.

For U.S. employees, Just Energy has established a long-term savings plan (the “Plan”) for all permanent full-time and part-time employees (working more than 30 hours per week) of its subsidiaries. The Plan consists of two components, a 401(k) and an Employee Unit Purchase Plan (“EUPP”). For participants who are enrolled only in the EUPP, Just Energy contributes an amount up to a maximum of 3% per annum of an employee’s base earnings towards the purchase of Just Energy shares, on a matching one for one basis. For participants who are enrolled only in the 401(k), Just Energy contributes an amount up to a maximum of 4% per annum of an employee’s base earnings, on a matching one for one basis. In the event an employee participates in both the EUPP and 401(k), the maximum Just Energy will contribute is 5% total, comprising 3% to the EUPP and 2% to the 401(k).

Participation in the plans in Canada or the U.S. is voluntary. For the 401(k) plan there is a two-year vesting period beginning from the date of hire and for the EUPP there is a six-month vesting period from the employee’s enrollment date in the plan.

Employees enrolled in the 401(k) plan only receive up to a 4% match. Employees enrolled in the EUPP only receive up to a 3% match. Employees enrolled in both the 401(k) plan and EUPP receive up to a 5% match, comprising 3% to the EUPP and 2% to the 401(k). During the year, Just Energy contributed $2,647 (2014 – $2,507) to the plans, which was paid in full during the year.

Obligations for contributions to the Plan are recognized as an expense in the consolidated statements of income when the employee makes a contribution.
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(t) Income taxes

Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be paid to tax authorities, net of recoveries, based on the tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the dates of the consolidated financial statements.

Just Energy follows the liability method of accounting for deferred income taxes. Under this method, deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the estimated tax consequences attributable to the temporary differences between the carrying value of the assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and their respective tax bases.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, except:

· Where the deferred tax asset/liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

· In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilized except:

· Where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

· In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available, against which the temporary differences can be utilized.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized. Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred tax relating to items recognized outside profit or loss is recognized outside profit or loss. Deferred tax items are recognized in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

(u)	Provisions

Provisions are recognized when Just Energy has a present obligation, legal or constructive, as a result of a past event and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Where Just Energy expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to any provision is presented in the consolidated statements of income, net of any reimbursement. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.

Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognized as a finance cost in the consolidated statements of income.

(v) Selling and marketing expenses and contract initiation costs

Commissions and various other costs related to obtaining and renewing customer contracts are charged to income in the period incurred except as disclosed below:

Commissions related to obtaining and renewing commercial customer contracts are paid in one of the following ways: all or partially upfront or as a residual payment over the term of the contract. If the commission is paid all or partially upfront, it is recorded as contract initiation costs and amortized in selling and marketing expenses over the term for which the associated revenue is earned. If the commission is paid as a residual payment, the amount is expensed as earned.

In addition, commissions related to leasing thermostats are capitalized as part of the cost of the equipment.
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(w)  Green provision and certificates

Just Energy is a retailer of green energy and records a provision to its regulators as green energy sales are recognized. A corresponding cost is included in cost of sales. Just Energy measures its provision based on the extent of green certificates that it holds or has committed to purchase and has recorded this obligation net of its green certificates. Any provision balance in excess of the green certificates held or Just Energy has committed to purchase is measured at fair value. Green certificates are purchased by Just Energy to settle its obligation with the regulators. Just Energy measures these green certificates at cost.

As at March 31, 2015, the net liability position was $18,552 (2014 – net asset of $5,514).

(x) Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations

Just Energy classifies non-current assets and disposal groups as held for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. The criteria for the held for sale classification is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset or disposal group is available for immediate sale in its present condition. Management must be committed to the sale, which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification. Discontinued operations are excluded from the results of continuing operations and are presented as a single amount as profit or loss after tax from discontinued operations in the consolidated statements of income. Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are not depreciated or amortized once classified as held for sale.

(y) New standards, interpretations and amendments adopted by the Company during the year

Effective April 1, 2014, Just Energy adopted IFRIC 21, Levies (“IFRIC 21”). This standard provides guidance on when to recognize a liability for a levy imposed by a government, both for levies that are accounted for in accordance with IAS 37, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, and those where the timing and amount of the levy is certain. IFRIC 21 identifies the obligating event for the recognition of a liability as the activity that triggers the payment of the levy in accordance with the relevant legislation. A liability is recognized progressively if the obligating event occurs over a period of time or, if an obligation is triggered on reaching a minimum threshold, the liability is recognized when that minimum threshold is reached. The adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on consolidated financial statements.

· (I) SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires the use of estimates and assumptions to be made in applying the accounting policies that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income, expenses and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. The estimates and related assumptions are based on previous experience and other factors considered reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making the assumptions about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised. Judgments made by management in the application of IFRS that have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements relate to the following:

Impairment of non-financial assets

Just Energy’s impairment test is based on value-in-use calculations that use a discounted cash flow model. The cash flows are derived from the budget for the next five years and are sensitive to the discount rate used as well as the expected future cash inflows and the growth rate used for extrapolation purposes.

Deferred taxes

Significant management judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets and liabilities that can be recognized, based upon the likely timing and the level of future taxable income realized, including the usage of tax-planning strategies.

Useful life of key property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

The amortization method and useful lives reflect the pattern in which management expects the assets’ future economic benefits to be consumed by Just Energy.

Provisions for litigation

Significant management judgment is required to determine the amount of provisions to record a liability relating to litigation.

Provisions are recognized when Just Energy has a present obligation, legal or constructive, as a result of a past event and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.

Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognized as a finance cost in the consolidated statements of income. Refer to Note 17 for further information.

Trade receivables

Just Energy reviews its individually significant receivables at each reporting date to assess whether an impairment loss should be recorded in the consolidated statements of loss. In particular, judgment by management is required in the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows when determining the impairment loss. In estimating these cash flows, Just Energy makes judgments about the borrower’s financial situation and the fair value of collateral. These estimates are based on assumptions about a number of factors and actual results may differ, resulting in future changes to the allowance.
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Fair value of financial instruments

Where the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the consolidated statements of financial position cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined using valuation techniques including discounted cash flow models. The inputs to these models are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgment is required in establishing fair values. The judgment includes consideration of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk and volatility. Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments. Refer to Note 11 for further details about the assumptions as well as a sensitivity analysis.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries that are not wholly owned by Just Energy require judgment determining the amount of control that Just Energy has over that entity and the appropriate accounting treatments. In these consolidated financial statements, management has determined that Just Energy controls Just Ventures and, therefore, has treated the 50% that is not owned by Just Energy as a non-controlling interest.

(II) ACCOUNTING STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET APPLIED

The standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance of the consolidated financial statements are disclosed below. Just Energy intends to adopt these standards, if applicable, when they become effective.

IFRS 9, Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”) was issued by the IASB on July 24, 2014, and will replace IAS 39. IFRS 9 uses a single approach to determine whether a financial asset is measured at amortized cost or fair value, replacing the multiple rules in IAS 39. The approach in IFRS 9 is based on how an entity manages its financial instruments in the context of its business model and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. Two measurement categories continue to exist to account for financial liabilities in IFRS 9, fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) and amortized cost. Financial liabilities held-for-trading are measured at FVTPL, and all other financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost unless the fair value option is applied. The treatment of embedded derivatives under the new standard is consistent with IAS 39 and is applied to financial liabilities and non-derivative hosts not within the scope of the standard. IFRS 9 also uses a new model for hedge accounting aligning the accounting treatment with risk management activities. IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. Management is currently evaluating the impact of IFRS 9 on the consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements (“IFRS 11”) Accounting for Acquisition of Interest requires an entity acquiring an interest in a joint operation in which the activity of the joint operation constitutes a business to apply, to the extent of its share, all of the principles on business combination accounting in IFRS 3, Business Combinations, and other IFRSs, that do not conflict with the requirements of IFRS 11. Furthermore, entities are required to disclose the information required in those IFRSs in relation to business combinations. The amendments also apply to an entity on the formation of a joint operation if, and only if, an existing business is contributed by the entity to the joint operation on its formation. The amendments also clarify that for the acquisition of an additional interest in a joint operation in which the activity of the joint operation constitutes a business, previously held interests in the joint operation must not be remeasured if the joint operator retains joint control. These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016, with early adoption permitted. The Company does not expect this standard to have any impact on the consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 15, Revenue Recognition (“IFRS 15”) establishes a five-step model that will apply to revenue earned from a contract with a customer, regardless of the type of revenue transaction or industry. The standard will also provide guidance on the recognition and measurement of gains and losses on the sale of some non-financial assets that are not an output of the entity’s ordinary activities. The standard also outlines increased disclosures that will be required, including disaggregation of total revenue, information about performance obligations; changes in contract asset and liability account balances between periods and key judgments and estimates made. Management is currently evaluating the impact of IFRS 15 on the consolidated financial statements.

IAS 27, Equity Method (“IAS 27”) in separate financial statements will allow entities to use the equity method to account for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in their separate financial statements. Entities already applying IFRS and electing to change to the equity method in their separate financial statements will have to apply that change retrospectively. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016 with early adoption permitted.

Just Energy does not expect this standard to have any impact on the consolidated financial statements. Two new annual improvements including Annual Improvements to IFRS 2010–2012 Cycle and Annual Improvements to 2011–2013 Cycle included amendments effective immediately as well as those effective with fiscal years beginning January 1, 2015. Just Energy does not expect these amendments to have any impact on the consolidated financial statements.

IAS 16 and IAS 38, Property, Plant and Equipment and Intangible Assets (“IAS 16 & 38”) Clarification of acceptable methods of depreciation and amortization clarify the principle in IAS 16 & 38 that revenue reflects a pattern of economic benefits that are generated from operating a business (of which the asset is part) rather than the economic benefits that are consumed through use of the asset. As a result, a revenue-based method cannot be used to depreciate property, plant and equipment and may only be used in very limited circumstances to amortize intangible assets. These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016, with early adoption permitted. Just Energy does not expect these amendments to have any impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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· PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT As at March 31, 2015
	
	
	
	
	
	
	Furniture
	
	
	
	
	
	Home
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	Computer
	
	
	
	and
	
	
	
	Office
	
	services
	
	
	
	Leasehold
	
	Solar
	
	
	

	
	
	equipment
	Buildings
	
	fixtures
	
	Vehicles
	equipment
	equipment
	Thermostats
	improvements
	equipment
	
	Total
	

	Cost:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Opening balance – April 1, 2014
	$
	13,691
	$
	–
	$
	6,864
	$
	22
	$
	21,157
	$
	190,618
	$
	6,402
	$
	9,079
	$
	–
	$
	247,833
	

	
	Additions (disposals)
	
	2,368
	
	–
	
	51
	
	–
	
	1,040
	
	–
	
	2,291
	
	19
	
	–
	
	5,769
	

	
	Transfer from NHS
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	3,365
	
	–
	
	–
	
	3,365
	

	
	Disposal on sale of subsidiary
	
	(598)
	
	–
	
	(254)
	
	(18)
	
	(95)
	
	(190,618)
	
	(2,024)
	
	(527)
	
	–
	
	(194,134)
	

	
	Exchange differences
	
	473
	
	–
	
	311
	
	1
	
	469
	
	–
	
	296
	
	95
	
	–
	
	1,645
	

	
	Ending balance, March 31,
	
	15,934
	
	–
	
	6,972
	
	5
	
	22,571
	
	–
	
	10,330
	
	8,666
	
	–
	
	64,478
	

	2015
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Accumulated amortization:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Opening balance – April 1, 2014
	
	(9,263)
	
	–
	
	(5,004)
	
	(17)
	
	(13,536)
	
	(35,380)
	
	(784)
	
	(7,129)
	
	–
	
	(71,113)
	

	
	Amortization charge to cost of
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	(1,398)
	
	–
	
	–
	
	(1,398)
	

	
	sales
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Amortization charge for the year
	
	(1,413)
	
	–
	
	(335)
	
	–
	
	(1,357)
	
	–
	
	–
	
	(474)
	
	–
	
	(3,579)
	

	
	Transfer from NHS
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	(961)
	
	–
	
	–
	
	(961)
	

	
	Disposals
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	164
	
	–
	
	–
	
	164
	

	
	Disposal on sale of subsidiary
	
	726
	
	–
	
	170
	
	13
	
	–
	
	35,380
	
	340
	
	345
	
	–
	
	36,974
	

	Exchange differences
	
	(253)
	
	–
	
	(161)
	
	(1)
	
	(207)
	
	–
	
	(39)
	
	(89)
	
	–
	
	(750)
	

	
	Ending balance, March 31,
	
	(10,203)
	
	–
	
	(5,330)
	
	(5)
	
	(15,100)
	
	–
	
	(2,678)
	
	(7,347)
	
	–
	
	(40,663)
	

	
	2015
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Net book value, March 31, 2015
	$
	5,731
	$
	–
	$
	1,642
	$
	–
	$
	7,471
	$
	–
	$
	7,652
	$
	1,319
	$
	–
	$
	23,815
	



As at March 31, 2014

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	Furniture
	
	
	
	
	
	Home
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	Computer
	
	
	
	and
	
	
	
	Office
	
	services
	
	
	
	Leasehold
	
	Solar
	
	
	

	
	
	
	equipment
	Buildings
	
	fixtures
	
	Vehicles
	equipment
	equipment
	Thermostats
	improvements
	equipment
	
	Total
	

	
	Cost:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	Opening balance –April 1, 2013
	$
	11,729
	$
	670
	$
	6,590
	$
	22
	$
	19,216
	$
	163,704
	$
	835
	$
	8,974
	$
	101,003
	$
	312,743
	

	
	
	Additions (disposals)
	
	1,709
	
	(695)
	
	94
	
	–
	
	1,691
	
	26,914
	
	5,474
	
	45
	
	–
	
	35,232
	

	
	
	Transfer to discontinued
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	operations
	
	(4)
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	(101,003)
	
	(101,007)
	

	
	Exchange differences
	
	257
	
	25
	
	180
	
	–
	
	250
	
	–
	
	93
	
	60
	
	–
	
	865
	

	
	
	Ending balance, March 31,
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	2014
	
	13,691
	
	–
	
	6,864
	
	22
	
	21,157
	
	190,618
	
	6,402
	
	9,079
	
	–
	
	247,833
	

	
	Accumulated amortization:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	Opening balance –
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	April 1, 2013
	
	(7,510)
	
	(56)
	
	(4,422)
	
	(14)
	
	(11,720)
	
	(23,003)
	
	(21)
	
	(6,516)
	
	(1,478)
	
	(54,740)
	

	
	
	Amortization charge to cost of
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	sales
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	(12,385)
	
	(751)
	
	–
	
	–
	
	(13,136)
	

	
	
	Amortization charge for the year
	
	(1,622)
	
	(18)
	
	(502)
	
	(3)
	
	(1,699)
	
	–
	
	–
	
	(587)
	
	–
	
	(4,431)
	

	
	
	Disposals
	
	–
	
	76
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	76
	

	
	
	Transfer to discontinued
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	operations
	
	2
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	1,478
	
	1,480
	

	
	Exchange differences
	
	(133)
	
	(2)
	
	(80)
	
	–
	
	(117)
	
	8
	
	(12)
	
	(26)
	
	–
	
	(362)
	

	
	
	Ending balance, March 31,
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	2014
	
	(9,263)
	
	–
	
	(5,004)
	
	(17)
	
	(13,536)
	
	(35,380)
	
	(784)
	
	(7,129)
	
	–
	
	(71,113)
	

	
	
	Net book value, March 31, 2014
	$
	4,428
	$
	–
	$
	1,860
	$
	5
	$
	7,621
	$
	155,238
	$
	5,618
	$
	1,950
	$
	–
	$
	176,720
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	INTANGIBLE ASSETS
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	As at March 31, 2015
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	Sales
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	Water
	
	
	network and
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	Gas
	
	Electricity
	
	heater
	
	
	
	affinity
	
	
	
	
	
	IT system
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	contracts
	
	contracts
	
	contracts
	
	Goodwill
	relationships
	
	Brand
	
	Software
	development
	
	Other
	
	Total

	
	Cost:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	Opening balance – April 1, 2014
	$
	116,787
	$
	272,553
	$
	51,839
	$
	264,036
	$
	136,404
	$
	25,899
	$
	23,430
	$
	26,399
	$
	9,753
	$
	927,100

	
	
	Transfer to discontinued operations
	
	–
	
	–
	
	(51,839)
	
	(283)
	
	–
	
	–
	
	(294)
	
	–
	
	(57)
	
	(52,473)

	
	
	Additions
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	4,601
	
	2,009
	
	1,022
	
	7,632

	
	
	Exchange differences
	
	4,355
	
	39,718
	
	–
	
	14,015
	
	19,878
	
	3,772
	
	1,482
	
	3,345
	
	1,041
	
	87,606

	
	
	Ending balance, March 31, 2015
	
	121,142
	
	312,271
	
	–
	
	277,768
	
	156,282
	
	29,671
	
	29,219
	
	31,753
	
	11,759
	
	969,865

	
	Accumulated amortization:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	Opening balance –April 1, 2014
	
	(116,787)
	
	(260,673)
	
	(11,640)
	
	–
	
	(85,874)
	
	–
	
	(19,987)
	
	(19,739)
	
	(7,472)
	
	(522,172)

	
	
	Transfer to discontinued operations
	
	–
	
	–
	
	11,640
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	18
	
	–
	
	43
	
	11,701

	
	
	Amortization charge for the year
	
	–
	
	(7,292)
	
	–
	
	–
	
	(24,738)
	
	–
	
	(4,631)
	
	(5,052)
	
	(101)
	
	(41,814)

	
	
	Amortization in mark to market
	
	–
	
	(5,016)
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	(5,016)

	
	
	Exchange differences
	
	(4,355)
	
	(39,290)
	
	–
	
	–
	
	(15,204)
	
	–
	
	(1,193)
	
	(2,973)
	
	(1,038)
	
	(64,053)

	
	
	Ending balance, March 31, 2015
	
	(121,142)
	
	(312,271)
	
	–
	
	–
	
	(125,816)
	
	–
	
	(25,793)
	
	(27,764)
	
	(8,568)
	
	(621,354)

	
	
	Net book value, March 31, 2015
	$
	–
	$
	–
	$
	–
	$
	277,768
	$
	30,466
	$
	29,671
	$
	3,426
	$
	3,989
	$
	3,191
	$
	348,511

	
	
	As at March 31, 2014
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	Sales
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	Water
	
	
	network and
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	Gas
	
	Electricity
	
	heater
	
	
	
	affinity
	
	
	
	
	
	IT system
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	contracts
	
	contracts
	
	contracts
	
	Goodwill
	relationships
	
	Brand
	
	Software
	development
	
	Other
	
	Total

	
	Cost:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	Opening balance – April1, 2013
	$
	114,367
	$
	250,487
	$
	51,235
	$
	256,382
	$
	125,361
	$
	23,802
	$
	17,534
	$
	23,470
	$
	7,829
	$
	870,467

	
	
	Transfer to discontinued operations
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	(3)
	
	–
	
	–
	
	(3)

	
	
	Additions
	
	–
	
	–
	
	604
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	4,980
	
	1,163
	
	1,342
	
	8,089

	
	
	Exchange differences
	
	2,420
	
	22,066
	
	–
	
	7,654
	
	11,043
	
	2,097
	
	919
	
	1,766
	
	582
	
	48,547

	
	
	Ending balance, March 31, 2014
	
	116,787
	
	272,553
	
	51,839
	
	264,036
	
	136,404
	
	25,899
	
	23,430
	
	26,399
	
	9,753
	
	927,100

	
	Accumulated amortization:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	Opening balance – April 1, 2013
	
	(96,073)
	
	(228,651)
	
	(7,129)
	
	–
	
	(56,921)
	
	–
	
	(13,634)
	
	(14,131)
	
	(6,595)
	
	(423,134)

	
	
	Transfer to discontinued operations
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	3
	
	–
	
	–
	
	3

	
	
	Amortization charge for the year
	
	(8,238)
	
	(6,724)
	
	(4,511)
	
	–
	
	(22,851)
	
	–
	
	(5,545)
	
	(4,339)
	
	(302)
	
	(52,510)

	
	
	Amortization in mark to market
	
	(10,056)
	
	(4,668)
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	(14,724)

	
	
	Exchange differences
	
	(2,420)
	
	(20,630)
	
	–
	
	–
	
	(6,102)
	
	–
	
	(811)
	
	(1,269)
	
	(575)
	
	(31,807)

	
	
	Ending balance, March 31, 2014
	
	(116,787)
	
	(260,673)
	
	(11,640)
	
	–
	
	(85,874)
	
	–
	
	(19,987)
	
	(19,739)
	
	(7,472)
	
	(522,172)

	
	
	Net book value, March 31, 2014
	$
	–
	$
	11,880
	$
	40,199
	$
	264,036
	$
	50,530
	$
	25,899
	$
	3,443
	$
	6,660
	$
	2,281
	$
	404,928



The capitalized internally developed costs relate to the development of new customer billing and analysis software solutions for the different energy markets of Just Energy.

All research costs and development costs not eligible for capitalization have been expensed and are recognized in administrative expenses.
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· RESTRICTED CASH

(i) As part of the disposal of the Solar division, Just Energy was required to transfer cash into restricted bank accounts. The Company has indemnified the buyer for certain obligations. The cash will be released as these are satisfied. As of March 31, 2015, these restricted cash balances were $6,177.

(ii) As part of a prior acquisition, Just Energy was required to transfer $11,152 into a restricted cash account. The balance as of March 31, 2015 was $11,285 (2014 – $9,832).

(iii) Restricted cash in the prior year was required as security relating to the lender of NHS. The balance of this account in the prior year was $2,185.


· DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

(i) NHS

On November 24, 2014, Just Energy closed the sale of 100% of its shares in NHS to Reliance Comfort Limited Partnership (“Reliance”). The purchase price was $505,000, reduced by the outstanding debt balances, early termination charges and the settlement of the royalty.

	The results of NHS are presented below:
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	From April 1,
	
	For the year

	
	
	
	
	2014 to Nov.
	ended March

	
	
	
	
	24, 2014
	
	31, 2014

	
	Sales
	$
	58,836
	$
	76,444

	Cost of sales
	
	
	11,259
	
	16,376

	
	Gross margin
	
	
	47,577
	
	60,068

	Expenses
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Administrative, selling and operating expenses
	
	
	34,589
	
	38,864

	
	Operating income (loss)
	
	
	12,988
	
	21,204

	
	Finance costs
	
	
	(14,180)
	
	(21,328)

	
	Profit (loss) from discontinued operations before income taxes
	
	
	(1,192)
	
	(124)

	
	Other loss
	
	
	(30)
	
	–

	Provision for income taxes
	
	
	(21,838)
	
	(4,250)

	
	Gain on disposal of net assets
	
	
	191,201
	
	–

	PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE PERIOD FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
	$
	168,141
	$
	(4,374)

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Earnings (loss) per share
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Basic earnings (loss) per share from discontinued operations
	$
	1.16
	$
	(0.02)

	Diluted earnings (loss) per share from discontinued operations
	$
	1.13
	$
	(0.02)



(ii)	Commercial Solar

On November 5, 2014, Just Energy announced that it had closed the sale of its shares of Hudson Solar Corp. (“HES”), its Commercial Solar development business, to SunEdison, Inc. and its subsidiary, TerraForm Power Inc. The sale of HES resulted in the assumption or repayment by the purchaser of approximately US$33,000 in outstanding debt. Of the total sale price of US$22,900, Just Energy received approximately US$17,500 in cash, incurred approximately US$1,700 in costs and approximately US$5,000 is being held in escrow as indemnification to the buyer for certain liabilities. In addition, Just Energy is entitled to other consideration of approximately US$2,000 related to cash grants that have been filed and additional contingent consideration based on the Solar Renewable Energy Credit (“SREC”) price and production of projects that were under construction as of the closing date. The maximum amount of contingent consideration that can be earned is US$3,000. As at closing, Just Energy recorded an amount of US$1,500 relating to this contingent consideration. Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration will be recorded in the consolidated income statement as a change in fair value of derivative instruments. As at March 31, 2015, the fair value of the contingent consideration was approximately US$1,545 and is included in other current assets.
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	The results of HES are presented below:
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	From April 1,
	For the year
	

	
	
	
	2014 to Nov. 5,
	ended March
	

	
	
	
	2014
	
	31, 2014
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	Sales
	$
	4,355
	$
	3,894
	

	
	Cost of sales
	
	
	–
	
	3,802
	

	
	
	Gross margin
	
	
	4,355
	
	92
	

	
	Expenses
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	Administrative and operating expenses
	
	
	8,729
	
	6,682
	

	
	
	Operating income (loss)
	
	
	(4,374)
	
	(6,590)
	

	
	
	Finance costs
	
	
	(3,100)
	
	(7,677)
	

	
	
	Loss from discontinued operations before undernoted
	
	
	(7,474)
	
	(14,267)
	

	
	
	Change in fair value of derivative instruments
	
	
	(225)
	
	2,500
	

	
	Other loss
	
	
	(148)
	
	(3)
	

	
	
	Provision for income taxes
	
	
	(5)
	
	–
	

	
	Realized foreign exchange gain on disposal
	
	
	2,465
	
	–
	

	
	
	Loss on disposal of net assets, net of impairment loss previously recognized
	
	
	(30,081)
	
	(35,058)
	

	
	LOSS FOR THE PERIOD FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
	$
	(35,468)
	$
	(46,828)
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Loss per share
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	Basic and diluted loss per share from discontinued operations
	$
	(0.22)
	$
	(0.30)
	

	(iii)
	
	Disposal of TGF
	
	
	
	
	
	



In March 2013, Just Energy formally commenced the process to dispose of Terra Grain Fuels, Inc. (“TGF”). The business of TGF had been operating in an unpredictable product environment, making it difficult for management to derive real growth and profitability from the segment. In addition, it had been viewed as a non-core business since it was acquired with the Universal Energy acquisition in 2009. Effective December 24, 2013, Just Energy sold TGF for a nominal amount and was released from all of its obligations. Previously, tax losses generated prior to the disposal were restricted by TGF’s lenders and were treated as unrecognized deferred tax assets. In order to retain a portion of these tax losses and as part of the disposal, Just Energy transferred approximately $6,250 to TGF. Just Energy expects to utilize the retained tax losses in future periods and has recognized a future tax recovery of $24,151, which has been recorded as part of the loss from discontinued operations.

The results of TGF for the period up to the date of disposal are presented below:


	
	
	
	For the year
	

	
	
	
	ended March
	

	
	
	
	31, 2014
	

	
	Sales
	$
	82,982
	

	
	Cost of sales
	
	70,280
	

	
	Gross margin
	
	12,702
	

	
	Expenses
	
	
	

	
	Administrative and operating expenses
	
	5,131
	

	
	Operating income
	
	7,571
	

	
	Finance costs
	
	(4,511)
	

	
	Profit (loss) from discontinued operations before the undernoted
	
	3,060
	

	
	Loss on disposal of net assets
	
	(8,653)
	

	
	Future income tax recovery
	
	24,151
	

	
	Transaction costs
	
	(981)
	

	
	PROFIT FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
	$
	17,577
	

	
	Earnings per share
	
	
	

	
	Basic earnings per share from discontinued operations
	$
	0.12
	

	
	Diluted earnings per share from discontinued operations
	$
	0.12
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· INVESTMENTS

(i) In August 2012, the Company issued a US$2,500 promissory note to the non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary. The promissory note receivable matures on August 24, 2037, and bears interest at the annual federal rate established by the Internal Revenue Service. Interest earned on this promissory note is recorded in other income.

(ii) In August 2012, Just Energy through a subsidiary acquired an interest in ecobee Inc., a private company that designs, manufactures and distributes smart thermostats, for an amount of $6,460. The Company markets these smart thermostats in all its core markets, bundling the thermostats with commodity and home service products. As at March 31, 2015, Just Energy owns approximately 10% of ecobee Inc. The fair value of this investment is not disclosed because it cannot be determined reliably.

10	MINORITY INTEREST

Financial information of subsidiaries that have non-controlling interests is provided below: Proportion of equity interest held by non-controlling interests:

	Name
	2015
	2014

	Just Ventures (a)
	50%
	50%

	Amigo Power LLC (b)
	–
	67%

	Hudson Solar Entities (c)
	–
	49%–51%



(a) Just Energy has a 50% interest in Just Ventures. These entities operate out of North Carolina and are involved in the marketing of Just Energy products primarily through Internet- and telemarketing-based efforts. The non-controlling shareholder also has a 50% interest in these entities. Management has determined that Just Energy controls these entities due to its ability to affect the variable returns from these entities as a result of its control over the structuring and pricing of products, determining credit risk,

servicing and billing customers and the level of input on the marketing activity in	given regions.

The non-controlling shareholder had the ability to sell part or all of its interest in Just Ventures (the “Put”) or sell customer contracts signed by Just Ventures to Just Energy. The amount was based on a predetermined formula that approximates the profitability of these contracts. During fiscal 2014 the non-controlling shareholder exercised this right and put approximately 20,400 contracts to Just Energy for approximately $7,150. This payment was treated as the acquisition of the non-controlling interest associated with the underlying contract. As a result, the payment has been treated as an equity transaction. During the year, this Put expired.

(b) Just Energy and the non-controlling shareholders decided to dissolve this entity during the current fiscal year. The non-controlling interest balance has been reclassified to retained earnings.

(c) Up until the date of acquisition, Just Energy through its Solar division had interests in entities with minority shareholders. In these structures Just Energy had equity interests of between 49% and 51%. Management had determined that Just Energy controls these entities due to its ability to affect the variable returns from these entities as a result of its control over negotiating power purchase agreements and managing the relevant activities of the underlying solar assets over their useful life. These entities are included in the discontinued operations as disclosed in Note 8.


	
	Name
	
	2015
	
	2014
	

	
	Accumulated balances of non-controlling interest
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Just Ventures
	$
	–
	$
	–
	

	
	Amigo Power LLC
	
	–
	
	(2,385)
	

	
	Hudson Solar Entities
	
	–
	
	8,812
	

	
	Profit (loss) allocated to non-controlling interest
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Just Ventures
	$
	6,415
	$
	6,144
	

	
	Amigo Power LLC
	
	(64)
	
	(685)
	

	
	Hudson Solar Entities
	
	(3,271)
	
	(4,425)
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The summarized financial information of these subsidiaries is provided below. This information is based on amounts before intercompany eliminations.

	
	
	Just Ventures
	
	Amigo
	
	Solar

	Summarized financial information for 2015:
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Gross margin
	$
	43,139
	$
	1,866
	$
	–

	Selling and marketing expenses
	
	30,309
	
	4,855
	
	–

	Administrative expenses
	
	–110
	
	–
	
	

	Profit from continuing operations
	
	12,830
	
	(3,079)
	
	–

	Loss from discontinued operations
	
	–
	
	–
	
	488

	Cash flows provided by (used in) operating activities
	
	12,830
	
	(3,079)
	
	(1,020)1

	Cash flows used in investing activities
	
	–
	
	–
	
	(26)1

	Cash flows provided by financing activities
	
	(12,830)
	
	–
	
	1,1941

	
	
	Just Ventures
	
	Amigo
	
	Solar

	Summarized financial information for 2014:
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Gross margin
	$
	28,690
	$
	648
	$
	–

	Selling and marketing expenses
	
	16,402
	
	2,599
	
	–

	Administrative expenses
	
	–
	
	125
	
	–

	Loss from continuing operations
	
	12,288
	
	(2,076)
	
	–

	Loss from discontinued operations
	
	–
	
	–
	
	(662)

	Assets
	
	–
	
	–
	
	31,2102

	Liabilities
	
	–
	
	–
	
	11,7002

	Cash flows provided by (used in) operating activities
	
	12,288
	
	(2,076)
	
	(1,701)1

	Cash flows used in investing activities
	
	–
	
	–
	
	(14,490)1

	Cash flows provided by financing activities
	
	(12,288)
	
	–
	
	13,1801



· These are classified with cash flows from discontinued operations.
· The assets and liabilities were classified as held for sale in the prior year.

11 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Fair value of derivative financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date (i.e., an exit price). Management has estimated the value of financial swaps, physical forwards and option contracts for electricity, natural gas, carbon and renewable energy certificates, and generation and transmission capacity contracts using a discounted cash flow method, which employs market forward curves that are either directly sourced from third parties or are developed internally based on third party market data. These curves can be volatile, thus leading to volatility in the mark to market with no immediate impact to cash flows. Gas options have been valued using the Black option value model using the applicable market forward curves and the implied volatility from other market traded options.

The following table illustrates gains (losses) related to Just Energy’s derivative financial instruments classified as fair value through profit or loss and recorded on the consolidated statements of financial position as other assets and other liabilities, with their offsetting values recorded in change in fair value of derivative instruments.

	
	Change in fair value of derivative instruments
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	For the year
	
	For the year
	

	
	
	
	
	ended March
	
	ended March
	

	
	
	
	
	31, 2015
	
	31, 2014
	

	
	Physical forward contracts and options (i)
	$
	(434,755)
	$
	79,920
	

	
	Financial swap contracts and options (ii)
	
	
	(201,734)
	
	121,691
	

	
	Foreign exchange forward contracts
	
	
	(1,317)
	
	(572)
	

	
	Amortization of deferred unrealized gains on discontinued hedges
	
	
	–
	
	5,208
	

	
	Share swap
	
	
	(5,372)
	
	3,736
	

	
	Amortization of derivative financial instruments related to acquisitions
	
	
	(5,062)
	
	(14,724)
	

	
	Liability associated with exchangeable shares and equity-based compensation
	
	
	204
	
	(146)
	

	
	Eurobond conversion feature
	
	
	10,440
	
	–
	

	
	Other derivative options
	
	
	2,392
	
	(8,971)
	

	
	Change in fair value of derivative instruments
	$
	(635,204)
	$
	186,142
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The following table summarizes certain aspects of the derivative financial assets and liabilities recorded in the consolidated statements of financial position as at

March 31, 2015:

	
	Other financial
	Other financial
	Other financial
	Other financial

	
	
	assets
	
	assets
	
	liabilities
	liabilities (non-

	
	
	(current)
	
	(non-current)
	
	(current)
	
	current)

	Physical forward contracts and options (i)
	$
	2,508
	$
	119
	$
	272,731
	$
	174,495

	Financial swap contracts and options (ii)
	
	369
	
	529
	
	111,022
	
	100,383

	Foreign exchange forward contracts
	
	–
	
	–
	
	2,375
	
	–

	Share swap
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	17,551

	Eurobond conversion feature
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	6,891

	Other derivative options
	
	1,957
	
	443
	
	112
	
	–

	As at March 31, 2015
	$
	4,834
	$
	1,091
	$
	386,240
	$
	299,320



The following table summarizes certain aspects of the derivative financial assets and liabilities recorded in the consolidated financial statements as at March 31, 2014:

	
	
	
	
	Other financial
	
	Other financial
	
	Other financial

	
	
	Other financial
	
	assets
	
	liabilities
	
	liabilities

	
	assets (current)
	
	(non-current)
	
	(current)
	
	(non-current)

	Physical forward contracts and options (i)
	$
	61,169
	$
	26,600
	$
	34,191
	$
	18,404

	Financial swap contracts and options (ii)
	
	42,333
	
	4,853
	
	28,159
	
	20,572

	Foreign exchange forward contracts
	
	–
	
	–
	
	1,058
	
	–

	Share swap
	
	–
	
	–
	
	12,179
	
	–

	Cash-out option on stock-based compensation
	
	–
	
	–
	
	560
	
	–

	Eurobond conversion feature
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	17,321

	Other derivative options
	
	–
	
	243
	
	988
	
	–

	As at March 31, 2014
	$
	103,502
	$
	31,696
	$
	77,135
	$
	56,297



Below is a summary of the financial instruments classified through profit and loss as at March 31, 2015, to which Just Energy has committed:

(i) Physical forward contracts and options consist of:

· Electricity contracts with a total remaining volume of 38,414,525 MWh, a weighted average price of $55.49 and expiry dates up to December 31, 2020.

· Natural gas contracts with a total remaining volume of 73,064,462 GJs, a weighted average price of $3.68 and expiry dates up to March 31, 2019.

· Renewable energy certificates and emission reduction credit contracts with a total remaining volume of 8,042,571 MWh and 1,245,513 tonnes, respectively, a weighted average price of $18.86/REC and $3.84/tonne, respectively, and expiry dates up to December 31, 2023.

· Electricity generation capacity contracts with a total remaining volume of 8,460 MWCap, a weighted average price of $8,517.87/MWCap and expiry dates up to April 30, 2018.

(ii) Financial swap contracts and options consist of:

· Electricity contracts with a total remaining volume of 18,962,561 MWh, an average price of $48.20 and expiry dates up to December 31, 2019.

· Natural gas contracts with a total remaining volume of 124,047,147 GJs, an average price of $4.07/GJ and expiry dates up to December 31, 2019.

· Electricity generation capacity contracts with a total remaining volume of 22,175 MWCap, a weighted average price of $343.67 and expiry dates up to April 30, 2017.

These derivative financial instruments create a credit risk for Just Energy since they have been transacted with a limited number of counterparties. Should any counterparty be unable to fulfill its obligations under the contracts, Just Energy may not be able to realize the other assets’ balance recognized in the consolidated financial statements.
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Share swap agreement

The Company has entered into a share swap agreement to manage the risks associated with the Company’s restricted share grant and deferred share grant plans. The value, on inception, of the 2,500,000 shares under this share swap agreement was approximately $33,803. Net monthly settlements received under the share swap agreement are recorded in other income. The Company marks to market the fair value of the share swap agreement and has included that value as other current financial liabilities on the consolidated statements of financial position. Changes in the fair value of the share swap agreement are recorded through the consolidated statements of loss as a change in fair value of derivative instruments.

Fair value (“FV”) hierarchy derivatives

Level 1

The fair value measurements are classified as Level 1 in the FV hierarchy if the fair value is determined using quoted unadjusted market prices.

Level 2

Fair value measurements that require observable inputs other than quoted prices in Level 1, either directly or indirectly, are classified as Level 2 in the FV hierarchy. This could include the use of statistical techniques to derive the FV curve from observable market prices. However, in order to be classified under Level 2, inputs must be directly or indirectly observable in the market. Just Energy values its New York Mercantile Exchange (“NYMEX”) financial gas fixed-for-floating swaps under Level 2.

Level 3

Fair value measurements that require unobservable market data or use statistical techniques to derive forward curves from observable market data and unobservable inputs are classified as Level 3 in the FV hierarchy. For the supply contracts, Just Energy uses quoted market prices as per available market forward data and applies a price-shaping profile to calculate the monthly prices from annual strips and hourly prices from block strips for the purposes of mark to market calculations. The profile is based on historical settlements with counterparties or with the system operator and is considered an unobservable input for the purposes of establishing the level in the FV hierarchy. For the natural gas supply contracts, Just Energy uses three different market observable curves: i) Commodity (predominately NYMEX), ii) Basis and iii) Foreign exchange. NYMEX curves extend for over five years (thereby covering the length of Just Energy’s contracts); however, most basis curves only extend 12 to 15 months into the future. In order to calculate basis curves for the remaining years, Just Energy uses extrapolation, which leads natural gas supply contracts to be classified under Level 3.

For the share swap, Just Energy uses a forward interest rate curve along with a volume weighted average share price. The Eurobond conversion feature is valued using an option pricing model.

The Company’s accounting policy is to recognize transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy on the date of the event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer. There was no transfer into or out of Level 1, Level 2 or Level 3 during the years ended March 31, 2015 or 2014.

Fair value measurement input sensitivity

The main cause of changes in the fair value of derivative instruments is changes in the forward curve prices used for the fair value calculations. Just Energy provides a sensitivity analysis of these forward curves under the market risk section of this note. Other inputs, including volatility and correlations, are driven off historical settlements.

The following table illustrates the classification of derivative financial assets (liabilities) in the FV hierarchy as at March 31, 2015:

	
	
	Level 1
	
	Level 2
	
	Level 3
	
	Total
	

	Financial assets
	$
	–
	$
	–
	$
	5,925
	$
	5,925
	

	Derivative financial assets
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Financial liabilities
	
	–
	
	(55,711)
	
	(629,849)
	
	(685,560)
	

	Derivative financial liabilities
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Total net derivative assets (liabilities)
	$
	–
	$
	(55,711)
	$
	(623,924)
	$
	(679,635)
	



The following table illustrates the classification of derivative financial assets (liabilities) in the FV hierarchy as at March 31, 2014:

	
	
	
	Level 1
	
	Level 2
	
	Level 3
	
	Total
	

	
	Financial assets
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Derivative financial assets
	$
	–
	$
	–
	$
	135,198
	$
	135,198
	

	
	Discontinued operations (Note 8)
	
	–
	
	–
	
	106,262
	
	106,262
	

	
	Financial liabilities
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Derivative financial liabilities
	
	–
	
	(10,990)
	
	(122,442)
	
	(133,432)
	

	
	Discontinued operations (Note 8)
	
	–
	
	–
	
	(51,852)
	
	(51,852)
	

	
	Total net derivative assets (liabilities)
	$
	–
	$
	(10,990)
	$
	67,166
	$
	56,176
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Key assumptions used when determining the significant unobservable inputs included in Level 3 of the FV hierarchy consist of:

(i) up to 5% price-extrapolation to calculate monthly prices that extend beyond the market observable 12–15 month forward curve,

(ii) discount for counterparty non-performance risk up to 5%, and

(iii) discount rate in the range of 6% to 8%.

The following table illustrates the changes in net fair value of financial assets (liabilities) classified as Level 3 in the FV hierarchy for the years ended March 31, 2015 and March 31, 2014:

	
	
	
	March 31,
	
	March 31,

	
	
	
	2015
	
	2014

	Balance, beginning of year
	$
	67,166
	$
	(148,646)

	Total gains (losses)
	
	
	(336,308)
	
	37,799

	Purchases
	
	
	(347,062)
	
	49,006

	Sales
	
	
	46,662
	
	(14,972)

	Settlements
	
	
	(54,382)
	
	89,569

	Discontinued operations
	
	
	–
	
	54,410

	Balance, end of year
	$
	(623,924)
	$
	67,166



(b)	Classification of non-derivative financial assets and liabilities

As at March 31, 2015 and 2014, the carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, current trade and other receivables, unbilled revenues and trade and other payables approximates their fair value due to their short-term nature.

Long-term debt recorded at amortized cost has a fair value as of March 31, 2015 of $664,874 (March 31, 2014 – $985,920).

The carrying value of long-term debt approximates its fair value as the interest payable on outstanding amounts is at rates that vary with bankers’ acceptances,

LIBOR, Canadian bank prime rate or U.S. prime rate, with the following exceptions:

(i) the $328.4 million, $100 million and US$150 million convertible debentures, which are fair valued based on market value; and

(ii) the fair value of the $105 million senior unsecured note is based on discounting future cash flows using a discount rate consistent with the above convertible debentures.

The $328.4 million, $100 million and US$150 million convertible debentures are classified as Level 1 and the $105 million senior unsecured note is classified as Level 2 of the FV hierarchy.

(c) Management of risks arising from financial instruments

The risks associated with Just Energy’s financial instruments are as follows:

(i) Market risk

Market risk is the potential loss that may be incurred as a result of changes in the market or fair value of a particular instrument or commodity. Components of market risk to which Just Energy is exposed are discussed below.

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is created by fluctuations in the fair value or cash flows of financial instruments due to changes in foreign exchange rates and exposure as a result of investments in U.S. operations.

A portion of Just Energy’s income is generated in U.S. dollars and is subject to currency fluctuations. The performance of the Canadian dollar relative to the U.S. dollar could positively or negatively affect Just Energy’s income. Due to its growing operations in the U.S., Just Energy expects to have a greater exposure to U.S. fluctuations in the future than in prior years. Just Energy has economically hedged between 0% and 50% of certain forecasted cross border cash flows that are expected to occur within the next 13 to 24 months and between 50% and 90% of forecasted cross border cash flows that are expected to occur within the next 12 months. The level of hedging is dependent on the source of the cash flow and the time remaining until the cash repatriation occurs.

Just Energy may, from time to time, experience losses resulting from fluctuations in the values of its foreign currency transactions, which could adversely affect its operating results. Translation risk is not hedged.

With respect to translation exposure, if the Canadian dollar had been 5% stronger or weaker against the U.S. dollar for the year ended March 31, 2015, assuming that all the other variables had remained constant, loss for the period would have been $26,700 higher/lower and other comprehensive loss would have been $22,700 lower/higher.
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Interest rate risk

Just Energy is also exposed to interest rate fluctuations associated with its floating rate credit facility. Just Energy’s current exposure to interest rates does not economically warrant the use of derivative instruments. The Company’s exposure to interest rate risk is relatively immaterial and temporary in nature. Just Energy does not currently believe that long-term debt exposes it to material interest rate risks but has set out parameters to actively manage this risk within its Risk Management Policy.

A 1% increase (decrease) in interest rates would have resulted in a decrease (increase) of approximately $889 (2014 – $1,148) in income before income taxes for the years ended March 31, 2015 and 2014.

Commodity price risk

Just Energy is exposed to market risks associated with commodity prices and market volatility where estimated customer requirements do not match actual customer requirements. Management actively monitors these positions on a daily basis in accordance with its Risk Management Policy. This policy sets out a variety of limits, most importantly, thresholds for open positions in the gas and electricity portfolios which also feed a Value at Risk limit. Should any of the limits be exceeded, they are closed expeditiously or express approval to continue to hold is obtained. Just Energy’s exposure to market risk is affected by a number of factors, including accuracy of estimation of customer commodity requirements, commodity prices, and volatility and liquidity of markets. Just Energy enters into derivative instruments in order to manage exposures to changes in commodity prices. The derivative instruments that are used are designed to fix the price of supply for estimated customer commodity demand and thereby fix margins such that shareholder dividends can be appropriately established. Derivative instruments are generally transacted over the counter. The inability or failure of Just Energy to manage and monitor the above market risks could have a material adverse effect on the operations and cash flows of Just Energy. Just Energy mitigates the exposure to variances in customer requirements that are driven by changes in expected weather conditions through active management of the underlying portfolio, which involves, but is not limited to, the purchase of options including weather derivatives. Just Energy’s ability to mitigate weather effects is limited by the degree to which weather conditions deviate from normal.

Commodity price sensitivity – all derivative financial instruments

If all the energy prices associated with derivative financial instruments including natural gas, electricity, verified emission-reduction credits and renewable energy certificates had risen (fallen) by 10%, assuming that all of the other variables had remained constant, income before income taxes for the year ended March 31, 2015 would have increased (decreased) by $260,181 ($256,214) primarily as a result of the change in fair value of Just Energy’s derivative financial instruments.

Commodity price sensitivity – Level 3 derivative financial instruments

If the energy prices associated with only Level 3 derivative financial instruments including natural gas, electricity, verified emission-reduction credits and renewable energy certificates had risen (fallen) by 10%, assuming that all of the other variables had remained constant, income before income taxes for the year ended March 31, 2015 would have increased (decreased) by $240,936 ($237,155) primarily as a result of the change in fair value of Just Energy’s derivative financial instruments.

(ii) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation and causes financial loss to another party. Just Energy is exposed to credit risk in two specific areas: customer credit risk and counterparty credit risk.

Customer credit risk

In Alberta, Texas, Illinois, British Columbia, California, Michigan, Delaware, Ohio, Georgia and the United Kingdom, Just Energy has customer credit risk and, therefore, credit review processes have been implemented to perform credit evaluations of customers and manage customer default. If a significant number of customers were to default on their payments, it could have a material adverse effect on the operations and cash flows of Just Energy. Management factors default from credit risk in its margin expectations for all the above markets.


	
	
	
	
	March 31,
	
	March 31,
	

	
	The aging of the accounts receivable from the above markets was as follows:
	
	
	2015
	
	2014
	

	
	Current
	$
	146,044
	$
	104,297
	

	
	1–30 days
	
	
	40,911
	
	36,236
	

	
	31–60 days
	
	
	11,116
	
	10,405
	

	
	61–90 days
	
	
	6,140
	
	6,809
	

	
	Over 91 days
	
	
	46,277
	
	51,517
	

	
	
	$
	250,488
	$
	209,264
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	Changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts were as follows:
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	March 31,
	
	March 31,

	
	
	
	
	2015
	
	2014

	
	Balance, beginning of year
	$
	60,997
	$
	40,190

	
	Reduction due to disposal of subsidiaries
	
	
	(1,282)
	
	–

	
	Provision for doubtful accounts
	
	
	62,077
	
	47,161

	
	Bad debts written off
	
	
	(60,375)
	
	(25,845)

	
	Other
	
	
	(3,103)
	
	(509)

	
	Balance, end of year
	$
	58,314
	$
	60,997



In the remaining markets, the local distribution companies (“LDCs”) provide collection services and assume the risk of any bad debts owing from Just Energy’s customers for a fee. Management believes that the risk of the LDCs failing to deliver payment to Just Energy is minimal. There is no assurance that the LDCs providing these services will continue to do so in the future.

Counterparty credit risk

Counterparty credit risk represents the loss that Just Energy would incur if a counterparty fails to perform under its contractual obligations. This risk would manifest itself in Just Energy replacing contracted supply at prevailing market rates, thus impacting the related customer margin. Counterparty limits are established within the Risk Management Policy. Any exceptions to these limits require approval from the Board of Directors of Just Energy. The Risk Department and Risk Committee monitor current and potential credit exposure to individual counterparties and also monitor overall aggregate counterparty exposure. However, the failure of a counterparty to meet its contractual obligations could have a material adverse effect on the operations and cash flows of Just Energy.

As at March 31, 2015, the estimated counterparty credit risk exposure amounted to $5,925, representing the risk relating to the Company’s derivative financial assets and accounts receivable.

(iii) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the potential inability to meet financial obligations as they fall due. Just Energy manages this risk by monitoring detailed weekly cash flow forecasts covering a rolling six-week period, monthly cash forecasts for the next 12 months, and quarterly forecasts for the following two-year period to ensure adequate and efficient use of cash resources and credit facilities.

The following are the contractual maturities, excluding interest payments, reflecting undiscounted disbursements of Just Energy’s financial liabilities as at March 31, 2015:

	
	
	
	Carrying
	
	Contractual
	
	Less than 1
	
	
	
	
	
	More than

	
	
	
	amount
	
	cash flows
	
	year
	
	1–3 years
	
	4–5 years
	
	5 years

	Trade and other payables
	$
	510,470
	$
	510,470
	$
	510,470
	$
	–
	$
	–
	$
	–

	Long-term debt1
	
	
	676,503
	
	723,433
	
	23
	
	328,420
	
	394,990
	
	–

	Derivative instruments
	
	
	685,560
	
	4,074,637
	
	2,167,000
	
	1,596,187
	
	274,187
	
	37,263

	
	$
	1,872,533
	$
	5,308,540
	$
	2,677,493
	$
	1,924,607
	$
	669,177
	$
	37,263



· Included in long-term debt are the $328,420 and $100,000 relating to convertible debentures and US$150,000 relating to convertible bonds, which may be settled through the issuance of shares at the option of the holder or Just Energy upon maturity.

	
	
	
	Carrying
	
	Contractual
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	More than 5

	As at March 31, 2014:
	
	
	amount
	
	cash flows
	Less than1 year
	
	1–3 years
	
	4–5 years
	
	years

	Trade and other payables
	$
	485,471
	$
	485,471
	$
	485,471
	$
	–
	$
	–
	$
	–

	Long-term debt1
	
	
	982,026
	
	1,043,061
	
	51,999
	
	166,276
	
	605,103
	
	219,683

	Derivative instruments
	
	
	133,432
	
	3,112,996
	
	1,668,975
	
	1,183,717
	
	257,893
	
	2,411

	
	$
	1,600,929
	$
	4,641,528
	$
	2,206,445
	$
	1,349,993
	$
	862,996
	$
	222,094



· Included in long-term debt are the $328,420 and $100,000 relating to convertible debentures and US$150,000 relating to convertible bonds, which may be settled through the issuance of shares at the option of the holder or Just Energy upon maturity.
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In addition to the amounts noted above, at March 31, 2015, the contractual net interest payments over the term of the long-term debt with scheduled repayment terms are as follows:

	
	
	
	Less than
	
	
	
	
	
	More than

	
	
	
	1 year
	
	1–3 years
	
	4–5 years
	
	5 years

	
	Interest payments
	$
	40,365
	$
	88,790
	$
	21,399
	$
	–

	(iv) Supplier risk
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	



Just Energy purchases the majority of the gas and electricity delivered to its customers through long-term contracts entered into with various suppliers. Just Energy has an exposure to supplier risk as the ability to continue to deliver gas and electricity to its customers is reliant upon the ongoing operations of these suppliers and their ability to fulfill their contractual obligations. Just Energy has applied a discount factor to determine the fair value of its financial assets in the amount of $1,822 to accommodate for its counterparties’ risk of default.

	12  ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
	
	
	
	
	
	

	For the year ended March 31, 2015
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	Foreign
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	currency
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	translation
	
	Cash flow
	
	

	
	
	
	adjustments
	
	hedges
	
	Total

	
	Balance, beginning of year
	$
	71,997
	$
	–
	$
	71,997

	
	Other comprehensive income (loss) to be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods:
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Unrealized foreign currency translation adjustment
	
	(13,139)
	
	–
	
	(13,139)

	
	Realized loss on translation of foreign operations sold
	
	(2,465)
	
	–
	
	(2,465)

	
	Balance, end of year
	$
	56,393
	$
	–
	$
	56,393

	
	For the year ended March 31, 2014
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	Foreign
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	currency
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	translation
	
	Cash flow
	
	

	
	
	
	adjustments
	
	hedges
	
	Total

	
	Balance, beginning of year
	$
	42,154
	$
	5,001
	$
	47,155

	
	Other comprehensive income (loss) to be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods:
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Unrealized foreign currency translation adjustment
	
	29,843
	
	–
	
	29,843

	
	Amortization of deferred unrealized gain on discontinued hedges, net of income taxes of $207
	
	–
	
	(5,001)
	
	(5,001)

	
	Balance, end of year
	$
	71,997
	$
	–
	$
	71,997




13	SHAREHOLDERS’ CAPITAL

Just Energy is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares and 50,000,000 preference shares issuable in series, both with no par value. Shares outstanding have no preferences, rights or restrictions attached to them. Details of issued and outstanding shareholders’ capital as at March 31, 2015, with comparatives as at March 31, 2014, are as follows:

	
	
	
	
	Year ended
	
	
	Year ended
	

	
	
	
	March 31, 2015
	
	March 31, 2014
	

	
	
	Shares
	
	Amount
	Shares
	
	Amount
	

	
	Issued and outstanding Balance, beginning of year
	143,751,476
	$
	1,033,557
	142,029,340
	$
	1,018,082
	

	
	Share-based awards exercised
	2,203,869
	
	26,272
	550,382
	
	7,240
	

	
	Dividend reinvestment plan
	603,831
	
	3,594
	1,171,754
	
	8,235
	

	
	Balance, end of year
	146,559,176
	$
	1,063,423
	143,751,476
	$
	1,033,557
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Dividend reinvestment plan

Under Just Energy’s dividend reinvestment plan (“DRIP”), Canadian shareholders holding a minimum of 100 common shares can elect to receive their dividends in common shares rather than cash at a 2% discount to the simple average closing price of the common shares for the five trading days preceding the applicable dividend payment date, providing that the common shares are issued from treasury, as was the case, and not purchased on the open market.

Just Energy suspended the DRIP program effective January 1, 2015.

14	SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS

(a) Stock option plan

Just Energy may grant awards under its 2010 share option plan (formerly the 2001 Unit Option Plan) to directors, officers, full-time employees and service providers (non-employees) of Just Energy and its subsidiaries and affiliates. In accordance with the share option plan, Just Energy may grant options to a maximum of 11,300,000 shares. As at March 31, 2015, there were 814,166 options still available for grant under the plan. Of the options issued, 500,000 options remain outstanding at March 31, 2015 with an exercise price of $7.88. The exercise price of the share options equals the closing market price of the Company’s shares on the last business day preceding the grant date. The share options vest over periods ranging from three to five years from the grant date and expire after five or ten years from the grant date.

There has been no change in the number of options outstanding since the prior year. As at March 31, 2015, there are 500,000 options with an exercise price of $7.88 and all are vested with a remaining life of eight years.

(b)	Restricted share grants

Just Energy grants awards under the 2010 Restricted Share Grants Plan (formerly the 2004 unit appreciation rights, “UARs”) in the form of fully paid RSGs to senior officers, employees and service providers of its subsidiaries and affiliates. As at March 31, 2015, there were 28,024 RSGs (2014 – 1,067,060) still available for grant under the plan. Of the RSGs issued, 2,156,034 remain outstanding as at March 31, 2015 (2014 – 2,745,718). Except as otherwise provided, (i) the RSGs vest from one to five years from the grant date providing, in most cases, on the applicable vesting date the RSG grantee continues as a senior officer, employee or service provider of Just Energy or any affiliate thereof; (ii) the RSGs expire no later than ten years from the grant date; (iii) a holder of RSGs is entitled to payments at the same rate as dividends paid to JEGI shareholders; and (iv) when vested, the holder of an RSG may exchange one RSG for one common share.

There are 500,000 RSGs granted to senior management that do not receive dividend payments. In addition to a continued employment condition for vesting, there are certain share price targets that must be met.

	RSGs available for grant
	
	

	
	2015
	2014

	Balance, beginning of year
	1,067,060
	708,676

	Less: Granted
	(1,039,036)
	(234,903)

	Add: Cancelled/forfeited
	–
	593,287

	Balance, end of year
	28,024
	1,067,060



The average grant date fair value of RSGs granted in the year was $6.28 (2014 – $7.51).

(c)	Performance bonus grants

Just Energy grants awards under the 2013 performance bonus incentive plan (the “PBG Plan”) in the form of fully paid PBGs to senior officers, employees, consultants and service providers of its subsidiaries and affiliates. As at March 31, 2015, there were 3,106,896 (2014 – 3,570,784) PBGs still available for grant under the PBG plan. Of the PBGs issued, 301,114 remain outstanding as at March 31, 2015 (2014 – 374,168). Except as otherwise provided, (i) the PBGs will entitle the holder to be paid in three equal installments as one-third on each of the first, second and third anniversaries of the grant date providing, in most cases, on the applicable vesting date the PBG grantee continues as a senior officer, employee, consultant or service provider of Just Energy or any affiliate thereof; (ii) the PBGs expire no later than three years from the grant date; (iii) a holder of PBGs is entitled to payments at the same rate as dividends paid to JEGI shareholders; and (iv) when vested, Just Energy, at its sole discretion, shall have the option of settling payment for the PBGs, to which the holder is entitled in the form of either cash or in common shares.

	PBGs available for grant
	
	

	
	2015
	2014

	Balance, beginning of year
	3,570,784
	–

	Add: Increase in PBGs available for grant
	–
	4,000,000

	Less: Granted
	(665,973)
	(839,296)

	Add: Cancelled/forfeited
	202,085
	410,080

	
	3,106,896
	3,570,784



The weighted average grant date fair value of PBGs granted in the year was $6.47 (2014 – $11.40).
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(d)	Deferred share grants

Just Energy grants awards under its 2010 Directors’ Compensation Plan (formerly the 2004 Directors’ deferred unit grants, “DUGs”) to all independent directors on the basis that each director is required to annually receive $15 of their compensation entitlement in DSGs and/or common shares and may elect to receive all or any portion of the balance of their annual compensation in DSGs and/or common shares. The holders of DSGs and/or common shares are also granted additional DSGs/common shares on a monthly basis equal to the monthly dividends paid to the shareholders of Just Energy. The DSGs vest on the earlier of the date of the

	
	director’s resignation or three years following the date of grant and expire ten years following the date
	of grant. As at March 31, 2015, there were 178,136 DSGs
	
	

	
	(2014 – 200,470) available for grant under the plan. Of the DSGs issued, 132,324 DSGs remain outstanding as at March 31, 2015.
	
	
	
	

	
	DSGs available for grant
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	2015
	
	2014
	
	

	
	Balance, beginning of year
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	200,470
	
	25,006
	
	

	Add: Increase in DSGs available for grant
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	–
	
	200,000
	
	

	
	Less: Granted during the year
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(22,334)
	
	(24,536)
	
	

	Balance, end of year
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	178,136
	
	200,470
	
	

	
	The weighted average grant date fair value of DSGs granted in the year was $5.89 (2014 – $7.24).
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	15  LONG-TERM DEBT AND FINANCING
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	March 31, 2015
	March 31, 2014
	
	

	
	Credit facility (a)
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	$
	–
	$
	69,500
	
	

	
	
	Less: debt issue costs (a)
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	–
	
	(2,449)
	
	

	
	$105 million senior unsecured note (b)
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	105,000
	
	105,000
	
	

	
	
	Less: debt issue costs (b)
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(5,051)
	
	(6,221)
	
	

	
	NHS financing
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	–
	
	272,561
	
	

	$330 million convertible debentures (c)
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	310,083
	
	304,458
	
	

	
	$100 million convertible debentures (d)
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	91,445
	
	89,430
	
	

	US$150 million convertible bonds (e)
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	175,003
	
	149,572
	
	

	
	Capital leases (f)
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	23
	
	175
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	676,503
	
	982,026
	
	

	
	Less: Current portion
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(23)
	
	(51,999)
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	$
	676,480
	$
	930,027
	
	

	
	
	Future annual minimum repayments are as follows:
	
	
	Less
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	than 1
	
	
	
	
	
	
	More than 5
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	year
	
	1–3 years
	
	4–5 years
	
	
	years
	
	Total
	
	

	
	
	$105 million senior unsecured note (b)
	$
	–
	$
	–
	$
	105,000
	$
	–
	$
	105,000
	
	

	
	
	$330 million convertible debentures (c)
	
	
	–
	
	328,420
	
	–
	
	
	–
	
	328,420
	
	

	
	
	$100 million convertible debentures (d)
	
	
	–
	
	–
	
	100,000
	
	
	–
	
	100,000
	
	

	
	
	US$150 million convertible bonds (e)
	
	
	–
	
	–
	
	189,990
	
	
	–
	
	189,990
	
	

	
	
	Capital leases (f)
	
	
	23
	
	–
	
	–
	
	
	–
	
	23
	
	

	
	
	
	$
	23
	$
	328,420
	$
	394,990
	$
	–
	$
	723,433
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	The following table details the finance costs for the year ended March 31. Interest is expensed at the effective interest rate.
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	For the year
	
	For the year

	
	
	
	
	ended March
	
	ended March

	
	
	
	
	31, 2015
	
	31, 2014

	
	Credit facility (a)
	$
	13,982
	$
	13,780

	
	$105 million senior unsecured note (b)
	
	
	11,443
	
	11,759

	
	$90 million convertible debentures
	
	
	–
	
	7,605

	
	$330 million convertible debentures (c)
	
	
	26,832
	
	26,330

	
	$100 million convertible debentures (d)
	
	
	7,764
	
	7,601

	
	US$150 million convertible bonds (e)
	
	
	13,651
	
	2,192

	
	Capital lease interest (f)
	
	
	8
	
	22

	
	Unwinding of discount on provisions (Note 17)
	
	
	–
	
	152

	
	
	$
	73,680
	$
	69,441



(a) As at March 31, 2015, Just Energy has a $210 million credit facility to meet working capital requirements. The syndicate of lenders includes Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce, Royal Bank of Canada, National Bank of Canada, The Toronto-Dominion Bank, The Bank of Nova Scotia, HSBC Bank Canada and Alberta Treasury Branches.

Interest is payable on outstanding loans at rates that vary with Bankers’ Acceptance rates, LIBOR, Canadian bank prime rate or U.S. prime rate. Under the terms of the operating credit facility, Just Energy is able to make use of Bankers’ Acceptances and LIBOR advances at stamping fees that vary between 3.65% and 4.00%. Prime rate advances are at rates of interest that vary between bank prime plus 2.65% and 3.00% and letters of credit are at rates that vary between 3.65% and 4.00%. Interest rates are adjusted quarterly based on certain financial performance indicators.

As at March 31, 2015, the Canadian prime rate was 2.85% and the U.S. prime rate was 3.25%. As at March 31, 2015, Just Energy had drawn $nil (March 31, 2014 – $69,500) against the facility and total letters of credit outstanding amounted to $134,813 (March 31, 2014 – $123,593). As at March 31, 2015, the unamortized debt issue costs relating to the facility are $nil (March 31, 2014 – $2,449). As at March 31, 2015, Just Energy has $75,187 of the facility remaining for future working capital and security requirements. Just Energy’s obligations under the credit facility are supported by guarantees of certain subsidiaries and affiliates and secured by a general security agreement and a pledge of the assets and securities of Just Energy and the majority of its operating subsidiaries and affiliates excluding, primarily, the U.K. operations. Just Energy is required to meet a number of financial covenants under the credit facility agreement. During the year ended March 31, 2015, the Company requested and received amendments with respect to covenants within the credit facility. As at March 31, 2015, the Company was compliant with all of these covenants.

(b) In December 2012, Just Energy issued $105 million in senior unsecured notes (“$105 million senior unsecured note”) bearing interest at 9.75% and maturing in June 2018. As at March 31, 2015, unamortized debt issue costs are $5,051. These costs will be charged to operations as finance costs over the term of the debt. The $105 million senior unsecured note is subject to certain financial and other covenants. As at March 31, 2015, all of these covenants have been met.

In conjunction with the covenant requirements associated with the issuance of the $105 million senior unsecured note, the following represents select financial disclosure for the “Restricted Subsidiaries” as defined within the Note Indenture, which excludes the U.K. operations.

	
	
	
	
	Three months
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	ended
	
	Year ended
	

	
	
	
	March 31, 2015
	March 31, 2015
	

	
	Sales
	$
	1,123,866
	$
	3,643,501
	

	
	Gross margin
	
	
	186,454
	
	576,919
	

	
	Finance costs
	
	
	16,684
	
	73,680
	

	
	Loss for the year
	
	
	(76,345)
	
	(540,028)
	

	
	Non-cash financing costs
	
	
	3,061
	
	15,609
	

	
	Share-based compensation
	
	
	919
	
	7,110
	

	
	Income tax paid
	
	
	2,642
	
	6,014
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	


[image: ][image: ]

Notes to the consolidated financial statements


(c) In May 2010, Just Energy issued $330 million of convertible extendible unsecured subordinated debentures (the “$330 million convertible debentures”). The $330 million convertible debentures bear interest at a rate of 6% per annum payable semi-annually in arrears on June 30 and December 31, with a maturity date of June 30, 2017. Each $1,000 principal amount of the $330 million convertible debentures is convertible at any time prior to maturity or on the date fixed for redemption, at the option of the holder, into approximately 55.6 common shares of the Company, representing a conversion price of $18 per share. During the year ended March 31, 2015, interest expense

amounted to $26,832. Prior to June 30, 2015, the $330 million convertible debentures may be redeemed by the Company, in whole or in part, on not more than 60 days’ and not less than 30 days’ prior notice, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest, provided that the current market price (as defined herein) on the date on which notice of redemption is given is not less than 125% of the conversion price ($22.50). On and after June 30, 2015, and prior to maturity, the $330 million convertible debentures may be redeemed by Just Energy, in whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest.

The Company may, at its own option, on not more than 60 days’ and not less than 40 days’ prior notice, subject to applicable regulatory approval and provided that no event of default has occurred and is continuing, elect to satisfy its obligation to repay all or any portion of the principal amount of the $330 million convertible debentures that are to be redeemed or that are to mature, by issuing and delivering to the holders thereof that number of freely tradable common shares determined by dividing the principal amount of the $330 million convertible debentures being repaid by 95% of the current market price on the date of redemption or maturity, as applicable.

The conversion feature of the $330 million convertible debentures has been accounted for as a separate component of shareholders’ deficit in the amount of $33,914. Upon initial recognition of the convertible debentures, Just Energy recorded a deferred tax liability of $15,728 and reduced the value of the equity component of convertible debentures by this amount. The remainder of the net proceeds of the $330 million convertible debentures has been recorded as long-term debt, which is being accreted up to the face value of $330,000 over the term of the $330 million convertible debentures using an effective interest rate of 8.8%. If the $330 million convertible debentures are converted into common shares, the value of the conversion will be reclassified to share capital along with the principal amount converted.

During March 2015, the Company purchased and retired $1,580 of these convertible debentures. The Company paid $1,407, reduced the net book value by $1,492 and recorded the gain as a reduction to the interest expense.

(d) In September 2011, Just Energy issued $100 million of convertible unsecured subordinated debentures (the “$100 million convertible debentures”), which was used to fund an acquisition. The $100 million convertible debentures bear interest at an annual rate of 5.75%, payable semi-annually on March 31 and September 30 in each year and have a maturity date of September 30, 2018. Each $1,000 principal amount of the $100 million convertible debentures is convertible at the option of the holder at any time prior to the close of business on the earlier of the maturity date and the last business day immediately preceding the date fixed for redemption into 56.0 common shares of Just Energy, representing a conversion price of $17.85. Prior to September 30, 2016, the $100 million convertible debentures may be redeemed by the Company, in whole or in part, on not more than 60 days’ and not less than 30 days’ prior notice, at a price equal to their principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest, provided that the weighted average trading price of the common shares is at least 125% of the conversion price. On or after September 30, 2016, the $100 million convertible debentures may be redeemed in whole or in part from time to time at the option of the Company on not more than 60 days’ and not less than 30 days’ prior notice, at a price equal to their principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest.

The Company may, at its option, on not more than 60 days’ and not less than 30 days’ prior notice, subject to applicable regulatory approval and provided no event of default has occurred and is continuing, elect to satisfy its obligation to repay all or any portion of the principal amount of the $100 million convertible debentures that are to be redeemed or that are to mature, by issuing and delivering to the holders thereof that number of freely tradable common shares determined by dividing the principal amount of the $100 million convertible debentures being repaid by 95% of the current market price on the date of redemption or maturity, as applicable.

The conversion feature of the $100 million convertible debentures has been accounted for as a separate component of shareholders’ deficit in the amount of $10,188. Upon initial recognition of the convertible debentures, Just Energy recorded a deferred tax liability of $2,579 and reduced the equity component of the convertible debenture by this amount. The remainder of the net proceeds of the $100 million convertible debentures has been recorded as long-term debt, which is being accreted up to the face value of $100,000 over the term of the $100 million convertible debentures using an effective interest rate of 8.6%. If the $100 million convertible debentures are converted into common shares, the value of the conversion will be reclassified to share capital along with the principal amount converted.

(e) On January 29, 2014, Just Energy issued US$150 million of European-focused senior convertible unsecured convertible bonds (the “$150 million convertible bonds”). The $150 million convertible bonds bear interest at an annual rate of 6.5%, payable semi-annually in arrears in equal installments on January 29 and July 29 in each year with a maturity date of July 29, 2019. The Company incurred transaction costs of $6,075 and has shown these costs net of the $150 million convertible bonds.

A Conversion Right in respect of a bond may be exercised, at the option of the holder thereof, at any time from May 30, 2014 to July 7, 2019. The initial conversion price is US$9.3762 per common share (being C$10.2819) but is subject to adjustments. In the event of the exercise of a conversion right, the Company may, at its option, subject to applicable regulatory approval and provided no event of default has occurred and is continuing, elect to satisfy its obligation in cash equal to the market value of the underlying shares to be received.

As a result of the debt being denominated in a different functional currency than that of Just Energy, the conversion feature is recorded as a financial liability instead of a component of equity. Therefore, the conversion feature of the $150 million convertible bonds has been accounted for as a separate financial liability with an initial value of US$8,517. The remainder of the net proceeds of the $150 million convertible bonds has been recorded as long- term debt, which is being accreted up to the face value of $150,000 over the term of the $150 million convertible bonds using an effective interest rate of 8.8%. At each reporting period, the conversion feature is recorded at fair value with changes in fair value recorded through profit or loss. As at March 31, 2015, the fair value of this conversion feature is US$5,440 and is included in other non-current financial liabilities.
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(f) The Company, through its subsidiaries, leases certain computer and office equipment and software. These financing arrangements bear interest at a rate of 9% and mature by June 30, 2015.
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	INCOME TAXES
	
	
	
	
	

	(a)
	
	Tax expense
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	2015
	
	2014

	
	
	Tax recognized in profit or loss
	$
	8,856
	$
	765

	
	
	Current tax expense
	
	
	8,856
	
	765

	
	
	Deferred tax expense
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	Origination and reversal of temporary differences
	$
	(236,104)
	$
	53,865

	
	
	Expense (benefit) arising from a previously unrecognized tax loss or temporary difference
	
	
	198,359
	
	(6,440)

	
	
	Deferred tax expense (benefit)
	
	
	(37,745)
	
	47,425

	
	
	Provision for (recovery of) income taxes
	$
	(28,889)
	$
	48,190




(b)	Reconciliation of the effective tax rate

The provision for income taxes represents an effective rate different than the Canadian corporate statutory rate of 26.50% (2014 – 26.50%). The differences are as follows:

	
	
	
	
	
	2015
	
	2014
	

	
	Income (loss) before income taxes from continuing operations
	$
	(605,266)
	$
	218,756
	

	
	Combined statutory Canadian federal and provincial income tax rate
	
	
	
	26.50%
	
	26.50%
	

	
	Income tax expense (benefit) based on statutory rate
	$
	(160,395)
	$
	57,970
	

	
	Increase (decrease) in income taxes resulting from:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Cost (benefit) of mark to market loss and other temporary differences not recognized
	$
	198,359
	$
	(6,440)
	

	
	Variance between combined Canadian tax rate and the tax rate applicable to U.S. earnings
	
	
	
	(66,345)
	
	3,388
	

	
	Other permanent items
	
	
	
	(508)
	
	(6,728)
	

	
	Total income tax expense (benefit)
	$
	(28,889)
	$
	48,190
	

	(c)  Recognized deferred tax assets and liabilities
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Recognized deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributed to the following:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	2015
	
	2014
	

	
	Mark to market losses on derivative instruments
	$
	52,053
	$
	15,685
	

	
	Tax losses and excess of tax basis over book basis
	
	
	
	7,362
	
	25,105
	

	
	Partnership loss deferred for tax purposes
	
	
	
	117
	
	329
	

	
	Total deferred tax asset
	
	
	
	59,532
	
	41,119
	

	
	Offset of deferred taxes
	
	
	
	(34,154)
	
	(39,698)
	

	
	Net deferred tax asset
	$
	25,378
	$
	1,421
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Partnership income deferred for tax purposes
	$
	(23,483)
	$
	(30,479)
	

	
	Mark to market gains on derivative instruments
	
	
	
	(413)
	
	(657)
	

	
	Book to tax differences on other assets
	
	
	
	(959)
	
	(32,956)
	

	
	Convertible debentures
	
	
	
	(9,303)
	
	(8,286)
	

	
	Total deferred tax liability
	
	
	
	(34,158)
	
	(72,378)
	

	
	Offset of deferred taxes
	
	
	
	34,154
	
	39,698
	

	
	Net deferred tax liability
	$
	(4)
	$
	(32,680)
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	(d)  Movement in deferred tax balances
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	Foreign
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	Balance April
	
	Recognized in
	
	
	
	Recognized in
	
	
	exchange
	
	Balance March
	
	

	
	
	
	
	1,2014
	
	profit or loss
	
	Disposal
	
	OCI
	
	
	impact
	
	
	31, 2015
	
	

	
	Partnership income deferred for tax
	$
	(30,151)
	$
	6,784
	$
	–
	$
	–
	$
	–
	$
	(23,367)
	
	

	
	Book to tax differences – customer contracts
	
	
	(5,139)
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	
	–
	
	
	(5,139)
	
	

	
	Book to tax differences on other assets
	
	
	(2,716)
	
	(17,822)
	
	32,075
	
	–
	
	
	–
	
	
	11,537
	
	

	
	Mark to market gains (losses) on derivative
	
	
	15,032
	
	36,009
	
	605
	
	–
	
	
	–
	
	
	51,646
	
	

	
	instruments
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Convertible debentures
	
	
	(8,286)
	
	(1,017)
	
	–
	
	–
	
	
	–
	
	
	(9,303)
	
	

	
	
	$
	(31,260)
	$
	23,954
	$
	32,680
	$
	–
	$
	–
	$
	25,374
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	Foreign
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	Balance April
	
	Recognized in
	
	
	
	Recognized in
	
	
	exchange
	
	Balance March
	
	

	
	
	
	
	1,2013
	
	profit or loss
	
	Disposal
	
	OCI
	
	
	impact
	
	
	31,2014
	
	

	
	Partnership income deferred for tax
	$
	(15,259)
	$
	(14,892)
	$
	–
	$
	–
	$
	–
	$
	(30,151)
	
	

	
	Book to tax differences – customer contracts
	
	
	(9,846)
	
	4,707
	
	–
	
	–
	
	
	–
	
	
	(5,139)
	
	

	
	Book to tax differences on other assets
	
	
	(17,126)
	
	14,410
	
	–
	
	–
	
	
	–
	
	
	(2,716)
	
	

	
	Mark to market (losses) gains on derivative
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	instruments
	
	
	45,965
	
	(31,073)
	
	–
	
	162
	
	
	(22)
	
	
	15,032
	
	

	
	Convertible debentures
	
	
	(10,203)
	
	1,917
	
	–
	
	–
	
	
	–
	
	
	(8,286)
	
	

	
	
	$
	(6,469)
	$
	(24,931)
	$
	–
	$
	162
	$
	(22)
	$
	(31,260)
	
	

	(e)  Unrecognized deferred tax assets
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Deferred tax assets not reflected as at March 31 are as follows:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	2015
	
	
	2014
	
	

	
	Losses available for carryforward
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	$
	71,441
	$
	3,269
	
	

	
	Mark to market on losses on derivative instruments
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	189,950
	
	
	17,403
	
	

	
	Excess of tax over book basis
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	6,726
	
	
	8,778
	
	

	
	Excess of tax over book – customer contracts
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	2,894
	
	
	8,778
	
	

	
	Losses available for carryforward (recognized and unrecognized) are set to expire as follows:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	2015
	
	

	
	2028
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	$
	–
	
	

	2029
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	–
	
	

	
	After 2030 and thereafter
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	179,502
	
	

	
	Total
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	$
	179,502
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	17  PROVISIONS
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Cost
	
	
	2015
	
	2014

	
	Balance, beginning of year
	$
	6,812
	$
	6,836

	
	Discontinued operations
	
	
	(558)
	
	(504)

	
	Provisions made during the year
	
	
	16,233
	
	645

	
	Provisions reversed and used during the year
	
	
	(4,177)
	
	(844)

	
	Unwinding of discount
	
	
	–
	
	152

	
	Foreign exchange impact
	
	
	896
	
	527

	
	Balance, end of year
	$
	19,206
	$
	6,812

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Current
	
	
	14,899
	
	3,052

	
	Non-current
	
	
	4,307
	
	3,760

	
	
	$
	19,206
	$
	6,812



Legal issues

The provision for legal issues included above captures the expected cash outflows from major claims and for several smaller litigation matters. Just Energy’s subsidiaries are party to a number of legal proceedings. Just Energy believes that each proceeding constitutes a routine legal matter incidental to the business conducted by Just Energy and that the ultimate disposition of the proceedings will not have a material adverse effect on its consolidated income, cash flows or financial position.

The State of California has filed a number of complaints with the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (“FERC”) against many suppliers of electricity, including Commerce Energy Inc. (“CEI”), a subsidiary of the Company, with respect to events stemming from the 2001 energy crisis in California. The suppliers involved in the claim include entities which owned generation facilities and those that did not own generation facilities. Pursuant to the complaints, the State of California is challenging the FERC’s enforcement of its market-based rate system. Although CEI did not own generation facilities, the State of California claims as to CEI, as well as other suppliers that also did not own generation facilities, include that CEI was unjustly enriched by the run-up in charges caused by the alleged market manipulation of other market participants. On March 18, 2010, the assigned Administrative Law Judge granted a motion to strike the claim for all parties in one of the complaints (in favour of the suppliers), holding that California did not prove that the reporting errors masked the accumulation of market power. California has appealed the decision. On June 13, 2012, FERC denied the plaintiff’s request for a rehearing, affirming its initial decision. California appealed to the United States District Courts for the Ninth Circuit and oral arguments were heard on February 26, 2015. On April 29, 2015, the appeals court remanded the case back to FERC on grounds that the agency erred in assessing whether market power had resulted in unjust and unreasonable prices, when it only considered power generation market share. The Ninth Circuit said FERC failed to consider other evidence of market power presented by California (e.g., sellers’ actual market positions, gaming, anomalous bidding behaviour and other market manipulation), whether such market power was masked by the reporting deficiencies at issue, and to determine whether the prices in the market were “just and reasonable” as required under the Federal Power Act. CEI continues to vigorously contest this matter.

In August 2013, Fulcrum Power Services L.P. (“FPS”) filed a lawsuit against the Company, Just Energy (US) Corp. and Fulcrum, for up to $20 million in connection with Fulcrum failing to achieve an earn-out target under the purchase and sales agreement dated August 24, 2011 for the purchase of Fulcrum from FPS. FPS alleges that the Company conducted itself in a manner that was intended to or reasonably likely to reduce or avoid the achievement of the earn-out target. In October 2013, the Company’s motion to compel arbitration was successful. The arbitration is scheduled to commence on June 1, 2015. Just Energy will continue to vigorously defend itself against this claim through the arbitration process.

In March 2012, Davina Hurt and Dominic Hill filed a lawsuit against Commerce Energy Inc., Just Energy Marketing Corp. and the Company (collectively referred to as “Just Energy”) in the Ohio federal court claiming entitlement to payment of minimum wage and overtime under Ohio wage claim laws and the federal Fair Labor Standards Act (“FLSA”) on their own behalf and similarly situated door-to-door sales representatives who sold for Commerce in certain regions of the United States. The Court granted the plaintiffs’ request to certify the lawsuit as a class action. Approximately 1,800 plaintiffs opted into the federal minimum wage and overtime claims, and approximately 8,000 plaintiffs were certified as part of the Ohio state overtime claims. A jury trial on the liability phase was completed on October 6, 2014. The jury reached a verdict that supports the plaintiffs’ class and collective action that certain individuals were not properly classified as outside salespeople in order to qualify for an exemption under the minimum wage and overtime requirements pursuant to the FLSA and Ohio wage and hour laws. Potential amounts owing have yet to be determined and will be subject to a separate damage phase proceeding, which remains unscheduled by the Court. On January 9, 2015, the Court struck plaintiffs’ damage expert report based primarily on the fact that the report relied on an unreliable survey. Just Energy disagrees with the result of the October trial and is of the opinion that it is not supported by existing law and precedent. Just Energy strongly believes it complied with the law, continues to vigorously defend the claims and intends to appeal adverse findings.
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In August 2013, Levonna Wilkins, a former door-to-door independent contractor for Just Energy Illinois Corp. (“Just Energy Illinois”) filed a lawsuit against Just Energy Illinois, Commerce Energy, Inc., Just Energy Marketing Corp. and the Company (collectively referred to as “Just Energy”) in the Illinois federal district court claiming entitlement to payment of minimum wage and overtime under Illinois wage claim laws and the federal Fair Labor Standards Act (“FLSA”) on her own behalf and similarly situated door-to-door sales representatives who sold in Illinois. On March 13, 2015, the Court granted Wilkins’ request to certify the lawsuit as a class action to include a class made up of Illinois sales representatives who sold for Just Energy Illinois and Commerce. Just Energy filed a motion for reconsideration objecting to the class definition and requested that the Court revise its ruling to exclude sales representatives who sold for Commerce. Just Energy will continue to vigorously contest this matter.
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	OTHER INCOME, EXPENSES AND ADJUSTMENTS
	
	
	
	
	

	(a)
	Other operating expenses
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	For the
	
	For the

	
	
	
	
	
	
	year ended
	
	year ended

	
	
	
	Note
	
	March 31, 2015
	March 31, 2014

	
	
	Amortization of gas contracts
	$
	–
	$
	8,238

	
	Amortization of electricity contracts
	
	
	7,292
	
	6,724

	
	
	Amortization of other intangible assets
	
	
	34,522
	
	33,032

	
	Amortization of property, plant and equipment
	
	
	3,579
	
	4,151

	
	
	Bad debt expense
	
	
	62,077
	
	46,051

	
	Share-based compensation
	14
	
	7,120
	
	1,598

	
	
	
	
	$
	114,590
	$
	99,794

	(b)
	Amortization and energy costs included in cost of sales in the consolidated statements of income
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	For the
	
	For the

	
	
	
	
	
	
	year ended
	
	year ended

	
	
	
	
	
	
	March 31,
	
	March 31,

	
	
	
	
	
	
	2015
	
	2014

	
	
	Amortization
	$
	1,398
	$
	440

	
	
	Direct energy costs and other
	
	
	3,294,473
	
	3,028,643

	
	
	
	
	$
	3,295,871
	$
	3,029,083




(c) Included in change in fair value of derivative instruments

	
	
	
	
	For the year
	
	For the year
	

	
	
	
	
	ended March
	
	ended March
	

	
	
	
	
	31, 2015
	
	31, 2014
	

	
	Amortization of gas contracts
	$
	–
	$
	10,056
	

	
	Amortization of electricity contracts
	
	
	5,016
	
	4,668
	

	(d)  Employee benefits expense
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	For the year
	
	For the year
	

	
	
	
	
	ended March
	
	ended March
	

	
	
	
	
	31, 2015
	
	31, 2014
	

	
	Wages, salaries and commissions
	$
	202,119
	$
	183,954
	

	
	Benefits
	
	
	28,750
	
	21,973
	

	
	
	$
	230,869
	$
	205,927
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19	REPORTABLE BUSINESS SEGMENTS

Just Energy’s reportable segments include the following: Consumer Energy and Commercial Energy. During fiscal 2014, TGF was disposed of and HES was classified as available for sale (see Note 8). In addition, during fiscal 2015, NHS was classified as held for sale and the sales of NHS and HES were finalized in November 2014 (see Note 8).

Transfer prices between operating segments are on an arm’s length basis in a manner similar to transactions with third parties. Allocations made between segments for shared assets or allocated expenses are based on the number of customers in the respective segments.

Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment.

Segment performance is evaluated based on operating profit or loss and is measured consistently with operating profit or loss in the consolidated financial statements.

Just Energy is not considered to have any key customers.

	
	For the year ended March 31, 2015
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	Consumer
	
	Commercial
	
	
	
	
	
	Commercial
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	division
	
	division
	
	Ethanol
	Home Services
	
	Solar
	
	Consolidated
	

	
	Sales
	$
	2,113,828
	$
	1,782,112
	$
	–
	$
	–
	$
	–
	$
	3,895,940
	

	Gross margin
	
	
	450,230
	
	149,839
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	600,069
	

	
	Amortization of property, plant and equipment
	
	
	3,350
	
	229
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	3,579
	

	Amortization of intangible assets
	
	
	16,490
	
	25,324
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	41,814
	

	
	Administrative expenses
	
	
	121,170
	
	33,052
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	154,222
	

	Selling and marketing expenses
	
	
	134,084
	
	91,159
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	225,243
	

	
	Other operating expenses
	
	
	53,984
	
	15,213
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	69,197
	

	Operating profit (loss) for the year
	$
	121,152
	$
	(15,138)
	$
	–
	$
	–
	$
	–
	$
	106,014
	

	
	Finance costs
	
	
	(34,630)
	
	(39,050)
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	(73,680)
	

	Change in fair value of derivative instruments
	
	
	(258,394)
	
	(376,810)
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	(635,204)
	

	
	Other loss
	
	
	(788)
	
	(1,608)
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	(2,396)
	

	Recovery of income taxes
	
	
	(21,675)
	
	(7,214)
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	(28,889)
	

	
	Profit (loss) from continuing operations
	$
	(150,985)
	$
	(425,392)
	$
	–
	$
	–
	$
	–
	$
	(576,377)
	

	Discontinued operations
	
	
	–
	
	–
	
	–
	
	168,141
	
	(35,468)
	
	132,673
	

	
	Profit (loss) for the year
	$
	(150,985)
	$
	(425,392)
	$
	–
	$
	168,141
	$
	(35,468)
	$
	(443,704)
	

	Capital expenditures
	$
	3,775
	$
	1,994
	$
	–
	$
	11,843
	$
	8,334
	$
	25,946
	

	
	Total goodwill
	$
	140,869
	$
	136,899
	$
	–
	$
	–
	$
	–
	$
	277,768
	

	Total assets
	$
	740,552
	$
	556,638
	$
	–
	$
	–
	$
	–
	$
	1,297,190
	

	
	Total liabilities
	$
	1,354,666
	$
	581,346
	$
	–
	$
	–
	$
	–
	$
	1,936,012
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	For the year ended March 31, 2014
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	Consumer
	
	Commercial
	
	
	
	
	
	
	Commercial
	
	

	
	
	
	
	division
	
	division
	
	Ethanol
	Home Services
	
	
	Solar
	
	Consolidated

	
	Sales
	$
	2,022,270
	$
	1,512,344
	$
	–
	$
	–
	$
	–
	$
	3,534,614

	
	Gross margin
	
	
	372,598
	
	132,933
	
	–
	
	–
	
	
	–
	
	505,531

	
	Amortization of property, plant and
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	equipment
	
	
	2,930
	
	1,221
	
	–
	
	–
	
	
	–
	
	4,151

	
	Amortization of intangible assets
	
	
	23,260
	
	24,734
	
	–
	
	–
	
	
	–
	
	47,994

	
	Administrative expenses
	
	
	84,646
	
	32,067
	
	–
	
	–
	
	
	–
	
	116,713

	
	Selling and marketing expenses
	
	
	130,153
	
	59,737
	
	–
	
	–
	
	
	–
	
	189,890

	
	Other operating expenses
	
	
	38,997
	
	8,652
	
	–
	
	–
	
	
	–
	
	47,649

	
	Operating profit for the year
	$
	92,612
	$
	6,522
	$
	–
	$
	–
	$
	–
	$
	99,134

	
	Finance costs
	
	
	(30,068)
	
	(39,373)
	
	–
	
	–
	
	
	–
	
	(69,441)

	
	Change in fair value of derivative
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	instruments
	
	
	175,440
	
	10,702
	
	–
	
	–
	
	
	–
	
	186,142

	
	Other income (loss)
	
	
	3,444
	
	(523)
	
	–
	
	–
	
	
	–
	
	2,921

	
	Provision for income taxes
	
	
	45,267
	
	2,923
	
	–
	
	–
	
	
	–
	
	48,190

	
	Profit (loss) from continuing operations
	$
	196,161
	$
	(25,595)
	$
	–
	$
	–
	$
	–
	$
	170,566

	
	Discontinued operations
	
	
	–
	
	–
	
	17,577
	
	(4,374)
	
	
	(46,828)
	
	(33,625)

	
	Profit (loss) for the year
	$
	196,161
	$
	(25,595)
	$
	17,577
	$
	(4,374)
	$
	(46,828)
	$
	136,941

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Capital expenditures
	$
	4,796
	$
	2,498
	$
	–
	$
	28,246
	$
	23,526
	$
	59,066

	
	As at March 31, 2014
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Total goodwill
	$
	133,761
	$
	129,992
	$
	–
	$
	283
	$
	–
	$
	264,036

	
	Total assets
	$
	876,164
	$
	363,125
	$
	–
	$
	297,098
	$
	106,263
	$
	1,642,650

	
	Total liabilities
	$
	824,629
	$
	545,818
	$
	–
	$
	311,993
	$
	51,852
	$
	1,734,292

	
	Geographic information
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Revenue from external customers:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	For the year
	
	For the year

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	ended March
	
	ended March

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	31, 2015
	
	31, 2014

	
	Canada
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	$
	685,700
	$
	757,965

	
	United States
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	2,977,578
	
	2,706,486

	
	United Kingdom
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	232,662
	
	70,163

	
	Total revenue per consolidated statements of income
	
	
	
	
	
	
	$
	3,895,940
	$
	3,534,614



The revenue is based on the location of the customer.
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Non-current assets

Non-current assets by geographic segment consist of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets and are summarized as follows:

	
	
	
	As at March
	As at March 31,

	
	
	
	31, 2015
	
	2014

	Canada
	$
	194,318
	$
	386,561

	United States
	
	
	177,358
	
	194,346

	United Kingdom
	
	
	650
	
	741

	Total
	$
	372,326
	$
	581,648




20	IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS WITH INDEFINITE LIVES

Goodwill acquired through business combinations and intangible assets with indefinite lives have been allocated to one of two cash-generating units, which are also operating and reportable segments, for impairment testing. These units are the Consumer division and Commercial division.

For impairment testing, goodwill and brand have been allocated as follows:

	
	
	Consumer division
	
	Commercial division
	
	Home services
	
	
	Total
	

	
	
	2015
	
	2014
	
	2015
	
	2014
	
	2015
	
	2014
	
	2015
	
	2014

	Goodwill
	$
	140,869
	$
	133,761
	$
	136,899
	$
	129,992
	$
	–
	$
	283
	$
	277,768
	$
	264,036

	Brand
	
	15,706
	
	12,190
	
	13,966
	
	13,709
	
	–
	
	–
	
	29,672
	
	25,899

	
	$
	156,575
	$
	145,951
	$
	150,865
	$
	143,701
	$
	–
	$
	283
	$
	307,440
	$
	289,935




Just Energy performed its annual impairment test as at March 31, 2015. Just Energy considers the relationship between its market capitalization and its book value, among other factors, when reviewing for indicators of impairment. As at March 31, 2015, the market capitalization of Just Energy was above the book value of its equity, indicating that a potential impairment of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives does not exist.

The recoverable amount of each of the cash-generating units has been determined based on a value-in-use calculation using cash flow projections from financial budgets covering a five-year period. The projections for the first three years have been approved by the Audit Committee; the assumptions used in the following two years have been approved by the senior management. The calculation of the value-in-use for each unit is most sensitive to the following assumptions:

· Customer consumption assumptions used in determining gross margin

· New customer additions and attrition and renewals

· Selling costs

· Discount rates

· Growth rates used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the budget period

Customer consumption is forecasted using normalized historical correlation between weather and customer consumption and weather projections. Just Energy uses weather derivatives to mitigate the risk that weather will deviate from expectations. An average customer consumption growth rate of 3% was used in the projections. A 5% decrease in the consumption assumptions would not have an impact on the results of the impairment test.

New customer additions and attrition and renewal rate estimates are based on historical results and are adjusted for new marketing initiatives that are included in the budget. A 3% average increase in the overall customer base was used in the projections. A 5% decrease annually in the overall customer base would not have an impact on the results of the impairment test.

Selling costs fluctuate with customer additions, renewals and attrition. Selling costs used in the financial forecast are based on assumptions consistent with the above new customer additions, renewals and attritions. Rates used are based on historical information and are adjusted for new marketing initiatives included in the budget. An average increase of 3% was applied to selling costs in the projections. A 5% increase annually in selling costs would not have an impact on the results of the impairment test.
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Discount rates represent the current market assessment of the risks specific to the Company, regarding the time value of money and individual risks of the underlying assets. The discount rate calculation is based on the specific circumstances of Just Energy and its operating segments and is derived from its weighted average cost of capital (“WACC”). The WACC takes into account both debt and equity. The cost of equity is derived from the expected return on investment by Just Energy’s investors and the cost of debt is based on the interest bearing borrowings the Company is obliged to service. Just Energy used a discount rate of 11%. A 5% increase in the WACC would not have an impact on the results of the impairment test.

Financial projections used in the budget period, which covers years 1, 2 and 3, have been approved by the Executive Committee. The results in years 4 and 5 are based on year 3 results adjusted for inflation. An isolated 5% decrease in the growth rates used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the budget period would not have an impact on the results of the impairment test. As a result of the above there has not been an impairment.

	21  EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	For the year
	
	For the year

	
	
	
	
	ended
	
	ended

	
	
	
	March 31, 2015
	March 31, 2014

	
	BASIC EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Earnings (loss) from continuing operations available to shareholders
	$
	(582,728)
	$
	165,107

	
	Earnings (loss) available to shareholders
	
	
	(446,785)
	
	135,907

	
	Basic shares outstanding
	
	
	145,326,685
	
	143,044,739

	
	Basic earnings (loss) per share from continuing operations available to shareholders
	$
	(4.01)
	$
	1.15

	
	Basic earnings (loss) per share available to shareholders
	$
	(3.07)
	$
	0.95

	
	DILUTED EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Earnings (loss) from continuing operations available to shareholders
	$
	(582,728)
	$
	165,107

	
	Earnings (loss) available to shareholders
	
	
	(446,785)
	
	135,907

	
	Adjustment for dilutive impact of convertible debentures
	
	
	32,7711
	
	32,4111

	
	Adjusted earnings (loss) from continuing operations available to shareholders
	$
	(549,957)
	$
	197,518

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Adjusted earnings (loss) available to shareholders
	$
	(414,014)
	$
	168,318

	
	Basic shares outstanding
	
	
	145,326,685
	
	143,044,739

	
	Dilutive effect of:
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Restricted share grants
	
	
	3,067,8221
	
	3,760,097

	
	Deferred share grants
	
	
	165,2771
	
	165,047

	
	Convertible debentures
	
	
	39,929,1891
	
	26,653,0351

	
	Shares outstanding on a diluted basis
	
	
	188,488,973
	
	173,622,918

	
	Diluted earnings (loss) per share from continuing operations available to shareholders
	$
	(4.01)
	$
	1.11

	
	Diluted earnings (loss) per share available to shareholders
	$
	(3.07)
	$
	0.94



· The assumed conversion into shares results in an anti-dilutive position in the current year; whereas the assumed conversion into shares results in an anti-dilutive position only for the $150 million convertible bonds in the prior year; therefore, these items have not been included in computation of dilutive earnings (loss) per share.

22	CAPITAL DISCLOSURE

Just Energy defines capital as shareholders’ equity (excluding accumulated other comprehensive income) and long-term debt. Just Energy’s objectives when managing capital are to maintain flexibility by:

(i) enabling it to operate efficiently;

(ii) providing liquidity and access to capital for growth opportunities; and

(iii) providing returns and generating predictable cash flow for dividend payments to shareholders.

Just Energy manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. The Board of Directors does not establish quantitative return on capital criteria for management, but rather promotes year over year sustainable and profitable growth. Just Energy’s capital management objectives have remained unchanged from the prior year. Just Energy is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements other than financial covenants in its long-term debt, and as at March 31, 2015 and 2014, all of these covenants have been met.
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23	GUARANTEES

(a) Officers and directors

Corporate indemnities have been provided by Just Energy to all directors and certain officers of its subsidiaries and affiliates for various items including, but not limited to, all costs to settle suits or actions due to their association with Just Energy and its subsidiaries and/or affiliates, subject to certain restrictions. Just Energy has purchased directors’ and officers’ liability insurance to mitigate the cost of any potential future suits or actions. Each indemnity, subject to certain exceptions, applies for so long as the indemnified person is a director or officer of one of Just Energy’s subsidiaries and/or affiliates. The maximum amount of any potential future payment cannot be reasonably estimated.

(b)	Operations

In the normal course of business, Just Energy and/or Just Energy’s subsidiaries and affiliates have entered into agreements that include guarantees in favour of third parties, such as purchase and sale agreements, leasing agreements and transportation agreements. These guarantees may require Just Energy and/or its subsidiaries to compensate counterparties for losses incurred by the counterparties as a result of breaches in representation and regulations or as a result of litigation claims or statutory sanctions that may be suffered by the counterparty as a consequence of the transaction. The maximum payable under these guarantees is estimated to be $58,165.

24 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL REMUNERATION

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise influence over the other party in making financial or operating decisions. The definition includes subsidiaries and other persons.

Subsidiaries

Transactions between Just Energy and its subsidiaries meet the definition of related party transactions. These transactions are eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in these consolidated financial statements.

Key management personnel

Just Energy’s key management personnel and persons connected with them are also considered to be related parties for disclosure purposes. Key management personnel are defined as those individuals having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of Just Energy and comprise the Chair of the Board of Directors, the Co-Chief Executive Officers and the Chief Financial Officer.

During the years ended March 31, 2015 and 2014, Just Energy recorded the following as an expense related to these individuals:

	
	
	
	2015
	
	2014

	Salaries and benefits
	$
	6,747
	$
	3,200

	Share-based compensation
	
	
	2,371
	
	(1,771)1

	
	$
	9,118
	$
	1,429




1 This reflects the forfeiture on RSGs following the CEO resignation in March 2014.

As at March 31, 2015, these key management personnel held approximately 1,489,200 RSGs/PBGs (2014 – 1,538,200).

25	DIVIDENDS PAID

For the year ended March 31, 2015, dividends of $0.50 (2014 – $0.84) per share were declared by Just Energy. These dividends amounted to $86,723 (2014 – $123,429), which was approved throughout the period by the Board of Directors and was paid out during the year.

26	COMMITMENTS AND GUARANTEES

Commitments for each of the next five years and thereafter are as follows:

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	More than
	
	

	
	
	Less than
	
	1–3
	
	4–5
	
	5
	
	

	As at March 31, 2015
	
	1 year
	
	years
	
	years
	
	years
	
	Total

	Premises and equipment leasing
	$
	6,163
	$
	9,366
	$
	6,445
	$
	10,755
	$
	32,729

	Long-term gas and electricity contracts
	
	2,167,000
	
	1,596,187
	
	274,187
	
	37,263
	
	4,074,637

	
	$
	2,173,163
	$
	1,605,553
	$
	280,632
	$
	48,018
	$
	4,107,366



Just Energy has entered into leasing contracts for office buildings and administrative equipment. These leases have a leasing period of between one and eight years. No purchase options are included in any major leasing contracts. Just Energy is also committed under long-term contracts with customers to supply gas and electricity. These contracts have various expiry dates and renewal options.
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Guarantees

Pursuant to separate arrangements with various entities, Just Energy has issued surety bonds to various counterparties including states, regulatory bodies, utilities and various other surety bond holders in return for a fee and/or meeting certain collateral posting requirements. Such surety bond postings are required in order to operate in certain states or markets. Total surety bonds issued as at March 31, 2015 amounted to $54,807.



	
	As at March 31, 2015, Just Energy had total letters of credit outstanding in the amount of $134,813 (Note 15(a)).
	
	
	
	
	
	

	27  ADJUSTMENTS REQUIRED TO REFLECT NET CASH RECEIPTS FROM GAS SALES
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	2015
	
	2014
	

	
	Changes in:
	$
	2,713
	
	
	

	
	Accrued gas receivables
	
	
	$
	(16,493)
	

	
	Gas delivered in excess of consumption
	
	
	(983)
	
	8,642
	

	
	Accrued gas payable
	
	
	(5,799)
	
	6,886
	

	
	Deferred revenue
	
	
	1,371
	
	(5,221)
	

	
	
	$
	(2,698)
	$
	(6,186)
	

	28  CHANGES IN NON-CASH WORKING CAPITAL
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	2015
	
	2014
	

	
	Accounts receivable and unbilled revenues
	$
	(95,662)
	$
	(143,807)
	

	
	Gas in storage
	
	
	(2,331)
	
	6,431
	

	
	Prepaid expenses and deposits
	
	
	(27,058)
	
	(5,200)
	

	
	Trade and other payables and provisions
	
	
	80,593
	
	188,341
	

	
	
	$
	(44,458)
	$
	45,765
	



Exhibit 23.1


Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the use in this Annual Report on Form 40-F of Just Energy Group Inc. (the “Company”) of our reports dated May 14, 2015, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of the Company as at March 31, 2015 and 2014, and for the years ended March 31, 2015 and 2014, and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of the Company as at March 31, 2015, included herein.

We also consent to the incorporation by reference of such reports into the Company’s outstanding registration statements on Form F-3 (No. 333-188184) and Form S-8 (No. 333-183954 and No. 333-200194) that have been filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

	Toronto, Canada,
	
	/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
	

	
	
	Chartered Accountants
	

	June 2, 2015
	Licensed Public Accountants
	



Exhibit 31.1

Certification

Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, James Lewis, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 40-F of Just Energy Group Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the issuer as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The issuer's other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the issuer and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the issuer, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the issuer's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the issuer's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the period covered by the annual report that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the issuer's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The issuer's other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the issuer's auditors and the audit committee of the issuer's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the issuer's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the issuer's internal control over financial reporting.



	Date: June 2, 2015
	/s/ James Lewis

	
	By:
	James Lewis

	
	Title:
	Co-Chief Executive Officer
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Certification

Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Deborah Merril, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 40-F of Just Energy Group Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the issuer as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The issuer's other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the issuer and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the issuer, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the issuer's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the issuer's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the period covered by the annual report that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the issuer's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The issuer's other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the issuer's auditors and the audit committee of the issuer's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the issuer's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the issuer's internal control over financial reporting.




	Date: June 2, 2015
	/s/ Deborah Merril

	
	By:
	Deborah Merril

	
	Title:
	Co-Chief Executive Officer
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Certification

Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002


I, Patrick McCullough, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 40-F of Just Energy Group Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the issuer as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The issuer's other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the issuer and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the issuer, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the issuer's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the issuer's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the period covered by the annual report that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the issuer's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The issuer's other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the issuer's auditors and the audit committee of the issuer's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the issuer's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the issuer's internal control over financial reporting.




	Date: June 2, 2015
	/s/ Patrick McCullough

	
	By:
	Patrick McCullough

	
	Title:
	Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1

Certification of CEOs and CFO

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Just Energy Group Inc. (the "Registrant") filed under cover of Form 40-F for the year ended March 31, 2015, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), James Lewis and Deborah Merril, as Co-Chief Executive Officers of the Registrant, and Patrick McCullough, as Chief Financial Officer of the Registrant, each hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as enacted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, to the best of our knowledge, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the Registrant.

/s/ James Lewis

By:	James Lewis
[image: ]

Title: Co-Chief Executive Officer

Date: June 2, 2015

/s/ Deborah Merril

By:	Deborah Merril
[image: ]

Title: Co-Chief Executive Officer

Date: June 2, 2015

/s/ Patrick McCullough

By:	Patrick McCullough
[image: ]

Title: Chief Financial Officer

Date: June 2, 2015

This certification accompanies the Report pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not, except to the extent required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filed by the Registrant for purposes of §18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
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